BRAIN AMINERGIC SYSTEMS AND AUTISM-ASSOCIATED RISK FACTORS IN ZEBRAFISH

Diego Moura Baronio

Department of Anatomy Faculty of Medicine and Doctoral Programme Brain & Mind

> University of Helsinki Finland

ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

Doctoral thesis, to be presented for public examination with the permission of the Faculty of Medicine of the University of Helsinki, in the room U3032, University Main Building, on the 16th of December, 2022 at 13:00.

Supervisor:

Professor Pertti Panula, MD, PhD Faculty of Medicine Department of Anatomy University of Helsinki Finland

Reviewed by:

Docent Ilkka Paatero, PhD Turku Bioscience Centre University of Turku Finland

And

Professor Raimo Tuominen, MD, PhD Faculty of Pharmacy Department of Pharmacology and Pharmacotherapy University of Helsinki Finland

Opponent:

Professor Svante Winberg, PhD Department of Neuroscience Uppsala University Sweden

The Faculty of Medicine uses the Ouriginal system (plagiarism recognition) to examine all doctoral dissertations.

ISBN 978-951-51-8704-8 (PRINT) ISBN 978-951-51-8705-5 (ONLINE) ISSN 2342-3161 (PRINT) ISSN 2342-317X (ONLINE)

Unigrafia Helsinki, 2022

To Yanmin, Luca and Filippo.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	LIST	OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS
2	LIST	OF ABBREVIATIONS8
3	ABST	RACT11
4	INTR	ODUCTION
5	REVI	EW OF THE LITERATURE14
5.1	Autisn	n spectrum disorder (ASD)14
5	5.1.1 E	Environmental factors associated with ASD14
5	5.1.2 0	Genetic factors associated with ASD15
5	5.1.3 A	Animal models of ASD16
5.2	Zebra	fish as a model organism17
5	5.2.1 Z	Zebrafish as a model organism to study ASD21
5.3	Amine	ergic systems24
5	5.3.1 T	The dopaminergic system25
	5.3.1.1	The dopaminergic system of zebrafish26
	5.3.1.2	The dopaminergic system in ASD27
5	5.3.2 Т	The serotonergic system28
	5.3.2.1	The serotonergic system in ASD29
	5.3.2.2	The serotonergic system of zebrafish30
5	5.3.3 Т	The histaminergic system31
	5.3.3.1	The histaminergic system in ASD33
	5.3.3.2	The histaminergic system of zebrafish34

5.4	Monoamine oxidases
5.4	4.1 MAOA and ASD36
5.4	4.2 The zebrafish Mao37
5.5	Vesicular monoamine transporter 237
5.5	5.1 Pathophysiological roles of VMAT238
5.5	5.2 The zebrafish Vmat2
6	AIMS
7	MATERIALS AND METHODS41
8	RESULTS
8.1	Embryonic exposure to valproic acid affects the aminergic systems of zebrafish (I)
8.2	VPA-exposed larvae are hypoactive and present altered dark-flash response (I)53
8.3	Impaired transport into synaptic vesicles leads to amine depletion in zebrafish (II)54
8.4	Absence of monoamine breakdown is damaging to zebrafish neurotransmitters systems (III)55
8.5	Disrupted aminergic neurotransmission affects brain development in zebrafish (II, III)56
8.6	Vmat2 loss-of-function increases the heart rate and disrupts zebrafish behavior (II)56
8.7	Mao deficiency leads to anxiety-like traits in adult zebrafish (III)56
8.8	Dark-flash and startle responses are affected in <i>mao</i> mutants and heterozygous larval fish (III)57
8.9	ASD-associated risk factors affect the social behavior of zebrafish (I, III)
9	DISCUSSION
9.1	Zebrafish as a model organism to study ASD60
9.2	The histaminergic system is affected in zebrafish embryonically exposed to VPA64
9.3	<i>mao</i> loss-of-function affects different aminergic populations in the zebrafish brain66

9.4	Aminergic signalling and turnover in zebrafish lacking <i>vmat2</i>	67
9.5	Impaired aminergic neurotransmission affects zebrafish brain development	69
10	CONCLUSIONS	71
11	ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	72
12	REFERENCES	75
13	ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	

1 LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

I

Embryonic exposure to valproic acid affects the histaminergic system and the social behaviour of adult zebrafish (Danio rerio).

Baronio D*, Puttonen HAJ*, Sundvik M, Semenova S, Lehtonen E, Panula P Br J Pharmacol. 2018 Mar; 175:797-809. doi: 10.1111/bph.14124.

Π

Vesicular monoamine transporter 2 (SLC18A2) regulates monoamine turnover and brain development in zebrafish. **Baronio D**, Chen YC, Decker AR, Enckell L, Fernández-López B, Semenova S, Puttonen HAJ, Cornell RA, Panula P Acta Physiol (Oxf). 2022 Jan; 234:e13725. doi: 10.1111/apha.13725.

Ш

Abnormal brain development of monoamine oxidase mutant zebrafish and impaired social interaction of heterozygous fish. **Baronio D**, Chen YC and Panula P

Dis Model Mech. 2022 Mar; 15:dmm049133. doi: 10.1242/dmm.049133.

*Shared first authorship. No publications have been included in other dissertations. In the text, the original publications are referred to by roman numerals (I-III).

Candidate's contributions in the original publications:

I: The candidate performed the drug treatment, behavioral analysis of larval and adult zebrafish, reverse transcription-quantitative PCR (RT-qPCR) and immunohistochemistry. The candidate also participated in the analysis of the results and writing of the manuscript.

II: The candidate performed all the experiments involving *in situ* hybridization, RT-qPCR and behavioural analysis of this manuscript. Additionally, the candidate also performed the serotonin and tyrosine hydroxylase immunostaining. The candidate contributed with the analysis of the results and writing of the manuscript.

III: All the behavioural, *in situ* hybridization and RT-qPCR data were acquired by the candidate. Additionally, the candidate also performed the monoamine oxidase activity assay. Serotonin immunostaining and cell counting were performed by the candidate. The candidate contributed with the analysis of the results and writing of the manuscript.

2 LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- 3-MT 3-methoxytyramine
- 5-HIAA 5-hydroyindoleacetic acid
- 5-HTP 5-hydroytryptophan
- AADC aromatic amino acid decarboxylase
- AChE acetylcholine esterase
- ADHD attention deficit hyperactivity disorder
- APOEB apolipoprotein Eb
- ASD autism spectrum disorder
- BBB blood brain barrier
- cAMP cyclic adenosine monophosphate
- CMA chromosomal microarray
- CNS central nervous system
- CNVs copy number variants
- COMT catechol-Oxi-methyltransferase
- DAT dopamine transporter
- DBH dopamine beta hydroxylase
- DIG digoxigenin
- dpf days post-fertilization
- EG eminentia granularis
- ERZC european resource zebrafish center
- HDAC histone deacetylases
- HDC histidine decarboxylase
- HNMT histamine-n-methyltransferase

hpf - hour post-fertilization

- HPLC high-performance liquid chromatography
- HRH1 histamine receptor h1
- HRH2 histamine receptor h2
- HRH3 histamine receptor h3
- HRH4 histamine receptor h4
- HVA homovanillic acid
- ISI inter-stimulus-interval
- MANF mesencephalic astrocyte-derived neurotrophic factor
- MAO monoamine oxidase
- MB metabisulfite
- MECP2 methyl cpg binding protein 2
- mpf months post-fertilization
- NECs neuroepithelial cells
- NGS next generation sequencing
- NPCs neural progenitor cells
- OCT3 organic cation transporter 3
- PCD programmed cell death
- PCNA proliferating cell nuclear antigen
- PCPA Trans-2-phenylcyclopropylamine
- PEA β-phenylethylamine
- PET Positron emission tomography
- PLC- β phospholipase C β
- PMAT plasma membrane monoamine transporter

PVOa - Paraventricular organ anterior part PVOi - Paraventricular organ intermediate part PVOp - paraventricular organ posterior part Rpl13a - ribosomal protein large subunit 13a RT-qPCR - reverse transcription -quantitative pcr SERT - serotonin transporter SFARI - simons foundation autism research initiative Shank3b - sh3 and multiple ankyrin repeat domains 3 SNPs - single nucleotide polymorphisms SNVs - single nucleotide variants SSRIs - selective erotonin reuptake inhibitors TH - tyrosine hydroxylase t-mHA - tele-methylhistamine TPH - tryptophan hydroxylase uVNTRs - upstream variable number of tandem repeats VMAT2 - vesicular monoamine transporter 2 VPA - valproic acid VTA - ventral tegmental area

3 ABSTRACT

Brain amines are neurotransmitters that modulate important functions in the central nervous system, including behavior and brain development. Several brain disorders are characterized by impairments in aminergic systems, including autism spectrum disorder. Autism spectrum disorder is characterized by impaired social behavior, difficulty in communication and stereotypies. The etiology of autism is poorly understood, but both environmental and genetic risk factors are known to play a role on it. Valproic acid, a drug commonly used to treat bipolar disorder, and mutations in the monoamine oxidase a gene are both environmental and genetic risk factors. Animal models are useful tools to better understand the mechanisms and outcomes involved in aminergic-associated neurodevelopmental disorders and for testing new drugs that could attenuate the neurobehavioral outcomes associated with these conditions.

Zebrafish shares relevant neurochemical aspects with humans and display a wide range of behaviors, which contribute to its appreciation as a model organism in neuroscience. Some functional aspects of aminergic neurotransmission in the zebrafish brain, such as vesicular transport and metabolism, have been studied by pharmacological manipulation and there are no reports of *vesicular monoamine transporter 2 (vmat2*, also known as *slc18a2*) and *monoamine oxidase (mao)* genetic ablation in zebrafish so far. Characterizing such mutants could contribute with the existing pharmacological data and yield insights about the role of aminergic neurotransmission on embryonic development, as well as larval and adult behavior and brain function. Additionally, because zebrafish is becoming a popular tool in neuroscience, a well-characterized set of neurobiological mechanisms will strength its value as a model organism.

This study characterized the phenotypes of zebrafish with pharmacologically and genetically manipulated ASD risk factors. We were particularly interested in the behavioral outcomes and the aminergic systems of these animals. The aminergic populations, transport and metabolism of animals that lacked *vmat2* and *mao*, relevant genes for aminergic neurotransmission, were also studied. Methods such as immunohistochemistry, Quantitative PCR, *in situ* hybridization, high-performance liquid chromatography and behavioral analysis of larval and adult zebrafish were used in this thesis.

In the first publication of this thesis, larval zebrafish embryonically exposed to valproic acid showed a significant reduction in the number of histaminergic neurons and in the levels of histamine when compared to control animals. Besides the reduction in the number of histaminergic cells and histamine levels, the histaminergic system was affected by a downregulation of *histidine* *decarboxylase* and histamine receptors (*hrh1*, *hrh2*, and *hrh3*) when compared with control larvae. Some of these abnormalities persisted until adulthood, and valproic acid-exposed adult animals displayed reduced levels of *histidine decarboxylase* and *hrh3* along with impaired social behavior. Valproic acid-exposed zebrafish have the potential to be useful tools in ASD research, however, this model needs further validation. Additionally, this study brings more attention to a possible involvement of the histaminergic system in the outcomes related to autism.

In the second article, *vmat2* mutants, dopamine, noradrenaline, serotonin and histamine levels were decreased, whereas levels of dopamine and serotonin metabolites were increased, indicating elevated amine turnover. There were fewer histamine, serotonin and dopamine immunoreactive cells. Despite reduced levels of dopamine and histamine, mutants presented upregulated synthesizing enzymes. Further, in mutants *notch1a* and *pax2a* were downregulated in brain proliferative zones. This mutant line may be used in the investigation of how amines transport affects brain development and function, and for use in high-throughput and drug screening.

The $mao^{-/-}$ larvae showed a hyperserotonergic phenotype that was characterized by extracellular serotonin immunoreactivity and increased density of serotonin-immunoreactive fibers. However, this exacerbated extracellular serotonin was associated with damage in aminergic systems. They also showed weaker responses to visual and acoustic stimuli, abnormal expression of developmental markers and died within 20 days post-fertilization. $mao^{+/-}$ fish were viable, grew until adulthood, and demonstrated anxiety-like behavior and impaired social interactions compared with adult $mao^{+/+}$ siblings. In conclusion, the present work contributes to previous pharmacological data concerning the behavioral and neurochemical consequences of Mao inactivation in zebrafish. $mao^{-/-}$ zebrafish could be used in investigations aiming to assess the roles of MAOA/B and amines during in brain development. $mao^{+/-}$ zebrafish is a promising model to study the developmental and behavioral outcomes of interaction between environmental factors and MAOA/B genotype.

Collectively, the results of the present thesis support zebrafish as a tool to investigate mechanisms underlying autism spectrum disorder. Additionally, it presented two new models to study important aspects of aminergic neurotransmission in zebrafish and its role in brain function and behavior.

4 INTRODUCTION

There are five major amine neurotransmitters: the three catecholamines - dopamine, norepinephrine (noradrenaline), and epinephrine (adrenaline) - and histamine and serotonin. These molecules are implicated in a wide range of behaviors (from central homeostatic functions to cognitive processes). Dysfunctions in aminergic systems can lead to various brain disorders, such as Parkinson's disease, depression, schizophrenia and Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD).

ASD is a developmental disorder featured by impairments in social behavior, communication and flexibility of thought and behavior. An interaction between genetic components and environmental factors play a role in the pathogenesis of this disorder. Among the genes associated with ASD are *Monoamine oxidases*, which encode the enzymes responsible for amines metabolism. Prenatal exposure to valproic acid, a drug commonly used to treat bipolar disorder and epilepsy, is considered an environmental risk factor. Despite numerous abnormalities described in patients with ASD, including neuroanatomical, neurochemical and molecular alterations, the etiology of this disorder is not fully understood.

Although the translation of results to humans can be challenging, animal models are valuable tools to study neurobiological mechanisms of ASD and develop new therapies to treat specific symptoms of this disorder. Zebrafish is a popular model organism in neuroscience because of its high genetic homology with humans and the availability of genome editing tools, such as the CRISPR/Cas9 system. Additionally, it shares relevant neurochemical aspects with humans. All the main neurotransmitters and their systems' components, such as receptors and enzymes, are present in the zebrafish brain. It also displays a robust behavioral repertoire that can be evaluated through various tests from early stage of development to adulthood. Because of that, zebrafish is among the organisms currently used to model ASD-like features.

In this thesis we performed pharmacological and genetic interventions relevant to the pathophysiology of ASD, and other brain disorders, using zebrafish as a model organism and to study behavioral outcomes and the aminergic systems. Increasing the knowledge about important aspects of the aminergic systems in zebrafish, such as development, transport and metabolism, was necessary.

5 REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

5.1 Autism spectrum disorder (ASD)

Autism spectrum disorder (ASD) is a pervasive neurodevelopmental condition diagnosed in childhood the symptoms which persist throughout the patient's life. ASD is characterized by impairments in communication and social interaction (Lord et al., 2020). Individuals diagnosed with ASD may also present a restricted repertoire of activities and stereotypies. Sleep disturbances, gastrointestinal problems and immune alterations are among common ASD comorbidities (Accardo and Malow, 2015; Edmiston et al., 2017; Hsiao, 2014). ASD is estimated to affect ~1–1.5% of the global population and it represents with comorbidities a financial burden to public health (Buescher et al., 2014). Males have a four times higher risk of developing the disorder than females (Fombonne, 2009). Despite a variety of neuroanatomical, neurochemical and molecular alterations described in patients with ASD, research has identified no specific biomarkers to diagnose the disorder (Pardo and Eberhart, 2007). The etiology of ASD is not fully understood, but environmental and genetic factors are known to have a role in the development of this disorder.

5.1.1 Environmental factors associated with ASD

The developing central nervous system (CNS) is vulnerable to external insults and exposure to different prenatal environmental agents have a major impact on the risk of ASD. Additionally, the maternal health condition might also play an important role on the development of ASD in the offspring. Alterations in the maternal immune system during pregnancy have been considered risk factors, as maternal viral and bacterial infections (Jiang et al., 2016), and autoimmune diseases (Chen et al., 2016b) have been linked with increased risk of ASD in offspring. The increased levels of proinflammatory factors and autoantibodies in these conditions might have a role in the pathophysiology of ASD (Gottfried et al., 2015).

Toxic xenobiotics are potential environmental risk factors for ASD. Exposure to both heavy metals and organophosphates are associated with a 60% increase in the risk of ASD (Shelton et al., 2014; Yoshimasu et al., 2014). Exposure to valproic acid (VPA), a drug used to treat epilepsy and psychiatric disorders, has been associated with a 5-fold increase in ASD risk in general population (Christensen et al., 2013). ASD patients exposed prenatally to VPA can present craniofacial and limb malformations, which indicate that the window of exposure to this teratogen is open during early

embryogenesis (Ardinger et al., 1988). This is true for thalidomide, another teratogen associated with ASD. After analyzing the Swedish thalidomide registry, Strömland et al. found several patients with ASD and all of them have been exposed to thalidomide between gestational days 20 and 24 (Strömland et al., 1994). These findings led to the development of a rodent model of ASD based on prenatal exposure to VPA (Rodier et al., 1996). Later, this approach was used in other model organisms, such as fish (Zimmermann et al., 2015), chicks (Zachar et al., 2019) and non-human primates (Zhao et al., 2019).

5.1.2 Genetic factors associated with ASD

The genetic component in the pathophysiology of ASD is rather heterogeneous. Cytogenetic studies were the first to observe genetic abnormalities associated with ASD (Gillberg and Wahlström, 1985). However, the low resolution of karyotyping analysis did not allow an association between a specific gene and ASD. Rare chromosomal abnormalities, such as 15q11–q13 duplication (of the maternal allele) of the Prader-Willi/Angelman syndrome region also, affect approximately 2% of individuals diagnosed with ASD (Baker et al., 1994).

The development of new technologies, such as Comparative Genomic Hybridization and single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) arrays, allowed a more precise evaluation of microscopic and submicroscopic deletions and duplications in different genomic regions (Pinto et al., 2011). They have indicated that multiple copy number variants (CNVs) are risk factors for ASD (Sebat et al., 2007). These CNVs can be inherited or *de novo*, a genetic variation that occurs spontaneously in the parental germline. Many of these *de novo* CNVs are proposed to affect several genes that are often associated with synaptic function, such as *NRXN1* (Kim et al., 2008), *NLGN3* (Quartier et al., 2019), *SHANK3* (Durand et al., 2007), *SHANK2* (Berkel et al., 2012), and *SYNGAP1* (Hamdan et al., 2011). The identification of these candidate genes is important because it enhances clinical definition and diagnosis. Using Whole Exome/Genome sequencing, studies can also investigate the contribution of inherited and *de novo* Single Nucleotide Variants (SNVs) in ASD (An et al., 2014).

ASD heritability is mostly associated with common genetic variants called SNPs observed in the general population, with only a small contribution from inherited rare variants (Gaugler et al., 2014). The common variants are estimated to contribute with approximately 50% of ASD liability (Gaugler et al., 2014). However, most of SNPs have a small effect alone and most likely many common genetic variants collectively contribute to ASD (Devlin et al., 2011).

ASD can also be part of different monogenic syndromes, which include Fragile X syndrome (Belmonte and Bourgeron, 2006), tuberous sclerosis (Sundberg and Sahin, 2015), Rett syndrome (Richards et al., 2015) and neurofibromatosis (Garg et al., 2015). Mitochondrial dysfunction has also been implicated in ASD, as patients with untreated phenylketonuria may present ASD features (Baieli et al., 2003).

5.1.3 Animal models of ASD

Different rodent models to study ASD have been developed based on environmental risk factors, such as maternal infection and maternal VPA administration (Bambini-Junior et al., 2014a; Patterson, 2011a), and genetic variants associated with ASD or on syndromic disorders with autistic features (Bortolato et al., 2013; Hori et al., 2020).

One of the well-established rodent models of ASD based on exposure to an environmental risk factor is the VPA model. VPA is a non-selective inhibitor of histone deacetylases (HDACs), enzymes that regulate chromatin structure and function through the removal of acetyl groups from lysine residues of core histones, facilitating a closed chromatin state and transcriptional repression (Dozawa et al., 2014). Inhibition of class I HDACs can lead to increases in synapse numbers and excitatory synapse maturation (Akhtar et al., 2009). Additionally, it has been reported that VPA increases neurite growth and promotes neural proliferation (Go et al., 2012). However, exposure to VPA during early developmental stages may also cause DNA damage, activation of apoptotic mechanisms and impair neural tube closure (Tung and Winn, 2011).

VPA has the ability to inhibit neuronal excitability through effects on the GABAergic and glutamatergic systems. Increased GABA levels in the brains of rodents and CSF of humans have been reported after VPA treatment, most likely due to effects on enzymes that may modulate GABA levels, such as GABA transaminase and glutamic acid decarboxylase. These effects on the GABAergic system are consistent with the known anticonvulsant activity of VPA on seizures induced by GABA antagonists (Badawy et al., 2020; Nau and Löscher, 1982). Decreased levels of aspartate have been reported in whole brains of rodents after treatment with 200–400 mg/kg VPA (Johannessen, 2000). Additionally, aspartate release *in vitro* is decreased after VPA exposure (Crowder and Bradford, 1987).

Prenatal exposure to VPA in rodents leads to several behavioral and morphological abnormalities similar with those exhibited by individuals with ASD. Disruption in the monoaminergic systems, misbalanced excitation/inhibition, alterations in the nociceptive threshold, anxious-like

behavior, impaired social behavior and aberrant exploratory behavior are all noted in this model (Baronio et al., 2015; Narita et al., 2002; Schneider et al., 2006; Tsujino et al., 2007). Beneficial effects of environmental enrichment on the behavior of VPA-exposed rodents resembles the outcomes of early behavioral intervention and sensorimotor enrichment in patients with ASD (Favre et al., 2015; Schneider et al., 2006), suggesting that the VPA rodent model has predictive validity. Additionally, this model has been used for the investigation of new therapies for ASD. Recently, the interest in studying the histaminergic system in ASD pathophysiology increased. The use of histamine receptor H3 (H3R) inverse agonists in the VPA model led to behavioral improvements and reduction of brain inflammation (Baronio et al., 2015; Eissa et al., 2018).

Among the several genes thought to be involved in the pathophysiological processes of ASD, many encode important components for the serotonergic system, such as serotonin transporter (*SERT*, also known as *SLC6A4*) and monoamine oxidase a (*MAOA*) (Cohen et al., 2003; Veenstra-VanderWeele et al., 2012). *Sert* KO and *MaoA* KO mice recapitulate some of the symptoms displayed by patients with ASD and can be used to investigate the role of serotonin in brain development, ASD-like behavior, and abnormalities related with serotonin levels (Bortolato et al., 2013; Ellenbroek et al., 2016). Additionally, based on the hundreds of genes known to have an association with ASD risk, several other genetic models were generated to investigate various biological processes that might play a role on ASD pathophysiology, such as synaptic function and neuronal activity, postsynaptic density protein metabolism and neuronal cell adhesion (Li et al., 2021).

5.2 Zebrafish as a model organism

Zebrafish is a small teleost that is currently widely used as a model organism in scientific research. These animals are cost-effective because they are easy to breed and can be kept in large numbers in relatively small spaces. A pair of zebrafish is able to spawn 100-300 eggs per week. Thus, even a small zebrafish unit is able to produce a large number of embryos. The eggs and developing embryos are transparent, making it possible to observe the structures of the zebrafish organs during development (Kalueff et al., 2014). They achieve the early larval stage from 2 to 3 days post fertilization (dpf). Zebrafish progress through the early larval, late larval and juvenile stages before reaching adulthood and sexual maturity at around 3 months post-fertilization (mpf). It is a relevant model for high-throughput screening and drug testing because its capacity of generating a large number of offspring and its transparent body at early stages of development allow the visualization of effects of chemical exposure on different organs (Gupta et al., 2014; Nishimura et al., 2016).

Zebrafish is an attractive tool in neuroscience research because it shares relevant neurochemical aspects with humans. All the main neurotransmitters are present in the zebrafish brain. Their systems' components, such as receptors and enzymes, can be easily studied and visualized through wholemount in situ hybridization and immunofluorescence at early stage of development since zebrafish brains can be dissected already at 2 dpf (Chen et al., 2016a; Kaslin and Panula, 2001; Panula et al., 2006; Panula et al., 2021). Zebrafish also possess a blood brain barrier (BBB), which start to develop on 3 dpf (Fleming et al., 2013). Similarly with mammals, the adult zebrafish brain is divided in forebrain, midbrain and hindbrain. The forebrain is composed of the telencephalon and diencephalon. In the telencephalon, regions called subpallium and pallium are the zebrafish homologues of the mammalian basal ganglia and hippocampus and amygdala, respectively (Gerlach and Wullimann, 2021). It is unknown if zebrafish possess a region that would be functionally equivalent to the mammalian neocortex. The diencephalon contains major five parts: epithalamus, dorsal thalamus, ventral thalamus, posterior tuberculum and hypothalamus (Wullimann et al., 1996). The habenulae (right and left) are important epithalamic nuclei that are involved in the regulation of fear, anxiety and social behavior (Agetsuma et al., 2010). The midbrain is the area between the forebrain and hindbrain, divided into optic tectum, torus semicircularis, torus longitudinalis, and midbrain tegmentum (Folgueira et al., 2020). The hindbrain is composed of the cerebellum and medulla oblongata (Wullimann et al., 1996). Figure 1 provides a more detailed representation of the zebrafish neuroanatomy.



Figure 1- Lateral view of the zebrafish adult brain. Telencephalon is formed by the dorsal and ventral telencephalic area as well as the olfactory bulb, which is entered rostrally by the olfactory nerve. The diencephalon is covered by the optic tectum and externally visible parts are the optic nerve, the preglomerular area, the torus lateralis and the hypothalamus. The cerebellum (corpus cereberelli and granular eminence) covers the brain stem, which comprises most of the cranial nerves, except for the optic and olfactory nerves, and, more caudally, the crista cerebellaris. The medulla oblongata is the most posterior part of the brainstem and merges with the spinal cord. **CC**: crista cerebellaris, **CC**: corpus cerebelli, **EG**: eminentia granularis, **IL**: inferior lobe of hypothalamus, **LL**: lateral line nerves, **LX**: vagal lobe, **MO**: medulla oblongata, **MS**: medulla spinalis, **OB**: olfactory bulb, **PG**: preglomerular area, **Pit**: pituitary, **PSp**: parvocellular superficial pretectal nucleus, **Tel**: telencephalon, **TeO**: tectum opticum, **TH**: tuberal hypothalamus, **TLa**: torus lateralis, **I**: olfactory nerve, **I**: optic nerve, **IV**: trochlear nerve, **V**: trigeminal nerve, **VI**!: facial nerve, **VI**!: octaval nerve, **X**: vagal nerve. Modified from Wullimann et al., 1996. Figure created with BioRender.com.

The wide range of behaviors displayed by zebrafish also contribute to its appreciation in neurobiology research. Behavioral aspects can be monitored already at early stages of development. Zebrafish tails begin to bend spontaneously at 18 h post fertilization (hpf), due to large calcium depolarizations flowing from head to tail, and touch evoked evasive movements are noted at 28 hpf (Brustein et al., 2003). Different apparatuses available in the market allow the simultaneous tracking of up to 96 zebrafish larvae placed in multi-well plates, which make them suitable for high-throughput testing. These observation chambers make it possible to evaluate larval basic locomotor activity, response to acoustic and visual stimuli, mimicking day/night rhythm and locomotor activity response to pharmacological treatments (Puttonen et al., 2017; Puttonen et al., 2018; Van Den Bos et al., 2017). The Mauthner cells modulate the escape response in zebrafish after acoustic/vibrational stimuli (Burgess and Granato, 2007a). After such stimuli, larvae will display a short latency response with

an increase in locomotor activity and velocity. This phenotype is thought to be a form predation avoidance. A hyperactive phenotype is also noted upon abrupt decrements in illumination, a behavior often referred as dark-flash response. Initially, it was hypothesized that this was also an escape response to predation. However, it was proved that this behavior is not mediated by the Mauthner cells and is more likely to be navigational rather than defensive behavior. In this particular situation, larvae execute a maneuver called *O-bend*, characterized by a large angle body bend into an "O" shape. The darkness induced hyperactivity and the 180° turn (o-bend) are hypothesized to facilitate navigation back to well-lit environments (Burgess and Granato, 2007b).

As they grow older, zebrafish start to develop a more complex behavioral repertoire relevant for the study of brain disorders. Social behavior is of particular interest because it is affected in numerous brain disorders. Zebrafish are social animals that are visually attracted to conspecifics and have the tendency to form tight groups of individuals, a behavior called *shoaling*. This behavior serves different purposes, including breeding, avoiding predation and foraging (Pitcher, 1986). It is possible to evaluate the shoaling behavior in the laboratory by placing a group of fish (shoal) in a tank and recording their movements during a trial. Parameters, such as the mean of the interfish distance and duration that individuals are in proximity, can be analyzed with video tracking software that tracks and analyzes the behavior, movement, and activity of any animal (Chen et al., 2020). The fact that zebrafish is visually attracted to conspecifics also allowed the establishment of a paradigm where an isolated social stimulus (a shoal) is presented to a testing fish in an arena. This approach is based on the well-established three-chamber sociability test used in rodent studies (Baronio et al., 2015). Additionally, the use of robotic fish and virtual shoals displayed in a monitor screen have been used to study zebrafish social behavior (Abaid et al., 2012; Gerlai, 2017).

Anxiety-like behavior is also easily assessed with zebrafish by different tests. Thigmotaxis is one of the most commonly used behaviors assessed in rodent models of brain disorders and it is a well-established index of anxiety. This behavior is also assessed in studies with larval and adult zebrafish (Blaser et al., 2010; Schnörr et al., 2012). Zebrafish has the tendency to initially seek protection in an unfamiliar environment before start exploring it. This phenomenon can be mimicked and studied in the laboratory through the *novel tank diving test* (Stewart et al., 2013). The test consists on transferring a zebrafish from its home tank to an unfamiliar tank. The fish initially prefers to explore only the bottom of the tank often displays erratic movements and freezing behavior. Eventually the tested fish becomes bolder and explores the rest of the tank. Dividing the tank in virtual zones with the appropriate software while recording this behavior allows the researcher to evaluate the degree of anxiety-like behavior by the fish, as we can quantify the time spent in each zone, the

latency to reach other zones of the tank and velocity (Chen et al., 2020). This behavior can be pharmacologically manipulated by the previous exposure of the fish to anxiolytic or anxiogenic substances (Egan et al., 2009).

5.2.1 Zebrafish as a model organism to study ASD

Because of its high genetic homology (approximately 70% of all human disease genes have functional homologs in zebrafish) (Santoriello and Zon, 2012) with humans and the availability of genome editing tools, such as the CRISPR/Cas9 system, zebrafish is also used to develop different models of brain disorders trough the generation of mutants. It is important to highlight that, as many teleost species, zebrafish went through a genome duplication event (Postlethwait et al., 1998). This means that the zebrafish genome has two or more isoforms of many genes that have only one copy in mammals. That is the case for a few genes relevant for aminergic transmission. However, the isoforms often have complementary expression patterns in the zebrafish brain or are restricted to a certain developmental stage, which allows the investigation of loss of function of a gene in a certain region or stretch of time. For instance, three different *tryptophan hydroxylase (tph)* genes (*tph1a, tph1b* and *tph2*) are present in the zebrafish genome and show distinct patterns of expression, which will be discussed in the following sections of this thesis (Gaspar and Lillesaar, 2012).

Zebrafish models of ASD risk genes and genes linked to ASD-associated syndromes, such as Fragile X syndrome (Constantin et al., 2020), tuberous sclerosis complex (Kim et al., 2011) and Rett syndrome (Cortelazzo et al., 2017), have been developed and helped to shed light on relevant neurobiological mechanisms. These mutants recapitulate important behavioral and molecular aspects of ASD. Additionally, zebrafish can be easily exposed to environmental factors known to be associated with the development of brain disorders, such as drugs and toxins, by injection or immersing these compounds in the fish water (Kalueff et al., 2014).

VPA exposure has been used to produce ASD-like features in zebrafish. This approach is based on reports of high incidence of ASD-symptoms in children with fetal valproate syndrome and it was already used in studies with rodent (Bambini-Junior et al., 2014b; Baronio et al., 2015; Christensen et al., 2013; Eissa et al., 2018). Zimmermann et al. reported that zebrafish exposed to VPA during the first 48 h of life exhibit deficits in social interaction, anxiety, and hyperactivity at different periods of development (Zimmermann et al., 2015). In the report by Chen et al. VPA exposure began at 8 hpf and ended at 4.5 dpf and zebrafish displayed macrocephaly, which could be explained by increases in cell proliferation, the proportion of mature newborn neurons, and neural stem cell proliferation (Chen et al., 2018). Continuous 4.2-day exposure to 10 μ M VPA leads to an early and persistent ASDlike phenotype along with hyperactivity and anxiety, in larvae and adult zebrafish. Additionally, it increases acetylcholine esterase (AChE) activity and reduced Akt–mTOR signaling in the brain (Joseph et al., 2021). The use of VPA-exposed zebrafish to model behavioral and molecular abnormalities associated with ASD could be advantageous. However, the number of published studies on the topic are insufficient to make a conclusion. Additionally, there are differences in methods between the few published articles regarding periods of exposure and concentrations of VPA used to generate an ASD-like phenotype in zebrafish. Thus, more studies and further validation of the already published models are necessary to confirm if this is a valid approach. More examples of ASD-like phenotypes in experimentally manipulated (genetically and environmentally) zebrafish are displayed in Table 1.
 Table 1 - Phenotypical observations in zebrafish ASD models generated through genetic and environmental manipulation.

Manipulation	Risk factors associated with ASD	Zebrafish model	Main phenotypical observations in zebrafish	References
	SHANK3 mutation	shank3ab ^{-/-}	Impaired social preference, repetitive swimming behaviors, hypoactivity	(Durand et al., 2007; Liu et al., 2021)
	NRXN2 mutation	nrxn2aa ^{-/-}	Axon pathfinding defects and increased anxiety	(Gauthier et al., 2011; Koh et al., 2021)
GENETIC	<i>NR3C2</i> mutation	nr3c2 -/-	Social behavioral deficit. Increased sleep latency, longer wake bouts and shorter sleep bouts.	(Ruzzo et al., 2019)
	<i>CNTNAP2</i> mutation	cntnap2ab ^{-/-}	GABAergic deficits and sensitivity to drug- induced seizures	(Hoffman et al., 2016; Strauss et al., 2006)
	DYRK1A mutation	dyrk1aa ^{-/-}	Microcephaly and social behavior deficit	(Bronicki et al., 2015; Kim et al., 2017)
	Fetal valproate syndrome	Larval exposure to VPA	Social interaction impairment and hyperactivity	(Bescoby- Chambers et al., 2001; Robea et al., 2021)
ENVIRONMENTAL	Prenatal pollutant exposures	Maternal exposure to water soluble fraction of crude oil and lead (Pb)	Altered expression levels of multiple genes relevant for ASD pathophysiology	(Dutheil et al., 2021; Wang et al., 2016b)

5.3 Aminergic systems

Dopamine, noradrenaline, adrenaline, serotonin and histamine are aminergic neurotransmitters that share an amine group (-NH₂) with a catechol, indolamine or imidazole backbone and exert numerous physiological functions in the CNS. Dopamine, noradrenaline and adrenaline are considered catecholamines because the catechol moiety that they share, whereas histamine is a diamine with imidazole backbone (Bindoli et al., 1992; Parsons and Ganellin, 2006). Serotonin belongs to another class of amines, called indolamines. Synthesis, transport and storage are similar between these neurotransmitters because they are chemically related. The availability of the precursor amino acids in the brain and the amount of active synthesizing enzymes are considered rate-limiting steps in the biosynthesis. After synthesis, these neurotransmitters are packed and stored in intracellular vesicles by vesicular monoamine transporter 2 (VMAT2, also known as SLC18A2), which is present in all aminergic neurons (Wimalasena, 2011). Neurotransmitters are removed from the synaptic cleft by cell membrane transporters and can be recycled or metabolized to inactive



Figure 2- A simplified overview of the basic mechanisms involving the synthesis and metabolism of serotonin (A) and dopamine (B). Tryptophan hydroxylase converts tryptophan into 5-HTP, which is turned into serotonin by AADC. Tyrosine is converted into L-Dopa by tyrosine hydroxylase, which is turned into dopamine by aromatic aminoacid decarboxylase (AADC). Neurotransmitters are packed into transport vesicles by VMAT2. Neurotransmitters are released from the vesicle by exocytosis into the extracellular space. Some of the released neurotransmitters bind to their specific targets, the receptors expressed in the postsynaptic neuron. Plasma membrane transporters for dopamine and serotonin expressed in the presynaptic neurons take up some of the released neurotransmitters. As an example, panel B shows dopamine transporter and plasma membrane monoamine transporter (PMAT) expressed in glial cells taking up extraneuronal dopamine. Once dopamine is transported into glial cells, catechol-*Oxi*-methyltransferase (COMT) converts it into 3-methoxytyramine (3-MT), which is transformed into homovanillic acid (HVA) by MAO B. Figure created with BioRender.com.

metabolites by specific enzymes. Figure 2 provides an overview of the synthesis of serotonin and dopamine. In the following sections the dopaminergic, serotonergic and histaminergic systems and their roles in the pathophysiology of ASD are discussed.

5.3.1 The dopaminergic system

Dopamine and other cathecolamines are synthesized from a common precursor, the nonessential amino acid tyrosine. The conversion of tyrosine to L-DOPA by tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) is the rate-limiting step in the synthesis of cathecolamines (Nagatsu et al., 1964). Aromatic amino acid decarboxylase (AADC) is responsible to convert L-DOPA into dopamine (Lovenberg et al., 1962). In addition to TH, noradrenergic neurons express dopamine beta hydroxylase (DBH), which converts dopamine into noradrenaline (Joh and Hwang, 1987).

Similarly with other biogenic amines, dopamine is stored (or transported into) in vesicles by VMAT2 and released into the synaptic cleft after the arrival of an action potential (Weihe and Eiden, 2000). After activation of postsynaptic dopamine receptors, dopamine is removed from the synaptic cleft by the dopamine transporter (DAT), which is a transmembrane protein expressed in the presynaptic neuron and glial cells (Iversen, 1971; Segura-Aguilar et al., 2022). The dopamine that is taken up by the presynaptic neuron can be either recycled and stored again in vesicles or degraded. Dopamine is degraded to DOPAC or 3-methoxytyramine (3-MT) by monoamine oxidase (MAO) and catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT), respectively. DOPAC and 3-MT are degraded to homovanillic acid (HVA), by COMT and MAO, respectively (Napolitano et al., 1995). It is noteworthy that the presence of COMT in presynaptic neurons is controversial, with reports of this protein expressed in postsynaptic neurons and non-neuronal cells such as ependymal cells of the cerebral ventricles and glial cells (Karhunen et al., 1994; Karhunen et al., 1995).

Dopaminergic neurons in mammals can be divided into different groups: A8–A10 (diencephalon-midbrain), A11–A15 (diencephalon), A16 (olfactory bulb), and A17 (retinal) groups (Hökfelt et al., 1973). A8 neurons are located in the retrorubral field, a midbrain region situated dorsal and posterior to the substantia nigra. A9 population is located in the substantia nigra pars compacta, whereas A10 forms the ventral tegmental area. In the diencephalic group, A11 is located in the caudal diencephalon and gives rise to diencephalo-spinal projections. Dopaminergic cells located in the arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus belong to A12 population and project to the pituitary. A13 and A14 are located in the dorsal hypothalamus and in the rostral periventricular hypothalamus,

respectively. Together they form the incerto-hypothalamic neuronal system. A15 is located in the rostral hypothalamus and preoptic area. In the forebrain, TH-positive periglomerular cells form the A16 population. A17 cells are in the retina and are amacrine cells (Nguyen-Legros et al., 1982).

There are five families of dopamine receptors (D₁, D₂, D₃, D₄ and D₅) that can be categorized according to their functional properties (Lachowicz and Sibley, 1997). D₁-like (D₁, D₅) couple to the G_s family of G proteins (G_s and G_{olf}), which increases cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) production and are expressed postsynaptically (Beaulieu and Gainetdinov, 2011). D₂-like receptors (D₂, D₃ and D₄) couple primarily to the G_{i/o} family, which leads to a decreased cAMP production, and can be expressed both postsynaptically on dopamine target cells and in presynaptic dopaminergic neurons (Usiello et al., 2000). Dopamine receptors are involved in important processes, such as movement control, cognition and reward.

5.3.1.1 The dopaminergic system of zebrafish

As a consequence of genome duplication which occurred within the teleost lineage, many genes from the zebrafish genome present two or more isoforms that are only in one copy in mammals (Postlethwait et al., 1998). That is the case for *TH*, which has two isoforms in zebrafish (*th1* and *th2*) (Chen et al., 2009). Groups of Th1-immunoreactive cells have been described and categorized in the zebrafish brain through a numbering system (1-17). Some of these groups can be detected already at 24 hpf and all populations present in the adult brain are detected at 72 hpf. This numbering system (Sallinen et al., 2009a) was created after analysis of the development of catecholaminergic populations using 3D confocal microscopy and is different from the previous nomenclature that was established based on 2D data and an investigation mainly focusing on diencephalic populations (Rink and Wullimann, 2002).

In the forebrain, 13 groups are of dopaminergic and one is of noradrenergic cells (group 14, locus coeruleus). Groups 1 and 2 are located in the olfactory bulb and telencephalon, respectively. Cells of group 3 and 4 are in the preoptic area, where group 4 is ventrally positioned and projects to the pituitary. Groups 5 (postoptic), 6 (thalamic) and 11 (posterior tuberculum) can be detected from 48 hpf onwards, but are more easily separable in the adult than in the larval brain. The pretectal population (group 7) project laterally to the optic tectum. Group 8 is located in the anterior part of the paraventricular organ, whereas group 9 and group 10 are in the intermediate and posterior parts, respectively. Group 12 is located in the paraventricular organ and posterior tuberculum; group 13 is part of the periventricular hypothalamus and posterior tuberculum. In the hindbrain, groups 15, 16

and 17 are locates in the internal reticular formation, caudal lobe commissural nucleus of Cajal, respectively (Sallinen et al., 2009a). Th2-immunoreactive cells are found in 4 additional groups that were assigned the same numbers as the neighboring Th1-immunoreactive cells with the added letter "b" (3b, 8b, 9b, 10b) (Chen et al., 2009).

As mentioned in the previous section, dopamine is metabolized by MAO and COMT in mammals. Zebrafish treated with selegiline (l-deprenyl), which inhibits the Mao activity in these animals, presented decreased levels of DOPAC, a dopamine metabolite. However, no alterations in the immunoreactivity of Th cells and in the levels of dopamine were detected, suggesting that Mao does not metabolize dopamine efficiently in zebrafish (Sallinen et al., 2009b). Two *comt* genes (*comta* and *comtb*) are found in zebrafish and the encoded enzymes are thought to play part in the metabolism of dopamine and other cathecolamines, as the product of dopamine methylation by COMT, 3-MT is present in zebrafish (Semenova et al., 2017).

In zebrafish, eight dopamine receptor subtypes have been reported so far, drd1, drd2a, drd2b, drd2c, drd3, drd4a, drd4b and drd4C. Based on the amino acid sequence similarity and phylogenetic analysis, drd1 is the homolog of the mammalian D1-like receptor type, and the rest belong to the mammalian D2-like receptor type. Zebrafish larvae exposed to D₁ and D₂ antagonists display marked hypoactivity while agonism of either receptor subtype leads to hyperactivity (Giacomini et al., 2006; Irons et al., 2013). Adults acutely treated with dopamine receptor antagonist improved spatial learning and memory, while fish dosed with dopamine receptor agonists showed impaired performance (Naderi et al., 2016).

5.3.1.2 The dopaminergic system in ASD

Since dopaminergic projections innervate and modulate different brain structures that are associated with ASD, it has been hypothesized that dysfunctions in different dopaminergic pathways could be responsible to specific behavioral alterations commonly detected in patients with ASD. The mesolimbic pathway, for instance, which connects dopaminergic neurons from the ventral tegmental area (VTA) with the frontal cortex, if disrupted, could reduce reward value linked to social stimuli. As a consequence, reduced social interaction and poor development of verbal skills could manifest as symptoms. Supporting this hypothesis, positron emission tomography (PET) studies have shown that presynaptic dopamine levels are reduced in the prefrontal cortex of children with ASD (Ernst et al., 1997). During a behavioral task decreased phasic dopamine release to rewards was detected in

several striatal clusters, including the putamen and caudate nucleus, of patients with ASD (Zürcher et al., 2021).

The use of atypical antipsychotic drugs, such as risperidone and aripiprazole, seem to have improving effects on the behavioral traits displayed by individuals with ASD. These dopamine receptor D2 subtype ligands are able to reduce irritability, aggression and hyperactivity of patients (McCracken et al., 2002; Scott and Dhillon, 2007). Additionally, these drugs also block serotonin receptors. However, there is no evidence that these pharmacological interventions have beneficial effects on core symptoms of ASD (Marrus et al., 2014).

Mutations in genes encoding proteins that are modulators of dopaminergic neurotransmission have been associated with ASD. A possible risk haplotype was identified in the *DRD1* gene which was over-transmitted from mothers to sons with ASD (Hettinger et al., 2008). This haplotype was associated with more severe core symptoms of ASD. A significant association between ASD and the SNP rs167771 located in the *DRD3* gene was found in British and Dutch samples of ASD (de Krom et al., 2009). Whole-exome sequencing of ASD families has identified a novel *de novo* missense mutation in the DAT, which is predicted to alter extracellular dopamine levels by anomalous dopamine efflux (Hamilton et al., 2013).

5.3.2 The serotonergic system

Serotonin is synthesized from the amino acid tryptophan in two steps. Firstly, the rate limiting enzyme TPH converts tryptophan into 5-hydroytryptophan (5-HTP) (Lovenberg et al., 1967). In the periphery the isoform responsible for serotonin synthesis is called TPH1, while in the CNS the enzymatic reaction is mediated by TPH2 (Walther et al., 2003). In the second step serotonin is produced by the decarboxylation of 5-HTP by AADC (Lovenberg et al., 1962). The product of serotonin degradation by MAOA is the metabolite 5-hydroyindoleacetic acid (5-HIAA). Before its release in the synaptic cleft, serotonin is stored in vesicles by VMAT2.

There are nine serotonergic populations (B1-B9), which form the raphe nuclei in the mammalian brain. The more caudal raphe nuclei (B1-B5) send projections to the peripheral nervous system, while the rostral populations (B6-B9) project to forebrain structures (Dahlström and Fuxe, 1964). In mammals, there are 14 receptors for serotonin that have distinct temporal and spatial patterns of expression and regulate important physiological processes and behaviors (Barnes et al., 2021). They are divided into seven families $(5-HT_1 - 5-HT_7)$ largely on the basis of their structural and operational characteristics and are part of the G-protein-coupled receptor family, except for 5-

HT₃ receptors, which are ligand-gated ion channels. These receptors have been linked to diverse processes, such as the pathophysiology of different brain disorders (i.e., anxiety, depression and schizophrenia) and regulation of sleep, spatial memory and learning (Hannon and Hoyer, 2008).

After stimulation of its receptors, serotonin is removed from the synaptic cleft by SERT, which is expressed in the presynaptic neurons. The serotonin removed by SERT can be recycled or degraded by MAOA. SERT is an important pharmacological target, as the selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) bind to SERT and prevent serotonin reuptake, in disorders such as depression and anxiety (Vahid-Ansari and Albert, 2021).

The serotonergic system has important roles during development and serotonin functions as a trophic factor that regulates neuronal growth, differentiation, migration and survival before synapse formation (Brüning et al., 1997; Riccio et al., 2011). Thus, a disrupted serotonergic system during development can lead to impairments in brain function and behavior. In fact, alterations in the developing serotonergic system have been linked to the pathophysiology of different brain disorders, including ASD. These alterations can be consequences of genetic (i.e., *SERT* or *MAOA* allelic variants) or environmental (prenatal exposure to SSRIs) factors (Cohen et al., 2011; Man et al., 2015; Sutcliffe et al., 2005).

5.3.2.1 The serotonergic system in ASD

Hyperserotonemia was first reported in patients with ASD in 1961. It was estimated in a metaanalysis that approximately 25% of the ASD population presents this alteration (Gabriele et al., 2014). This phenomenon has been associated with the severity of specific symptoms of the disorder, such as self-injurious behavior. However, hyperserotonemia cannot be reliably used as a biomarker for ASD because the results presented by different studies are inconsistent. It has been hypothesized that increased levels of serotonin in the blood of patients with ASD could be a consequence of different mechanisms, including increased production by enterochromaffin cells in the gut, increased uptake into the platelet, decreased metabolic rate, or altered platelet release. Hyperserotonemia can be problematic during early development since serotonin can enter the developing brain and lead to an impaired serotonergic innervation due to a negative feedback (Whitaker-Azmitia, 2005). This could consequently generate ASD symptoms later in life.

Evidence also points to an altered serotonergic system in the CNS of ASD patients. Several neuroimaging and postmortem studies reported decreased serotonin receptors binding and density in the brains of ASD patients (Goldberg et al., 2009; Murphy et al., 2006; Oblak et al., 2013). Increased

SERT expression in ASD has been associated with increased stereotypies (Mulder et al., 2005). In contrast, decreased SERT expression has been linked to impaired social behavior (Brune et al., 2006). However, in a PET study of SERT binding in adults with Asperger's disorder, no alterations were found (Girgis et al., 2011). *Sert* KO mice display increased stress reactivity, macrocephaly and decreased sociability (Brune et al., 2006; Mulder et al., 2005). However, knock-in of the SERT Ala56 variant, which is associated with compulsive behavior and sensory aversion in individuals with ASD (Sutcliffe et al., 2005), in mice displayed alterations in social function, communication, and repetitive behavior (Veenstra-VanderWeele et al., 2012). Serotonin receptors also might play a role in this disorder, as there are reports of reduced binding potentials of serotonin receptors 5-HT_{1A} and 5-HT_{2A} in the thalamus, the posterior cingulate cortex, and the fusiform gyrus (Beversdorf et al., 2012; Oblak et al., 2013). The role of MAOA in the pathophysiology of ASD will be discussed in other section of this thesis.

5.3.2.2 The serotonergic system of zebrafish

In zebrafish, the serotonergic cells can be detected at 1 dpf in the brain and the serotonergic system is developed by 5 dpf, with serotonin immunoreactive cells detected in raphe nuclei (Sallinen et al., 2009b). In addition, and contrary to mammals, zebrafish also display serotonergic clusters in in the diencephalon and hypothalamus. In the diencephalon, pretectal serotonergic neurons (population 1) are thought to be involved in visual processing, as they innervate the optic tectum. The hypothalamus contains the highest number of serotonin immunoreactive neurons, which can be divided into three distinct populations according to their location: paraventricular organ anterior part (PVOa, population 2), paraventricular organ intermediate part (PVOi, population 3) and paraventricular organ posterior part (PVOp, population 4) (Sallinen et al., 2009b). In the hindbrain, the zebrafish raphe serotonergic populations display similarities to the mammalian raphe serotonergic system. Raphe populations in the zebrafish hindbrain can be divided in rostral raphe complex (population 5-7), caudal raphe complex (population 8) and area postrema complex (population 9) (Panula et al., 2010; Sallinen et al., 2009b).

Three isoforms of *tph* (*tph1a*, *tph1b* and *tph2*) and two *sert* genes (*serta* and *sertb*) are expressed in the zebrafish brain. *tph1a* and *sertb* are expressed in cells of the embryonic and adult posterior tuberculum and hypothalamus (Lillesaar et al., 2007; Norton et al., 2008). Additionally, *tph1a* is transiently expressed in cells along the floor plate of the spinal cord. *tph1b* is expressed transiently in neuroepithelial cells during early development (Pan et al., 2021). Neurons of the raphe nuclei and in the pretectal area of the diencephalon from embryos and adult zebrafish express *tph2* and *serta* (Lillesaar et al., 2007; Norton et al., 2008; Teraoka et al., 2004). All three *tph* paralogs have been described in the pineal gland, where serotonin serves as a precursor of melatonin. Serotonin is metabolized by Mao in zebrafish, an enzyme that shares similarities with both mammalian MAOA and MAOB (Anichtchik et al., 2006). Only a few serotonergic receptors have been cloned from fish, with the pattern of expression of three receptors of the type 1 family more well characterized in zebrafish (Norton et al., 2008). It has been demonstrated that serotonin receptors promote antiepileptic activity in zebrafish, since treatment with agonists of 5-HT_{2b} receptors exerts a powerful suppression of convulsive swim behavior and electrographic seizure activity in a zebrafish model of Dravet syndrome (Griffin et al., 2019).

5.3.3 The histaminergic system

Neuronal histamine is produced from the amino acid L-histidine, which is taken up by neurons and converted to histamine by the enzyme histidine decarboxylase (HDC) (Martres et al., 1975). Histamine is then packed in vesicles by the VMAT2 (Merickel and Edwards, 1995). Telemethylhistamine (t-mHA) is the product of histamine degradation by histamine-N-methyltransferase (HNMT) in the central nervous system (Brown et al., 1959). However, the molecular mechanism of histamine clearance is not fully understood. HNMT has been reported to be expressed in primary human astrocytes and the astrocytes of human brain specimens. Histamine uptake by these cells is dependent on the plasma membrane monoamine transporter (PMAT) with a minor contribution of organic cation transporter 3 (OCT3) (Yoshikawa et al., 2013). Figure 3 provides an overview of synthesis and metabolism of histamine. In the mammalian brain, histaminergic neurons are located in the tuberomamillary nucleus and send projections to different areas of the brain through two ascending and one descending histaminergic pathways (Haas and Panula, 2003; Panula et al., 1990). The ventral part of the brain, including the hypothalamus and the septum, receive projections from the ventral ascending pathway. The thalamus, amygdala, hippocampus and rostral forebrain structures are innervated by projections from the dorsal ascending pathway. Cerebellum, brain stem and spinal cord are innervated by projections from the descending pathway. The organization of the histaminergic network is similar in humans, other mammals, amphibians and fish (Airaksinen and Panula, 1990; Airaksinen et al., 1992; Eriksson et al., 1998).



Figure 3 - A simplified overview of the basic mechanisms involving the synthesis and metabolism of histamine. L-histidine is converted into histamine by histidine decarboxylase. Histamine is packed into transport vesicles by VMAT2 and released from the vesicle by exocytosis into the extracellular space. Some of the released neurotransmitters bind to their specific targets, the receptors expressed in the postsynaptic neuron. Plasma membrane monoamine transporter (PMAT) is expressed in astrocytes and play a role in the regulation of extraneuronal histamine. Once histamine is transported into astrocytes, Histamine N-methyltransferase (HNMT) converts it into tele-methylhistamine (t-mHA). Figure created with BioRender.com.

There are four histamine receptors (H1R, H2R, H3R3 and H4R) that belong to the GPCR family and present constitutive activity. H1R is expressed different cell types of the central nervous, including neurons, astrocytes and cells of the immune system circulating in the brain (Jurič et al., 2016; Karlstedt et al., 2013; Passani and Blandina, 2011). Regions where this receptor is expressed includes hypothalamus, thalamus, cortex and brainstem. The signal transduction of H1R includes activation of phospholipase C, which promotes the inositol triphosphate-dependent release of Ca2⁺ from intracellular stores and diacylglycerol-sensitive activation of protein kinase C (Smit et al., 1999). Activation of H2R stimulates adenylate cyclase and cAMP production, which leads to the activation of protein kinase A and CREB. In the brain, H2R is expressed in areas such as the cortex, hippocampus, basal ganglia and amygdala. A role for H2R in learning and memory has been suggested (Schneider et al., 2014). H3R is widely expressed in the brain and works as a presynaptic auto- or hetero-receptors that regulates the synthesis and release of histamine and other neurotransmitters. Activation of H3R inhibits cAMP synthesis and activates MAP kinases and the AKT/GSK3β axis (Mariottini et al., 2009). A role for H3R in motivation and aversion, locomotor activity and social behavior has been suggested (Baronio et al., 2015; Nuutinen et al., 2011; Vanhanen et al., 2013). The presence of H4R in the CNS is still debated, although there are reports of the presence of this receptor in brain endothelial cells (Karlstedt et al., 2013). Activation of H4R inhibits the formation of cAMP and is involved in the activation of phospholipase C β (PLC- β), which will lead to inositol triphosphate-dependent release of Ca2⁺ from intracellular stores (Leurs et al., 2009).

5.3.3.1 The histaminergic system in ASD

Alterations in different neurotransmitter systems, such as serotonergic, dopaminergic, GABAergic and glutamatergic, have been studied and reported in ASD (Pardo and Eberhart, 2007). Surprisingly, only few studies examined the histaminergic system in ASD. Histamine modulates several behaviours and physiological functions, and its deficiency is associated with neuropsychiatric disorders (Nuutinen and Panula, 2010). The expression of histamine receptors and other histamine signaling genes was performed in a *post mortem* dorsolateral prefrontal cortex samples of ASD patients and none of the analyzed genes were individually identified to be differentially expressed. In contrast to the individual expression analyses, a significant overexpression was detected in ASD samples when the genes were analyzed as a gene set (Wright et al., 2017). However, *HRH3* downregulation was reported in a set of patients with Fragile X syndrome (Rosales-Reynoso et al., 2010), a condition that is associated with ASD (Moss and Howlin, 2009).

Histamine receptors play important roles in the CNS making them attractive targets to develop new therapeutical approaches for different brain disorders. Currently, the H3R receptor antagonist pitolisant is used to treat excessive daytime sleepiness and cataplexy in patients with narcolepsy (Schwartz, 2011; Syed, 2016). Recently, pitolisant was tested and improved many symptoms in a 15-year-old female with Prader-Willi syndrome and ASD (Pennington et al., 2021). Ligands of H3R have also been tested in ASD models and significant behavioural improvements regarding sociability and stereotypies were reported (Baronio et al., 2015; Eissa et al., 2018). A few studies proposed and tested the use of an H2R antagonist in patients (Linday, 1997; Linday et al., 2001). Symptoms like irritability, hyperactivity, and atypical pattern of eye contact were attenuated after treatment with famotidine. Thus, further investigation should be made to characterize this system in ASD. Animal models that recapitulate the core symptoms of the disorder are tools that can shed some light on possible roles of the histaminergic system in ASD pathophysiology.

5.3.3.2 The histaminergic system of zebrafish

The histaminergic system of zebrafish consists of neuronal cell bodies, which can start to be visualized at 85 hpf, and are grouped in the posterior hypothalamus sending projections throughout the brain, similarly to other vertebrates (Eriksson et al., 1998). Histamine is synthesized by Hdc, which is only detected in the brain and with the same anatomical position as the histamine-immunoreactive neurons (Eriksson et al., 1998). *Hnmt* is expressed in the raphe, preoptic area of the hypothalamus and periventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus of the zebrafish brain and is responsible for histamine metabolism (Norton et al., 2011). Three histamine receptors (Hrh1, Hrh2 and Hrh3) are present in the zebrafish brain (Peitsaro et al., 2007). Hrh1 is found in the dorsal telencephalon in an area that corresponds to the mammalian cortex, amygdala, hippocampus, and in habenula. There are two copies of Hrh2-like receptor in the zebrafish, in the brain the binding sites are mainly found in the optic tectum and central diencephalon. As an autoreceptor, Hrh3 is prominently expressed in the hypothalamus, where histaminergic neuronal cell bodies are locates. It is also present in other areas innervated by histaminergic projections, such as the telencephalon, thalamus and optic tectum (Panula et al., 2021).

5.4 Monoamine oxidases

MAOA and MAOB are mitochondrial membrane proteins that are responsible for the metabolism of aminergic neurotransmitters. They catalyze the oxidative deamination of endogenous and exogenic amines avoiding their accumulation and potentially toxic effects. However, the products from this reaction (aldehydes, ammonia and hydrogen peroxide) are toxic and are also metabolized by aldehyde dehydrogenase, glutamine synthetase and catalase, respectively (Bortolato et al., 2008).

Despite sharing similar structural features and intracellular location, mammalian MAOA and MAOB differ by their substrate affinity, anatomical distribution and responsiveness to inhibitors. MAOA has a higher affinity for serotonin and noradrenaline, whereas MAOB oxidizes trace amines like β -phenylethylamine (PEA). Both isoenzymes metabolize dopamine, but the level of affinity depends on the species. It has been suggested that dopamine is mainly metabolized by MAOA in rodents and MAOB in humans (Glover et al., 1977). Clorgyline at low doses is known to inhibit MAOA, whereas MAOB is inhibited by deprenyl. MAOA is mainly expressed in catecholaminergic neurons and MAOB in serotonergic and histaminergic neurons. Interestingly, as mentioned before, MAOB has lower affinity for serotonin than MAOA. The reasons of this mismatch are not fully understood, but it has been suggested that serotonin is metabolized by MAOA outside serotonergic

neurons, most likely by glial cells. Alternatively, it has been suggested that serotonin could be taken up by PMAT, which transports many types of neurotransmitters, including serotonin and dopamine, and metabolized by non-serotonergic neurons (Daws, 2009; Zhou et al., 2007).

MAO inhibitors were found to be effective in the treatment of depressive symptoms. However, hypertensive crises with cerebral hemorrhages was a side effect reported by patients treated with MAO inhibitors following the intake of foods rich in tyramine and sympathomimetic amines (Anderson et al., 1993). Because of inhibition of MAOB activity in the intestines, these amines are absorbed and induce increased norepinephrine release and increased blood pressure. Additionally, MAO inhibitors, along with other proserotonergic drugs, like SSRIs, may cause serotonin syndrome. The highly increased levels of serotonin in serotonin syndrome can lead to various complications, such as altered mental state, autonomic hyperactivity and neuromuscular abnormalities, and in some cases, death (Francescangeli et al., 2019).

MAO deficiency in humans was originally described in a few patients with atypical Norrie disease, a condition where large deletions in the X chromosome encompassed the ND, MAOA and MAOB genes. These patients showed developmental delay, sleep disturbance, and autistic-like symptoms (Sims et al., 1989). MAOA congenital deficiency was reported by Brunner in a group of Dutch patients that presented aggressive and antisocial behavior, maladaptive responses to environmental triggers and stereotypies. They also had reduced levels of the serotonin metabolite 5-HIAA and increase in serotonin in their urine (Brunner et al., 1993). MaoA KO mice are characterized by high levels of serotonin and noradrenaline, followed by aggressive behavior and reduced exploratory behavior. Additionally, these mice recapitulate the core deficits observed in ASD, including social and communication impairments (as assessed by a lower number of ultrasonic vocalization in response to maternal separation) (Bortolato et al., 2013). Clinical findings that point to a role for MAOA in the pathophysiology of ASD will be discussed in the next section of this thesis. Low activity of MAOB has been reported in platelets of individuals that often display features associated to impulsive behavior (Oreland and Hallman, 1995). MaoB KO mice showed high levels of PEA in their brains and a behavior that resembles the one displayed by patients with low MAOB activity in platelets, characterized by lower neophobia and risk-taking behavior (Bortolato et al., 2009). A spontaneous mutation in MaoA gene was detected in a MaoB KO colony of mice, leading to the establishment of the MaoA/B KO mice line (Chen et al., 2004). The increase in monoamines levels in the brains of these animals is more significant than hose observed in either MaoA or MaoB KO mice, which supports the hypothesis that one enzyme can partially compensate the absence of the other.

Besides the aforementioned disorders, pathophysiological roles of MAO have been established in other several conditions. MAOA has been linked to different forms of depression, where increased MAOA levels were detected in different brain areas of patients with postpartum depression and high activity of MAOA has been considered a risk factor for major depression (Sacher et al., 2010; Schulze et al., 2000). A role for MAOB in neurodegeneration diseases is suggested, as it is upregulated in Parkinson's disease and Alzheimer's disease where it is involved in amyloid β peptide formation (Damier et al., 1996; Schedin-Weiss et al., 2017).

5.4.1 MAOA and ASD

Foundation Autism Risk Initiative (SFARI) database lists over a thousand genes associated with ASD (WWW.SFARI.ORG). Among them is MAOA, which has also been associated with disorders that share symptomatology with ASD, such as attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). Among common variations of MAOA, an upstream variable number of tandem repeats (uVNTRs) at the MAOA promoter is associated with variations in enzymatic activity. In vitro data indicated that the low-repeat variant (i.e., two or three copies) was associated with significantly lower enzymatic activity compared to the high-repeat variant (i.e., four or five copies) (Sabol et al., 1998). In a Korean study with 151 complete trios, comprising patients with ASD and their biological parents, and unrelated controls evaluated MAOA uVNTR and SNPs, demonstrating a significant difference in haplotype frequencies between ASD patients and controls. A three-repeat allele of a MAOAuVNTR marker was preferentially transmitted in ASD individuals. The results suggested a potential association between MAOA and ASD (Yoo et al., 2009). Patients with the low activity three-repeat MAOA allele present more severe behavioral impairments, such as aggression and deficits in social communication (Cohen et al., 2011). Additionally, the low-activity MAOA allele was associated with larger cortical volumes in males with ASD (Davis et al., 2008). A similar finding was reported when patients with the low activity allele of a functional MAOA promoter polymorphism and fragile X syndrome, a condition related to ASD, were examined and showed increased cerebral cortical gray and white matter volumes (Wassink et al., 2014). A significant impairment in cerebellar MAOA activity was detected in postmortem samples of children with ASD compared with age-matched controls has been reported. In the frontal cortex, MAOA activity in children with ASD was also reduced by 30% compared with controls (Gu et al., 2017). Lower MAOA activity leads to increased levels of monoaminergic neurotransmitters, including serotonin, which have been reported to be abnormal in a subset of ASD patients (Anderson et al., 1990; Veenstra-VanderWeele et al., 2012).
5.4.2 The zebrafish Mao

Only one mao gene, located in chromosome 9, is found in the zebrafish genome (Anichtchik et al., 2006). The existence of only form of Mao is also commonly reported in other fish species. In zebrafish Mao has 67-69% nucleotide and protein identity with human MAOA and MAOB. The active site in human MAOA and MAOB contains 12 amino acid residues. Eight of these residues are identical in MAOA, MAOB and zebrafish Mao. From the other four amino acid residues in the zebrafish Mao substrate binding domain, two are the same as in human MAOA and two are unique to zebrafish Mao. The enzyme has high specificity for serotonin, PEA and tyramine, whereas it shows a modest one for dopamine. Mao inhibition is known to increase only serotonin levels in zebrafish (Sallinen et al., 2009b), which could indicate that dopamine metabolism is regulated by other enzymes, such as COMT. This substrate specificity and the structural properties of the binding site of the enzyme could indicate that it is more related with the human MAOA. However, zebrafish Mao can be inhibited by the MAOB specific inhibitor, deprenyl (Anichtchik et al., 2006; Sallinen et al., 2009b). The highest expression of *mao* is in the brain, followed by the gut, liver heart and gills. In the brain, it is widely expressed and can be detected in noradrenergic cells in the locus coeruleus and in the histaminergic cells of posterior hypothalamus. Regarding serotonergic cells, Mao activity was detected in some cell populations and adjacent to others in the neuropil. In the habenula, rostral raphe and internal reticular formation, serotonergic cells express mao. Serotonergic cells of the hypothalamus did not show signs of Mao activity, however, strong Mao activity was detected between the intermediate and posterior part of the paraventricular organ and it could be from glial nature (Finberg, 2014).

5.5 Vesicular monoamine transporter 2

Vesicular monoamine transporters (VMAT1 and VMAT2) are responsible for the uptake of cytosolic monoamines into synaptic vesicles in monoaminergic neurons. Two closely related VMATs with distinct pharmacological properties and tissue distributions have been characterized. VMAT1 is preferentially expressed in neuroendocrine cells and VMAT2 is primarily expressed in the CNS (Wimalasena, 2011).

VMAT2 is a transmembrane protein located in all aminergic neurons and responsible for transport of aminergic neurotransmitters from the cytosol to vesicles. It is an H⁺-ATPase antiporter, which uses the vesicular electrochemical gradient to drive the packaging of cytosolic transmitter into vesicles (Liu et al., 1992). This process is fundamental for neurotransmission, but it also prevents

cytosolic amine accumulation and its neurotoxic effects, in the case of dopamine and serotonin. It has been hypothesized that VMAT2 is also involved in the storage of trace amines, such as tyramine and PEA (Eiden and Weihe, 2011).

VMAT2 inhibitors have been used in the treatment of disease. Reserpine was previously used in the treatment of hypertension based on reduction of sympathetic tone and, in turn, reduced blood pressure, caused by VMAT2 inhibition in the sympathetic nervous system. However, side effects including depression, Parkinsonism and gastric symptoms, were detected and reserpine is no longer commonly prescribed (Bernstein et al., 2014). Tetrabenazine has been used for the treatment of Huntington's disease, but it also leads to similar side effects as reserpine use. It also showed some efficacy in the treatment of disorders characterized by a hyperdopaminergic phenotype, such as Gilles de la Tourette syndrome (Kaur et al., 2016).

Mice homozygous for loss-of-function alleles of *Vmat2* are unable to feed properly and die a few days after birth. In the neonatal brain, mutants relative to wild types display a 94%-99% reduction of monoamines (dopamine, noradrenaline and serotonin) levels. Heterozygous *Vmat2* mutants show a reduction in dopamine (42%), noradrenaline (23%) and serotonin (34%) levels, but are able to survive until adulthood. They display a depressive-like phenotype and increased sensitivity to parkinsonian toxins (Fon et al., 1997).

Many brain disorders can be linked to dysfunction of monoaminergic systems, including Parkinson's disease, ADHD, dystonia, schizophrenia, addiction, and depression. A role for VMAT2 in the pathophysiology of some of these disorders is discussed in the next session.

5.5.1 Pathophysiological roles of VMAT2

Considering that it is one of the important modulators of monoaminergic neurotransmission, VMAT2 have been linked to a variety of disorders. In Parkinson's disease, impaired packaging of dopamine into vesicles has been proposed as one of the key players in the disease process (Lohr and Miller, 2014). This is supported by a mutation in the gene encoding VMAT2 that compromises transport of biogenic amines into synaptic vesicles, resulting in impaired neurotransmission without affecting the amount of dopamine, but causing parkinsonian condition with profound motor and cognitive impairments (Rilstone et al., 2013). Additionally, it has been suggested that VMAT2 overexpression might reduce the risk of Parkinson's disease (Brighina et al., 2013). The platelets of patients with depression showed increased density of VMAT2, which could reflect a response to lower monoaminergic turnover in these patients (Zucker et al., 2002). As mentioned before, reserpine,

a VMAT2 inhibitor, was commonly used to treat hypertension, but the reports of patients displaying depressive symptoms contributed to its popularity decline (Baumeister et al., 2003). This reinforces a likely role for this transporter in the pathophysiology of depression. Genetic variants of *VMAT2* have been linked to substance dependence (Fehr et al., 2013; Randesi et al., 2019). Increased VMAT2 concentration has been detected in the ventral brainstem of patients with schizophrenia and bipolar disorder (Zubieta et al., 2001). In this region are located the raphe nuclei, from where serotonergic projections originate and innervate different areas of the CNS (Berger et al., 2009).

Well-established rodent models that lack *Vmat2* have been used to investigate neurobehavioral impairments caused by VMAT2 deficit (Fon et al., 1997; Fukui et al., 2007; Isingrini et al., 2016). Some of these impairments are also displayed by patients with brain diseases where this transporter plays a role, making these models important tools to understand pathophysiological processes. Mice homozygous for loss-of-function alleles of *Vmat2* die at early age. Their brains, when compared to wild type siblings, show a 94%-99% reduction of dopamine, noradrenaline and serotonin levels (Fon et al., 1997). Additionally, they are hypoactive and unable to feed properly. Heterozygous *Vmat2* mutants present a less drastic reduction in brain amines and are able to grow into adulthood (Fon et al., 1997). They display a depressive-like phenotype and increased sensitivity to parkinsonian toxins (Fukui et al., 2007). In this thesis, we present a zebrafish model that could contribute with future studies with the same aim and that has the advantage of being a convenient tool for high throughput screening and drug discovery.

5.5.2 The zebrafish Vmat2

The *vmat2* gene is located on chromosome 17, contains 16 exons and phylogenetic analysis indicates that this gene is closely related to the *VMAT2* genes in human and mouse (Wen et al., 2008). In zebrafish, *vmat2* is primarily expressed in aminergic populations. *In situ* hybridization shows that it is firstly detected at 22 hpf in the diencephalon. At 48 hpf the distribution and number of *vmat2*- and *th*-positive ventral diencephalic neurons are similar. Also, at 48 hpf *vmat2* is expressed in the raphe nuclei and other serotonergic clusters, such as the anterior, intermediate and posterior part of the paraventricular organ. A weak expression can be also noticed in the locus coeruleus (Wen et al., 2008). The majority of *hdc*-positive neurons in the hypothalamus also express *vmat2*, as demonstrated by double fluorescent *in situ* hybridization (Puttonen et al., 2017). The mechanism of storage and release of histamine in the small group of neurons that do not express *vmat2* is still uncertain. *Vmat1*

was investigated in the zebrafish brain to verify if this other transport could participate in this process, but no expression of this gene was detected in the zebrafish brain (Puttonen et al., 2017).

VMAT2 inhibitors have been used in zebrafish and the neurochemical and behavioral outcomes are similar to what have been reported in studies with rodents, including depletion of aminergic neurotransmitters, hypoactivity and depressive-like state (Puttonen et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2019). CRISPR/Cas9 technology has been recently applied to modify *vmat2* in zebrafish. In this study, only heterozygous animals were evaluated and they displayed anxiety-like phonotype and significantly decreased dopamine, serotonin and noradrenaline when compared to their littermates (Wang et al., 2016a). In this thesis we characterize for the first time a *vmat2^{-/-}* zebrafish.

6 AIMS

The aim of this thesis was to perform pharmacological and genetic interventions relevant to the pathophysiology of ASD and other brain disorders using zebrafish as a model organism and to study behavioral outcomes and the aminergic systems. Increasing the knowledge about important aspects of the aminergic systems in zebrafish, such as development, transport and metabolism, was necessary. Thus, we characterized the aminergic populations, transport and metabolism of animals that lacked *vesicular monoamine transporter 2 (vmat2)* and *monoamine oxidase (mao)*.

The specific aims of the study are:

- **1.** To expose zebrafish embryos to VPA, an ASD-associated drug, and evaluate their histaminergic system and behavior at different stages of development (I).
- **2.** To characterize the effects of *vmat2*-loss of function on the brain development, aminergic neurotransmitter systems and behavior (II).
- **3.** To characterize the effects of *mao*-loss of function on the brain development, aminergic neurotransmitter systems and behavior (III).
- 4. To characterize the phenotype of *mao* mutant zebrafish, particularly aspects relevant for basic mechanisms of ASD (III).

7 MATERIALS AND METHODS

Experimental animals (I-III)

Zebrafish embryos were collected after spawning and placed onto a Petri dish containing 1xE3 medium (5mM NaCl, 0.17 mM KCl, 0.33 mM CaCl₂ and 0.33 mM MgSO₄). Larvae were raised on 14:10 (light/dark, lights on at 8:00 A.M.) cycles at 28°C and fed daily once with dry food and two times with live artemia. Adult fish were raised in continuously cycling Aquatic Habitats Systems with complete exchange of water in each tank every 6-10 min. Circulating water was UV-sterilized, and filtered with foam filters and activated charcoal. Water quality, including temperature ($28 \pm 0.5^{\circ}$ C), pH value (7.4 ± 0.2), and conductivity (450 ± 10 mS), was monitored continuously.

In the first article included in this thesis we used zebrafish from the wild-type Turku strain. This line has been maintained in our laboratory for several years and has been used in different publications (Kaslin and Panula, 2001; Puttonen et al., 2013; Sundvik and Panula, 2012). In the second publication, *vmat2* mutant was generated at the University of Iowa kindly given to us by Dr. Robert Cornell. CRISPR/Cas9 system was used to a 5-base-pair (5-bp), frameshift-inducing deletion in exon 3 of *slc18a2* (*vmat2*). In the third publication, *mao* mutant (sa³¹⁷³²) was generated by the Sanger Institute Zebrafish Mutation Project and was purchased by us from the European Resource Zebrafish Center (ERZC). It contains an A/T nonsense mutation at nucleotide 685 of the open-reading frame, which is predicted to generate a 229-amino acid protein compared with the 522-amino acid WT protein.

Mutant larvae were genotyped at 3 dpf according to a protocol previously described in our group's publications (Chen et al., 2020; Puttonen et al., 2018). Briefly, when genomic DNA was lysed after individual tail clippings were incubated in 50 μ L lysis buffer (10mM Tris-HCl pH8.3, 50mM KCl, 0.3% Tween-20 and 0.3% NP-40) at 98°C for 10 min, followed by incubation on ice for 2 min. 1 μ L of Proteinase K (20 mg/ml) was added to remove protein, and the mixture was incubated at 55°C for at least 4 h. To inactivate Proteinase K, samples were incubated at 98°C for 10 min and quenched on ice. Genotyping primers (Table 2) flanking the mutation site were designed using Primer-BLAST. Mutations were detected after HRM curve acquisition and analysis. We utilized a LightCycler® 480 instrument (Roche) and curves were analyzed using the LightCycler® 480 gene-scanning software (version 1.5) according to the manufacturer's instructions (Roche Diagnostics Ltd., Switzerland).

Larvae and adult animals were killed in ice-cold water for all the experiments where tissues needed to be collected. All animal care and experimental procedures complied with the ethical

guidelines of the European convention (ESAVI/6100/04.10.07/2015) and the permits for all experiments were obtained from the Office of the Regional Government of Southern Finland, in agreement with the ethical guidelines of the European convention.

PURPOSE	GENE	FORWARD PRIMER	REVERSE PRIMER	
	hdc	TTCATGCGTCCTCTCCTGC	CCCCAGGCATGATGATGTTC	
	thl	GACGGAAGATGATCGGAGACA	CCGCCATGTTCCGATTTCT	
	th2	CTCCAGAAGAGAATGCCACATG	ACGTTCACTCTCCAGCTGAGTG	
	dbh	TGCAACCAGTCCACAGCGCA	GCTGTCCGCTCGCACCTCTG	
	rpl13a	AGAGAAAGCGCATGGTTGTCC	GCCTGGTACTTCCAGCCAACTT	
	hrh3	CGCCACCGTCCTTGGGAACG	GGGGATGCAAAACCCGCCGA	
	hrh2	GGCCACTAGGGGGCGCACTTC	AGCGGAGCAGTGACCGCAAA	
	hrh1	TCCTGATCCCGTCCGCACCA	CCCGACGGTATGCAGCGTCC	
	рспа	ACGCCTTGGCACTGGTCTT	CTCTGGAATGCCAAGCTGCT	
DCD	vmat2	TGCCTATTATCCCAAGTTACCTGT	TGAGGGCTCACAAAAGTAGGA	
qPCK	comta	TCTGGCACGATGTGGTCCAT	TCAAGATGCGCTGTGGTCGT	
	mao	TGGTGGAGGTCAGGACGGTGA	GCTGGTTCCTCAGAGGCGGC	
	notch1a	AGAGCCGGATTCAGCGGTC	TTACAGGGACGTGGAGAACAAG	
	manf	AGATGGAGAGTGTGAAGTCTGTGTG	CAATTGAGTCGCTGTCAAACTTG	
	gfap	GAAGCAGGAGGCCAATGACTATC	GGACTCATTAGACCCACGGAGAG	
	neurod1	ACACACCCTAGAGTTCCGAC	GTCCACGTCTCGTTCGTCTT	
	apoeb	AACGCCTGAACAAGGACACA	GTATGGCTGGAAACGGTCCT	
	mecp2	ACGTCTACCTTATCAACCCAGA	CCTTCCACGTCCAGAGGG	
	shank3b	GGTTTTATTAGGGTTGTGAGGCCG	CCCAGGAGAGGTCCGAATACTGTC	
	serta	ACAACCGATGGAACACTCCC	CAACACCTGCCGGACATAAA	
Genotyping	mao	AATGACAGGAGCGCAAGTTT	GTAAACCTCCTCATTCACCGTC	
	vmat2	TCTCTCTAGTGCCTATTATCCCAAG	AGGTGCTCGATGGAGAAAGA	

Table 2 - Primers used for qPCR and genotyping.

Valproic acid exposure (I)

A stock solution (1 mM) of VPA (Sigma P4543, Darmstadt, Germany) was made after diluting the chemical in 1xE3 medium. Zebrafish embryos at 10 hpf were placed in 6-well plates, each well containing 30 embryos and 3 mL of 1xE3 medium or 25 μ M of VPA diluted in E3. This dose was chosen based on pilot studies performed in our laboratory and was the tested dose that caused the lowest death rate or embryo exclusion due to obvious malformations (27%). At 24 hpf VPA was removed from the wells, embryos were washed several times with E3 medium and raised until larval stage or adulthood. The time window of exposure to VPA was selected based on previous publications that showed that VPA exposure during the first trimester of pregnancy is associated with higher incidence of ASD. During this time window, the neural tube closure takes place (Bayer et al., 1993). Based on that, a rodent model of ASD was developed with prenatal exposure to VPA during the neural tube closure (Rodier et al., 1996). We exposed zebrafish embryos to VPA during a period that corresponds to the end of gastrulation to neural tube formation (Compagnon and Heisenberg, 2013). Figure 4 shows the timeline of valproic exposure and experiments.



Figure 4 - Timeline of the experiments and VPA exposure. Exposure to 25 µM of VPA was applied from 10 to 24 hpf. Behavioral tests and the study of histaminergic and catecholaminergic systems of zebrafish were performed at 5 dpf and 6 mpf. Figure created with BioRender.com.

Behavioral tests (I-III)

24h locomotion tracking (II, III)

We tracked larvae for 24 h with the light conditions following the regular light/dark cycle of the larvae. The trial was started at 12:00 noon. Day and night activity was analyzed in 60 min bins by calculating the total distance moved. Larvae were individually tracked using the DanioVision (Noldus Information Technology, Wageningen, The Netherlands) system and EthoVision 13 software DanioVision (Noldus Information Technology, Wageningen, The Netherlands) in 24 or 48 well-plates.

Dark-flash response (I-III)

This behavioral test was carried out according to a previous publication (Puttonen et al., 2018). Briefly, larvae were individually placed in wells of multiwell plates filled with 1 mL E3 medium and, after an initial assessment of basic locomotor activity tracking, larvae were exposed to alternating 2 min periods of darkness and light, and with three periods of darkness in total. The locomotor activity was analyzed in 1 min, 30 s and 1 s bins using the DanioVision system and EthoVision 13 software.

Larval acoustic/vibrational startle (III)

This behavioral protocol has been described previously (Van Den Bos et al., 2017). Briefly, larvae were placed into 48-well plates filled with 1 ml E3 medium. After 10 min of acclimation, ten acoustic/vibrational stimuli (DanioVision intensity setting 6) with a 20 s inter-stimulus-interval (ISI) were given to the larvae. The variable of interest to show the startle response was maximum velocity (mm/s) with 1 s intervals, because the startle response is a short burst of activity best captured by this parameter. When subjects did not show a clear response to the first stimulus (values lower than 15 mm/s), they were discarded from the analysis. Larvae were individually tracked using the DanioVision system and EthoVision 13 software.

Adult locomotor activity and thigmotaxis (I, III)

The basic locomotor activity of adult fish was tracked in cylindrical observation tanks (inner diameter 22 cm and water depth 8 cm). Single fish were acclimated for 10 min in the tank before the tracking started. The total distance moved and velocity were automatically evaluated for 10 min using a digital video camera connected to a standard PC computer system running the EthoVision 13 software.

Juvenile social interaction (III)

This assay was carried out using a glass tank (9 cm length×5 cm height×7 cm width). Juvenile fish were separated into pairs of the same genotype and placed into glass tanks with 150 ml water (water depth, 3 cm). Each individual of the pairs was taken from different home tanks. The pairs were tracked for 6 min, and parameters analyzed included the total duration in proximity (with proximity defined as when the distance between two larvae was ≤ 0.8 cm). Each group had 16 fishes for the data analysis using EthoVision 13 software.

Social preference (I,III)

Zebrafish have the innate tendency to aggregate into shoals. We used this innate behavior to develop a visual choice test to evaluate the social preference a fish. Our apparatus to test social preference was developed based on previous publications with the rodent three-chamber sociability test (Baronio et al., 2015) and similar approaches that have been utilized with zebrafish (Zimmermann et al., 2015). An acrylic apparatus (29 cm length \times 19 cm height \times 29 cm width) was divided by a transparent wall into two chambers, one of which was subdivided in two smaller compartments. A shoal of eight fish, serving as a visual social cue, was placed in one of the compartments, and the other compartment was filled with stones and plant imitations. The other chamber was digitally divided in 3 zones (distal, social and non-social) and the time spent by the tested adult fish in each zone during a 10 min trial was measured with EthoVision 13 software.

Novel tank test (III)

Zebrafish has the natural tendency to seek protection in an unfamiliar environment before developing confidence to explore it. In the laboratory, a similar phenomenon is observed when a fish is placed in a novel tank and it initially dives to the bottom and stays there before exploring the rest of the tank. The assessment of this behavior can provide information regarding the exploratory activity and the status of anxiety-like behavior of the fish. During our test, the novel tank (24 cm \times 14.5 cm \times 5 cm) with 1 L of system water rested on a level, stable surface and was virtually divided into three equal portions (bottom, middle, and top of the tank). A single fish was transferred from its home tank to the novel tank and immediately tracked for 6 min using EthoVision 13 software. The time spent in each zone of the tank was measured and the degree of 'bottom dwelling' can be interpreted as an index of anxiety-like. Figure 5 displays the set up for the novel tank diving test.



Figure 5 - Scheme of the novel tank test with three digital zones during a 6 min recording period. A single fish is transferred from its home tank to the novel tank and immediately recorded by a Basler acA1300-60gm industrial CCD video camera connected to a computer. The time spent in each zone was quantified using EthoVision 13 software. Figure created with BioRender.com.

Shoaling behavior (III)

The establishment of tight social groups (shoals) by zebrafish serves different purposes in their natural habitat, including foraging, avoiding predation and mating (Pitcher, 1986). This is a form of social interaction and can be studied in the laboratory by placing a group of zebrafish in observational tanks and evaluating parameters such as distance between subjects of a shoal. We utilized cohorts of 4-5 fish in a round white polyethylene plastic flat-bottomed container for 10 min. For 40 dpf fish the setting was: (12 cm height, 12 cm diameter) with 350 mL of fish system water (5 cm depth). The setting for adult fish was (23 cm height, 23 cm diameter) with 2 L of fish system water (5 cm depth. All videos were analyzed with EthoVision 13 software, using the default setting (the center-point detection of the unmarked animals). The mean of the interfish distance (defined as distance between the body center of every member of the shoal) was quantified from the average data from all trials (n = 4 trials per genotype). The proximity duration (s) was defined as cumulative duration of time a fish stayed close to the shoal fish (within 1 cm). Figure 6 displays the set up for the shoaling behavior.



Figure 6 - Shoaling behavior test. The test consists in placing a group of conspecific fish into a round polyethlene plastic flat-bottomed container and quantifying social cohesion in the group of fish, which can be measured by the average mean distance among individuals. Fish are recorded during a 10 min trial by a Basler acA1300-60gm industrial CCD video camera connected to a computer. Parameters of interest are quantified using EthoVision 13 software. Figure created with BioRender.com.

Heart rate measurement (II)

After anesthesia with 0.02% tricaine, zebrafish larvae were placed on a glass slide. Larvae were observed under $10 \times$ objective of the Leica inverted microscope DMi1. The heart rate measurement was done by counting the contractions of either of the two chambers for 20 s. Videos were recorded using a Leica digital HDMI camera attached to the back of the microscope.

Reverse transcription -quantitative PCR (RT-qPCR) (I-III)

Larval zebrafish were sacrificed in ice-cold water prior to RNA extraction, and total RNA was extracted using the RNeasy mini Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). Larval samples (10 pooled larvae per sample) were collected and 1.0 µg of total RNA was reverse-transcribed using SuperScriptTM III reverse transcriptase (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, USA). RT-qPCR was done with the LightCycler 480 realtime PCR system and the LightCycler 480 SYBR green I master kit (Roche Applied Science,

Mannheim, Germany). Primers for amplification were designed with Primer-BLAST (NCBI), and sequences are shown in Table 1. Cycling parameters were as follows: 95°C for 30 s and 45 cycles of the following, 95°C for 10 s and 62°C for 45 s. Fluorescence changes were monitored with SYBR Green after every cycle. Dissociation curve analysis was performed (0.2°C per s increase from 60 to 95°C with continuous fluorescence readings) at the end of cycles to ensure that only a single amplicon was obtained. All reactions were performed in duplicate. Results were evaluated with the LightCycler 480 Software version 1.5. Quantification was done by Ct value comparison, using the Ct value of *ribosomal protein large subunit 13a (rpl13a)* as the reference control.

High-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) (I, II)

Groups of 10 whole larvae were killed in ice-cold water and homogenized by sonication in 2% perchloric acid for each sample, centrifuged for 30min at 15 000 g at 4°C, and filtered through a 0.45µm PVDF filter (Pall Life Sciences, Ann Arbor, USA) before loading onto the HPLC system. All analyses were done in duplicate to ensure the reliability of values. The detection details have been described earlier (Puttonen et al., 2013; Rozov et al., 2014; Yamatodani et al., 1985). In order to normalize the results from HPLC measurement, we utilized the bicinchoninic acid assay kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, USA) to measure protein concentration.

In situ hybridization (I-III)

4% PFA-fixed dissected larval brains were used as samples and experiments were carried out according the protocol described by Thisse & Thisse with slight modifications (Thisse and Thisse, 2008). The digoxigenin (DIG) RNA labelling kit (Roche Diagnostics, Germany) was used to produce antisense DIG-labelled RNA probes. The specificity of the probes and clones have been described in previous publications (Chen et al., 2009; Chen et al., 2016a; Kaslin et al., 2004; Peitsaro et al., 2007; Sundvik et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2006). Sheep anti-digoxigenin-AP Fab fragments (1:5000; Roche Diagnostics, Germany) were used to detect the *in situ* hybridization signals. Staining was performed with nitro blue tetrazolium and 5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl-phosphate and samples were incubated at room temperature in the dark. After staining, samples were immersed in 80% glycerol, placed between two cover glasses and visualized under brightfield optics using a Leica DM IRB inverted microscope.

Fluorescent in situ hybridization (I)

Larvae killed in ice-cold water were collected and fixed overnight in 4% PFA diluted in PBS at 4°C. Fixed larvae were washed in PBS and brains were dissected. Brains were dehydrated in methanol. *In situ* hybridization was carried out as described previously (Lauter et al., 2014), with minor modifications as described before (Chen et al., 2016a; Sundvik et al., 2011). Digoxigenin- and fluorescein-labelled riboprobes against *hrh1* and *hrh3* specified earlier were used (Sundvik et al., 2011). DY-647P1 (Dyomics 647P1-01, Jena, Germany) and 5(6)-TAMRA (Thermo Fisher Scientific C1171, Waltham, USA) conjugated tyramides were synthesized as described (Speel et al., 1998). The tyramides were diluted 1:250 in amplification buffer, and amplification was carried out for 15 min. Samples were mounted in 75% glycerol diluted with PBS for imaging.

Immunohistochemistry (I-III)

Larvae were sacrificed in ice-cold water and collected for overnight fixation in 4% 1-ethyl-3,3 (dimethyl-aminopropyl) carbodiimide (EDAC; Carbosynth, Berkshire, UK) or 2% PFA. The detailed protocol for immunohistochemistry and specificity of the antibodies have been described previously. Primary and secondary antibodies information is described in Table 3.

For the dopamine staining, zebrafish larvae (6 dpf; vmat2^{+/+} and vmat2^{-/-)} were fixed by immersion in 5% glutaraldehyde and 1% sodium metabisulfite (MB) in 1X phosphate-buffered saline (PBS; pH 7.4) for 20 h at 4 °C. Brains were dissected out and washed in PBS with 0.3% Triton X-100 and 1% MB (PBST-MB), O/N at 4 °C. To increase antibody penetration, we incubated the samples in 0.5 mg/ml collagenase in the following buffer (100 mM Tris base; 1 mM CaCl2; 0.1% Triton X-100; pH 7.4) for 30 min at 37 °C, in gentle agitation. After washing in PBST-MB, the samples were pre-treated with 0.5% NaBH4 in deionized water for 1 hour to quench auto fluorescence. Following washes in PBST-MB, brains were incubated in blocking solution (4% NGS, 1% DMSO in PBST-MB), O/N at 4 °C. We then incubated the samples with a rabbit polyclonal anti-dopamine antibody (1:750) in blocking solution for 3 days at 4 °C. Then, samples were incubated for 1 hour at room temperature with Alexa-conjugated antibodies (Alexa Anti-mouse 568, Invitrogen, Carlsbad, USA) diluted 1:1000 in blocking solution with PBST. Samples were rinsed in PBST and PBS, incubated in increasing glycerol concentrations and mounted in glycerol.

For double immunofluorescence WT Turku zebrafish larvae (6 dpf) were fixed by immersion in a mix containing 2.5% glutaraldehyde + 2% PFA and 1% sodium MB in 1X phosphate-buffered saline (PBS; pH 7.4) for 20 h at 4 °C. Brain dissection and washes were done as described above. Samples were then incubated with a rabbit polyclonal anti-dopamine antibody (Dr. Steinbusch, Maastricht University; 1:750), and a mouse monoclonal anti-TH antibody (1:1000; Product No 22941, Immunostar, Hudson, WI, USA) in blocking solution for 3 days at 4 °C. Then, the samples were rinsed of primary antibodies and subsequently incubated for 1 hour at room temperature with Alexa-conjugated antibodies (Alexa Anti-rabbit 488 and Anti-mouse 568, Invitrogen, Carlsbad, USA) diluted 1:1000 in blocking solution with PBST. Samples were rinsed in PBST and PBS, incubated in increasing glycerol concentrations and mounted in glycerol between two glass coverslips with spacers.

ANTIBODY	DILUTION	SUPPLIER	PRODUCT NUMBER	REFERENCE
Rabbit anti-histamine	1:10000	Prof. Panula	19C	(Panula et al., 1990)
Mouse anti-proliferating	1:1000	Abcam	GR201287	(Thummel et al.,
cell nuclear antigen		-		2008)
Mouse anti-tyrosine hydroxylase	1:1000	Immunostar	907001	(Semenova et al., 2014)
Rabbit anti-serotonin	1:1000	Sigma	S5545	(Kaslin and Panula, 2001)
Mouse anti-HuC/D	1:1000	Invitrogen	A21271	(Chen et al., 2012)
Rabbit anti-dopamine	1:750	Dr. Steinbusch, Maastricht University	-	(Steinbusch et al., 1991)
Alexa goat anti-rabbit 488	1:1000	Invitrogen	A 11034	(Sundvik and Panula, 2012)
Alexa goat anti-mouse 568	1:1000	Invitrogen	A 11031	(Sundvik and Panula, 2012)
Alexa goat anti-rabbit 568	1:1000	Invitrogen	A 11036	(Sundvik and Panula, 2012)

Table 3 - Primary and secondary antibodies used for immunohistochemistry.

Mao activity histochemistry (III)

We performed Mao activity histochemistry assay according to a previous publication (Anichtchik et al., 2006). Briefly, 4% EDAC fixed 40 dpf brain samples were washed 2 x 10 min in PBS and then incubated in 0.05 M Tris-HCl buffer containing 0.08 g/l DAB, 1 g/l tyramine, 1 g/l peroxidase, 6 g/l NiSO4 for 2h at RT.

Microscopy and imaging (I-III)

Leica DM IRB inverted microscope with a DFC 480 charge-coupled device camera was used to take brightfield images. Z-stacks were processed with Leica Application Suite software. Immunofluorescence samples were analysed with a Leica TCS SP2 AOBS confocal microscope. The Alexa 488- and 568-labelled secondary antibodies were detected using a 488 nm argon laser and a 568 nm diode laser respectively. Emission was detected at 500–550 nm and 560–620 nm, respectively. Stacks of images taken at 1.0 µm intervals were compiled, and the maximum intensity projection algorithm was used to produce final images with Leica Confocal software. Cell numbers were counted in each 1.0 µm optical slice using ImageJ 1.52b software (National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, USA). All cell counts were performed by an investigator blinded to the sample type.

Data and statistical analysis (I-III)

Data shown are representative of a minimum of two independent biological replicates. Data were analysed by unpaired, two-tailed Student's t-test, one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by Tukey's post hoc test or two-way multiple comparisons ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test, and P<0.05 was considered statistically significant. Statistical analysis was performed by Prism version 7 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, USA).

8 RESULTS

The main findings regarding the development behaviour and aminergic neurotransmitter systems of VPA exposed zebrafish, *mao* and *vmat2* mutants are summarized in Table 4. Findings are reported in detail in the following sections of this thesis.

Dhonotrino	Model				
Pnenotype	VPA exposed				
Development	Hypoactive at larval stage.	Hypoactive and die within 20 days. Downregulation of developmental genes.	No alterations found.	Hypoactive and die within 20 days. Downregulation of developmental genes.	
Adult Behavior	Impaired social behavior.	-	Anxious-like and impaired social behavior	-	
Dopaminergic system	Reduced number of Th1- immunoreactive cells in the preoptic area and downregulation of Th1.	Reduced number of Th1- immunoreactive cells.		Virtually no immunoreactivity to dopamine. Reduced levels of the neurotransmitter. <i>th1</i> and <i>th2</i> were upregulated.	
Serotonergic system	No alterations found.	Increased extracellular serotonin immunoreactivity and increased density of serotonin- immunoreactive fibers.	No main alterations in aminergic systems at a larval stage. Upregulated <i>vmat2</i> in adult brains.	Virtually no immunoreactivity to serotonin. Reduced levels of the neurotransmitter. <i>tph1a</i> was upregulated.	
Histaminergic system	Reduced number of histaminergic cells and histamine levels in larvae. Downregulation of histamine receptors and <i>hdc</i> in both larvae and adults.	Reduced number of histaminergic cells.		Reduced number of histaminergic cells and histamine levels. Increased number of <i>hdc</i> - positive cells.	

Table 4 - Summary of VPA exposed, mao and vmat	? mutants phenotypes.
--	-----------------------

8.1 Embryonic exposure to valproic acid affects the aminergic systems of zebrafish (I)

After embryonic exposure to VPA, zebrafish were raised until 5 dpf and 6 mpf to be collected for the evaluation of their aminergic systems. At 5 dpf, we started by analysing the histaminergic system by fluorescence *in situ* hybridization, which revealed weaker *hrh3* and *hrh1* signals in the dorsal telencephalon of VPA-exposed larvae than in wild-type larvae. This result was supported by qPCR analysis that indicated a significant downregulation of *hrh1* and *hrh3*, as well as of *hrh2* and *hdc*, in the VPA-exposed group. Additionally, a reduced number of histamine-immunoreactive cells and lower levels of the neurotransmitter histamine were also detected at larval stage in VPA-exposed animals. These larvae also presented some alterations regarding catecholaminergic systems, including downregulation of *th1* and *dbh* and reduced number of Th1-immunoreactive cells in the preoptic area. Other TH-positive populations, such as the diencephalic and the hypothalamic ones, were also evaluated but no differences in cell number were detected. VPA-exposed larval brains did not show any evident alterations when immune staining with proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA) antibody was performed and no significant difference in *pcna* levels were detected when VPA and control groups were compared.

At 6 mpf, the brains of animals that were embryonically exposed to VPA presented a downregulation of *hdc*, *hrh3*, *th1* and *dbh*. Interestingly, the histamine levels of VPA-exposed and control brains were not significantly different. However, noradrenaline and DOPAC were significantly reduced in the VPA brains. We also quantified the levels of serotonin and its metabolites, such as 5-HIAA and HVA, but no differences between groups were detected.

8.2 VPA-exposed larvae are hypoactive and present altered dark-flash response (I)

At 5 dpf, VPA-exposed larvae showed a hypoactive phenotype when compared to control larvae during a basic 15 min locomotor activity assessment. After the locomotor activity evaluation, the dark-flash response of larvae was tested. Larvae were exposed to alternating 2 min periods of sudden darkness and light, with three periods of darkness in total. When the light was switched off for the first time both control and VPA-exposed larvae became hyperactive, with VPA-exposed larvae moving significantly more than control animals during the 2 min period. In the following periods of darkness, no differences between. Interestingly, when we analysed the light-dark transitions at a 1s resolution, the dark-flash response in the VPA-exposed group was stronger than the control in the first transition, but significantly weaker in the second and third transitions.

8.3 Impaired transport into synaptic vesicles leads to amine depletion in zebrafish (II)

Zebrafish larvae lacking *vmat2* are unable to package and store into intracellular vesicles aminergic neurotransmitters. The failure to package amines into synaptic vesicles increases the time spent in the cytoplasm and hence the accessibility to enzymes such as monoamine oxidase. The lack of vmat2 is not compatible with life and zebrafish die within 2 weeks post-fertilizations. A similar phenotype has been described when *Vmat2* KO mice were analyzed and died a few days after birth.

When we compared $vmat2^{-/-}$ larvae with $vmat2^{+/+}$ siblings, the mutants had a strong reduction in the levels of dopamine and noradrenaline and dopamine immunoreactivity was absent in their brains. DOPAC, a dopamine metabolite was significantly increased in $vmat2^{-/-}$ larvae, which indicates an accelerated dopamine turnover. Immunostaining did not reveal alterations in the number of th1-positive cells in $vmat2^{-/-}$ larval brains. However, RT-qPCR analysis of whole embryos lysates indicated an upregulation of th1 and th2 in comparison with their $vmat2^{+/+}$ siblings. In situ hybridization demonstrated th2 signal was particularly stronger that the neuron groups 9b and 10b of $vmat2^{-/-}$ larval brains.

Similarly with the reduction in dopamine immunoreactive cells, the number of serotonin immunoreactive cells was significantly reduced in $vmat2^{-/-}$ larval brains relative to $vmat2^{+/+}$ larval brains. *In situ* hybridization showed that *tph1a* signal, encoding tryptophan hydroxylase 1a, the enzyme responsible for serotonin synthesis, was clearly upregulated in $vmat2^{-/-}$ larval brains relative to $vmat2^{+/+}$ larval brains. Additionally, the levels of serotonin were significantly decreased in $vmat2^{-/-}$ larvae, whereas the metabolites 5-HIAA as increased. Interestingly, RT-qPCR analysis of whole embryo lysates did not show a difference in *mao* and *comta* expression in $vmat2^{-/-}$ larvae when compared to $vmat2^{+/+}$ siblings.

We also found alterations in the histaminergic system, where $vmat2^{-/-}$ larvae showed a reduction in the number of histamine immunoreactive cell bodies and fibers in the ascending, descending and commissural fiber network in the telencephalon. HPLC analysis revealed that histamine levels were significantly reduced $vmat2^{-/-}$ larvae when compared to $vmat2^{+/+}$ siblings. Similarly to *th1*, *th2* and *tph1a*, the number of *hdc* cells (encoding histidine decarboxylase) mRNA-positive was significantly increased in $vmat2^{-/-}$ larval brains relative to $vmat2^{+/+}$ larval brains. That could indicate the existence of a feedback mechanism meant to maintain histamine levels. Interestingly, despite the reduction of histamine levels in $vmat2^{-/-}$ larvae, the expression of the histamine receptor *hrh1* was unaltered in these mutants. $Vmat2^{-/-}$ larvae died before reaching 20 dpf.

8.4 Absence of monoamine breakdown is damaging to zebrafish neurotransmitters systems (III)

Mao-loss of function in zebrafish leads to early death with fish not being able to reach the juvenile stage of development. This is most likely caused by a toxic effect caused by exacerbated levels of serotonin, one of the main substrates for Mao in the zebrafish, which affected other aminergic neurotransmitter systems. A reduction of 50% in *mao* expression in heterozygous did not cause major alterations in aminergic systems and fish were able to develop until adulthood.

We verified that both $mao^{-/-}$ and $mao^{+/-}$ larvae displayed a stronger serotonin immunoreactivity in their brains when compared with $mao^{+/+}$ siblings. This result possibly reflects increased levels of serotonin in these genotypes, a hypothesis supported by previous reports of zebrafish treated with MAO inhibitors displaying increased levels of serotonin after HPLC analysis. The immunostaining revealed that the stronger serotonin immunoreactivity in $mao^{-/-}$ fish brains is against extracellular serotonin and fibers. When we assessed the numbers of serotonergic cells in different subpopulations (PVOa, PVOi and PVOp), $mao^{-/-}$ brains showed a significant reduction in the number of these cells when compared with both $mao^{+/+}$ and $mao^{+/-}$ brains. The excess of serotonin in the extracellular space seemed to be taken up by cells which are unlikely to be serotonergic. $Mao^{+/-}$ brains had increased number of serotonergic cells in the PVOi when compared to $mao^{+/+}$ and $mao^{-/-}$ brains, but no differences between $mao^{+/+}$ and $mao^{+/-}$ brains were detected when PVOa and PVOp were evaluated. $Mao^{-/-}$ larvae also presented an upregulation of tph la when compared to $mao^{+/+}$ and $mao^{+/-}$ siblings.

The dopaminergic and histaminergic systems of $mao^{-/-}$ larvae were also affected, as we detected significant reduction in the number of Th1 immunoreactive cells in cell group 10 (Sallinen et al., 2009a) of posterior hypothalamus and histamine immunoreactive cells in the brains of these mutants when compared to their $mao^{+/+}$ and $mao^{+/-}$ siblings. However, no differences between $mao^{+/+}$, $mao^{+/-}$ and $mao^{-/-}$ genotypes were detected when *th1* and *hdc* expression was analyzed in whole larvae lysates by RT-qPCR. $Mao^{-/-}$ larvae died before reaching 20 dpf.

We evaluated the expression of some essential genes relevant for aminergic neurotransmission in samples of adult $mao^{+/+}$ and $mao^{+/-}$ fish. A significant increase in vmat2 expression was detected in the brains of $mao^{+/-}$ fish by RT-qPCR. Since a hyperserotonergic phenotype is expected in these animals we also evaluated the expression of *serta*, but both RT-qPCR and *in situ* hybridization showed no differences between genotypes.

8.5 Disrupted aminergic neurotransmission affects brain development in zebrafish (II, III)

We have verified that genes relevant for brain development are altered in zebrafish mutants that have impaired aminergic neurotransmission due to either compromised transport of biogenic amines into synaptic vesicles or to absence of the enzyme that catalyzes the oxidation of monoamines. After *in situ* hybridization we verified that brains of both $vmat2^{-/-}$ and $mao^{-/-}$ larvae presented a clearly weaker expression of the early neuronal marker *notch1a* in comparison with their wild-type siblings. RT-qPCR analysis confirmed that *notch1a* expression was significantly downregulated in both $vmat2^{-/-}$ and mao^{-/-} larvae. *Mao^{-/-}* larvae also presented downregulation of *neurod1*, a transcription factor that is critical for survival and maturation of newborn neurons. $Vmat2^{-/-}$ larvae expressed higher levels of *mesencephalic astrocyte-derived neurotrophic factor* (*manf*), which encodes a protein that has neuroprotective properties in apoptotic conditions, whereas the microglial marker *apolipoprotein Eb* (*apoeb*) was upregulated in *mao^{-/-}* larvae, raising the possibility of increased apoptosis in both mutants. Both mutants died before reaching 20 dpf.

8.6 Vmat2 loss-of-function increases the heart rate and disrupts zebrafish behavior (II)

The significant decrease in amine levels detected in $vmat2^{-/-}$ larvae is likely to have affected peripheral organs, since $vmat2^{-/-}$ larvae displayed an increase in the heart rate when compared with $vmat2^{+/+}$ siblings. It has been reported that zebrafish vmat2 is present in arch-associated neurons rostral to the heart.

We tracked the locomotor activity of $vmat2^{+/+}$ and $vmat2^{-/-}$ larvae at 6 dpf for 24 h and we verified that $vmat2^{-/-}$ larvae were hypoactive relative to their $vmat2^{+/+}$ siblings during day time. The dark-flash response was also evaluated in a trial that consisted of 10 min of basic locomotor activity evaluation followed by alternating 2 min periods of sudden darkness and light, with three periods of darkness in total. $Vmat2^{-/-}$ larvae showed a greater increase in locomotion activity after sudden darkness when compared to $vmat2^{+/+}$ siblings.

8.7 Mao deficiency leads to anxiety-like traits in adult zebrafish (III)

We evaluated the locomotor activity of $mao^{+/+}$ and $mao^{+/-}$ adult fish that were placed individually in a cylindrical tank for 10 min. The total distance moved during the trial did not significantly differ between genotypes (n=7 for each genotype; p > 0.05). Thigmotaxis was also assessed, as we virtually divided the arena in zones (border and center) and quantified the time spent

in each zone of the arena. No differences between genotypes was detected and both $mao^{+/+}$ and $mao^{+/-}$ preferred to stay longer in the zone corresponding to the border of the arena (n=7 for each genotype; p < 0.01).

The novel tank test is used to assess traits of anxiety in zebrafish. The innate tendency of the zebrafish to swim to the bottom of a novel environment is usually interpreted as a precautionary antipredator response, which is gradually replaced by a more exploratory behavior after alleviation of anxiety. We digitally divided the novel tank diving area into three zones: bottom, middle and top of the tank. Compared with their $mao^{+/+}$ siblings, $mao^{+/-}$ adult fish spent similar time exploring the top zone (n=8 for each genotype; p > 0.05). However, they spent less time in the middle zone (n=8 for each genotype; p < 0.05) and longer time in the bottom of the tank (n=8 for each genotype; p < 0.05).

8.8 Dark-flash and startle responses are affected in *mao* mutants and heterozygous larval fish (III)

At 6 dpf $mao^{-/-}$ larvae displayed a hypoactive phenotype in comparison to their $mao^{+/+}$ and $mao^{+/-}$ siblings when their locomotor activity was tracked for 24h (n=16 for $mao^{+/-}$, n=16 for $mao^{+/-}$ and n=15 for $mao^{-/-}$, two-way ANOVA, genotype effect F(2, 1056) = 352.6, p <0.01. Tukey's post hoc test significances indicated in the graph). At the same age, a similar hypoactive phenotype was also displayed by these mutants in comparison to their $mao^{+/+}$ and $mao^{+/-}$ siblings when we evaluated their dark-flash response (n=15 mao^{+/+} and n=16 for mao^{+/-} and mao^{-/-}; two-way ANOVA, genotype effect F(2, 1716) = 174.3, p < 0.01. Tukey's multiple comparisons test significances indicated in the graph) during a trial that consisted of 10 min of basic locomotor activity evaluation followed by alternating 2 min periods of sudden darkness and light, with three periods of darkness in total. Mao+/+ and $mao^{+/2}$ larvae displayed similar pattern of locomotor activity in an analysis of 30 s bins. When the larval response to sudden darkness was analyzed in 1 s bins, mao^{+/-} larvae showed a significantly stronger reaction than $mao^{+/+}$ and $mao^{-/-}$ siblings in the first dark-flash. Additionally, compared with $mao^{+/+}$ larvae, $mao^{+/-}$ larvae showed a longer adaptation period and slower return to baseline activity (two-way ANOVA, genotype effect F(2, 704) = 30.4, p < 0.01. Tukey's post hoc test significances indicated in the graph). During the following stimuli, $mao^{+/+}$ and $mao^{+/-}$ larvae showed a similar pattern of locomotor activity, with both genotypes responding significantly stronger than mao-'- larvae at the onset of darkness in the second (two-way ANOVA, genotype effect F(2, 704) = 49.89, p < 0.01. Tukey's post hoc test significances indicated in the graph) and third flashes (two-way ANOVA,

genotype effect F(2, 704) = 41.44, p < 0.01. Tukey's post hoc test significances indicated in the graph).

The startle response was evaluated through the acoustic/vibrational test (at 6 dpf) and we verified that the response after the first stimulus did not differ between $mao^{+/+}$, $mao^{+/-}$ and $mao^{-/-}$ larvae (n=15 $mao^{+/+}$, n=16 for $mao^{+/-}$ and n= 12 for $mao^{-/-}$; two-way ANOVA, genotype effect F(2, 400) = 26.96, p < 0.01. Tukey's post hoc test significances indicated in the graph). After the second, third, and fourth stimuli, $mao^{+/-}$ larvae showed a significantly increased startle response compared with their siblings, indicating impaired sensory adaptation and habituation.

Overall, it seemed that *mao^{-/-}* larvae showed a faster habituation to repeated exposure of the acoustic/vibrational stimuli at 20 s ISI, while their siblings did less so. However, it should be considered that these mutants showed impairments in different neurotransmitter systems and altered expression of genes relevant to brain development. Thus, they might have displayed a weaker response to stimuli because a general arrested development.

8.9 ASD-associated risk factors affect the social behavior of zebrafish (I, III)

The social preference of adult zebrafish that were embryonically exposed to VPA, a known ASD risk factor for humans, was evaluated in an apparatus where the testing fish had visual access to a compartment containing a group of conspecifics and to a compartment without conspecifics containing only stones and plants imitation. In comparison with control animals, VPA-exposed fish spent less time in the zone closer to the compartment with the conspecifics. In addition, VPA-exposed fish stayed longer time than the control group in the area closer to the compartment without conspecifics.

Based on human and rodent evidence suggesting an association between *MAOA* and ASD (Bortolato et al., 2011; Cohen et al., 2003; Gu et al., 2017), we aimed to verify if $mao^{+/-}$ adult zebrafish show autistic-like social deficits. These animals presented decreased mao activity and 50% reduction in the expression of *mao* mRNA when compared to $mao^{+/+}$ siblings. We started by assessing the social interaction of 1-month-old $mao^{+/+}$ and $mao^{+/-}$ fish. A pair of fish of the same genotype was placed in an arena for 6 min and we verified that $mao^{+/-}$ fish were less frequently in proximity (at a distance ≤ 0.8 cm) to each other (n=8 pairs for each genotype; p < 0.05). However, $mao^{+/+}$ and $mao^{+/-}$ fish spent similar time in proximity when compared (n=8 pairs for each genotype; p > 0.05). Additionally, we evaluated the frequency of direct contact between the fishes in the arena, but no statistically

significant difference was detected when genotypes were compared (n=8 pairs for each genotype; p > 0.05).

The shoaling behavior of juvenile $mao^{+/+}$ and $mao^{+/-}$ fish when a group of 4 fish of the same was placed in a cylindrical plastic container and tracked for 10 min. In shoals formed by $mao^{+/-}$ fish the time individuals spent in proximity was significantly shorter when compared with shoals formed by $mao^{+/+}$ siblings (n = 4 trials for each genotype; p < 0.05). Furthermore, the average interindividual distance was significantly greater in the $mao^{+/-}$ fish group than $mao^{+/+}$ sibling group (n = 4 trials for each genotype; p < 0.05).

Finally, the social preference of adult fish was tested. Compared with their $mao^{+/+}$ siblings, $mao^{+/-}$ adult fish did not differ statistically in the time spent in the zone closer to the compartment with conspecifics (n=8 for each genotype; p > 0.05) and spent less time in the area closer to the compartment without conspecifics (n=8 for each genotype; p < 0.05). However, $mao^{+/-}$ adult fish preferred to stay longer in the distal area of the apparatus (n=8 for each genotype; p < 0.05). When we compared the time spent in the area closer to conspecifics by the $mao^{+/+}$ fish with the time spent in both distal area and area closer to a compartment without conspecifics summed, these animals showed a preference for the area closer to the social stimulus detected (n=8 for each genotype; p < 0.05), whereas when the same comparison was made with their $mao^{+/-}$ siblings, no significant difference was detected.

We studied if $mao^{+/-}$ zebrafish presented abnormal expression of some genes that are linked to social behavior and ASD. We measured the expression of *SH3 and multiple ankyrin repeat domains 3 (shank3b)* and *methyl CpG binding protein 2 (mecp2)* because of the extensive literature associating these genes with ASD. Additionally, we also assessed the levels of *hrh3* because of its roles in anxiety and cognition, and findings suggesting that this receptor could be a potential therapeutic target for ASD. However, no differences between $mao^{+/+}$ and $mao^{+/-}$ zebrafish were detected for the expression of these transcripts (n=4 for each genotype; p > 0.05). As expected, the $mao^{+/-}$ brains displayed a significantly reduced level of *mao* mRNA compared with the brains of $mao^{+/+}$ siblings (n=4 for each genotype; p < 0.01).

9 Discussion

9.1 Zebrafish as a model organism to study ASD

One of the goals of this thesis was to verify if zebrafish exposed to different ASD-associated risk factors would display ASD-like behavioral and neurobiological phenotypes. The purpose was to provide new tools that, for example, could be used in high-throughput screening and drug testing, allowing the identification of new chemicals (or drugs) that could prevent or restore a specific phenotype associated with the disorder. Using distinct risk factors to induce ASD-like features is relevant because this disorder is phenotypically heterogeneous, making it difficult to determine the exact etiology and pathophysiology underlying the core symptoms, which can be accompanied by comorbidities such as sleep disturbs, epilepsy, and sensorimotor impairments (Accardo and Malow, 2015). Several animal models have been developed over the years to study ASD and, depending on the etiologic condition used to model the disorder, a different set of behavioral and neurobiological phenotypes is observed (Bambini-Junior et al., 2014b; Hori et al., 2020; Patterson, 2011b). Although it is puzzling to unify and determine common mechanisms and pathways displayed by these different models, they might help us to dissect different subgroups of molecular and neurobiological manifestations of ASD.

Our initial approach was to expose zebrafish embryos to VPA, an ASD-associated drug. VPA exposure has been used before to model ASD in several studies with rodents (Bambini-Junior et al., 2011; Bambini-Junior et al., 2014a; Baronio et al., 2015) and a few with zebrafish (Joseph et al., 2021; Zimmermann et al., 2015; Zimmermann et al., 2017), based on clinical data demonstrating that VPA exposure during the first trimester of pregnancy is associated with higher incidence of ASD in the offspring (Christensen et al., 2013). When such approach is used in rodents, a single VPA intraperitoneal injection is most commonly given to pregnant rats and mice in a time window that varies from gestational day 11 to 12.5 (Bambini-Junior et al., 2014a). This time window is chosen because it was reported that several patients with ASD were exposed in utero to thalidomide, another ASD risk factor, between gestational days 20 and 24 (Strömland et al., 1994). During this time period in humans the neural tube closes, the corresponding gestational period in rats is day 11.5. In zebrafish the neurulation process happens between 10 and 24 hpf (Compagnon and Heisenberg, 2013) and that was the time window of 25 μ M VPA exposure chosen by us. Other groups have chosen to use different doses of VPA and periods of exposure, including VPA exposure during the first 48 h of life and exposure beginning at 8 hpf ending at 4.5 dpf (Chen et al., 2018; Zimmermann et al., 2015). Researchers aiming to model ASD-like symptoms in zebrafish using VPA should attempt to

standardize the exposure protocol because that would facilitate interpretation of the results and allow comparisons.

It is important to mention that the concentration of VPA used to induce ASD-like features in both rodent and fish models is much higher than the blood concentration of VPA in clinical practice. In rodent models, VPA doses ranged between 300 and 800 mg/kg, while most of the studies used the amount of 600 mg/kg. This dose is often used because generates a significant increase in autistic-like behaviors in a battery of tests in comparison with lower doses (160–100 mg/kg) that have been tested in previous studies (Ergaz et al., 2016). In clinical populations the dose of VPA administered is 200–3600 mg/day, equivalent to 3–55 mg/kg for an average female that weight 65 kg (Favre et al., 2013). The 25 μ M VPA exposure in zebrafish embryos was chosen by us after pilot studies where we identified this concentration as optimal, considering that it led to low rates of deformities at 5 dpf and mortality after 10 dpf when compared with higher concentrations.

Since impaired social behavior is one of the core symptoms displayed by ASD patients and animal models of the disorder, we raised the VPA-exposed embryos until adulthood to verify if they would present any behavioral impairments. We evaluated their social preference by testing them in an apparatus that resembles the three-chamber social box commonly used in studies with rodents. Similarly with other studies that have exposed zebrafish embryos or larvae, we detected a deficit in sociability on adult zebrafish embryonically exposed to VPA. Differently from mammals, zebrafish development occurs outside an intrauterine environment, not allowing us to fully recapitulate the conditions involving VPA exposure and ASD development. On the other hand, zebrafish and mammals often present similar concordance in developmental toxicity (Nishimura et al., 2016). Additionally, exposing zebrafish to different drugs can be done in more controlled conditions.

The other model studied in this thesis was the zebrafish *mao* mutant line. A lower MAOA activity has been reported in brains of children with ASD when compared with age-matched controls (Gu et al., 2017). The reason for that is not fully understood, but it might be associated with polymorphism of the *MAOA* gene promoter and mutation of the *MAOA* gene. A 30bas-pair repeat polymorphism (uVNTR) within the *MAOA* promoter region is associated with reduced transcription and, therefore, reduced activity of MAOA (Davis et al., 2008). We decided study $mao^{+/-}$ juvenile and adult fish, which presented a 50% reduction in *mao* expression accompanied by reduced mao enzymatic activity detected in a histochemical assay. Our $mao^{-/-}$ larvae presented a severe phenotype featured by abnormalities in brain development and neurotransmitter systems and died before reaching the age where social behavior could be evaluated. Additionally, a total congenital loss-of-

function of MAO is rare and has been reported in patients with Brunner syndrome, which display violent and aggressive behavior (Brunner et al., 1993).

Differently from mammals, zebrafish possess only one form of MAO, which resembles mammalian MAOA and MAOB but also shows distinct characteristics that differ from both mammalian enzymes (Anichtchik et al., 2006). Therefore, the structure, activity and function of the zebrafish mao should be taken into consideration when using this model system (Anichtchik et al., 2006; Sallinen et al., 2009b). Interestingly, the zebrafish mao has a preference for serotonin as a substrate and does not seem to have a substantial role on dopamine metabolism, making it a potential tool to study the effects of abnormal levels of serotonin during development (Chugani et al., 1999).

Impairments in the serotonergic system have been described in patients with ASD, including hyperserotonemia, decreased MAO activity and reports of decreased and increased expression of the SERT (Brune et al., 2006; Mulder et al., 2005). Additionally, increased levels of serotonin were detected in the brains of rats prenatally exposed to VPA (Narita et al., 2002). It is likely that the reduced expression of *mao* and weaker signal of mao enzymatic activity detected on the brains of *mao*^{+/-} fish will lead to increased levels of serotonin. Additionally, they also presented an upregulation of *vmat2*, which could be a compensatory mechanism caused by increased levels of aminergic neurotransmitters. Similar upregulation of *Vmat2* was detected in the raphe nuclei, the primary location in the brain for the production of serotonin, of rats that were treated with an MAO inhibitor from gestational day 12 until postnatal day 21 (Blažević and Hranilović, 2013). Increased levels of VMAT2 were found in the brains of patients with schizophrenia (Zubieta et al., 2001), a disorder that shares symptomatology with ASD (Trevisan et al., 2020). No differences in the expression of *serta* were detected in the brains of *mao*^{+/-} fish.

The social behavior of $mao^{+/-}$ fish was firstly evaluated at the juvenile stage, when we utilized a paradigm that assesses social contact trough different parameters, such as frequency in proximity and time spent in proximity. Differently from $mao^{+/+}$ siblings, $mao^{+/-}$ fish were less frequently in proximity with a fish of the same genotype during the trial. We also tested the shoaling behavior by placing groups of 4 fish of the same genotype in a round tank. After the groups of 4 fish swum freely in a 10 min trial, we verified that $mao^{+/-}$ fish spent less time in proximity and that the average distance between individuals during the trial was higher when compared with trials containing groups of $mao^{+/+}$ fish. Using the same apparatus where we tested the social preference of VPA-exposed animals we verified that $mao^{+/-}$ did not show a preference for a social stimulus. MaoA KO mice also display an impaired social behavior in addition to perseverative and stereotypical responses (Bortolato et al., 2013). However, they also displays a severe phenotype that includes high levels of serotonin and

noradrenaline and marked reactive aggression, resembling the features of patients with Brunner syndrome (Bortolato et al., 2018). Thus, *mao*^{+/-} fish could be considered as a tool to study a more subtle phenotype shown by individuals with low MAOA activity. In addition to impaired sociability, *mao*^{+/-} fish showed an anxious-like behavior in the novel tank diving test, resembling a phenotype displayed by a subset of patients with ASD (Vasa et al., 2014). *MaoA* KO mice and *MaoB* KO mouse do not display anxious- like behavior in the elevated plus maze (Cases et al., 1995; Grimsby et al., 1997). However, mice lacking both *MaoA* and *MaoB* show reduced exploration in the open-field test, and smaller number of entries into both the open and closed arms of the plus maze (Chen et al., 2004).

The two models presented in this thesis have the potential to be useful tools in ASD research, however, they need further validation. The criteria for a well-established animal model includes: (a) face validity, ie, resemblance to the defining characteristics of the human disorder; (b) construct validity, ie, the biological abnormality that leads to the human disorder, such as a gene mutation or exposure to risk factors; and (c) predictive validity, ie, responsiveness to drugs used to treat symptoms in the human disorder (Crawley, 2012). Future studies are necessary to evaluate other behaviors and neurobiological phenotypes of these models that are relevant for ASD, including stereotypies, aggression, attention, synaptic formation, inhibitory/excitatory balance and synaptic proteins defects. Additionally, it should be verified how they respond to drugs such as haloperidol and risperidone, which are used to treat ASD symptoms and have been proved to be effective in treating other zebrafish models of brain disorders (Banono et al., 2021).

It is noteworthy that the study of molecular underpinnings of ASD can benefit from approaches that not always recapitulate the wide range of alterations displayed by patients, but rather allow the investigation of specific associated symptoms and the diverse set of pathophysiological mechanisms known for playing a role in the disorder. For instance, The X-linked *NLGN3* gene, encoding a postsynaptic cell adhesion molecule, is involved in a nonsyndromic monogenic form of ASD (Quartier et al., 2019), but, even though *Nlgn3* KO mice display reduced ultrasound vocalization and a lack of social novelty preference, they do not show alterations in time spent in social interaction, prepulse inhibition, seizure propensity and repetitive behavior (Radyushkin et al., 2009), features detected in other models of the disorder. Induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSC) are now used to study the cellular phenotype of disorders such as ASD, but in vitro systems do not allow the reproduction of global cellular homeostasis and cell orientation and projections within the distinct cortical layers, which are crucial in the context of brain development (Russo et al., 2019). Nevertheless, these are still important tools.

9.2 The histaminergic system is affected in zebrafish embryonically exposed to VPA

We wanted to verify if VPA-exposed animals presented molecular and/or neurochemical abnormalities that could suggest possible mechanisms that led to the behavioral outcome. We were particularly interested in the histaminergic system, which is less explored than other neurotransmitter systems in ASD studies.

Larval zebrafish exposed to VPA showed a significant reduction in the number of histaminergic neurons and in the levels of histamine when compared to control animals. Different effects of VPA have been reported in the rodent model of ASD. A reduced number of neurons has been reported in different brain areas, including the cerebellum and thalamus (Ingram et al., 2000; Mansour et al., 2021). However, neuronal density in hippocampus was increased in adult rats prenatally exposed to VPA (Edalatmanesh et al., 2013). In postmortem samples of patients with ASD there are significantly fewer neurons in areas such as the amygdala, cerebellum and fusiform gyrus (Schumann and Amaral, 2006; van Kooten et al., 2008; Wegiel et al., 2014). However, brain overgrowth and abnormal excess number of neurons in the prefrontal cortex of patients with ASD has been reported (Courchesne et al., 2011).

It is yet to be determined what caused the reduction in the number of histaminergic neurons in zebrafish. Early exposure to VPA has been reported to decrease cell proliferation in zebrafish brains (Lee et al., 2013). In our study, no differences between VPA-exposed and control larvae were detected when we measured the expression levels of *pcna* and we carried out immunostaining with anti-PCNA antibody on larval brains. Prenatal exposure to VPA has also caused apoptosis in the prefrontal cortex, hippocampus area CA1 and cerebellar cortex of rats (Elnahas et al., 2021).

Besides the reduction in the number of histaminergic cells and histamine levels, the histaminergic system was affected by a downregulation of *hdc*, *hrh1*, *hrh2*, and *hrh3* when compared with control larvae. Some of these abnormalities persisted until adulthood, and VPA-exposed adult animals displayed reduced levels of *hdc* and *hrh3*. Interestingly, no difference between groups was detected when histamine levels were measured. Alterations regarding histaminergic genes have been reported in brain postmortem samples of patients ASD. Histamine receptors and other histamine signalling genes were analyzed as a gene set in the dorsal lateral prefrontal cortex and a significant overexpression was detected (Wright et al., 2017). Patients with fragile X syndrome, which frequently are a diagnosed with ASD, presented a downregulation of *HRH3* in a study that used microarray analysis and peripheral blood as sample (Rosales-Reynoso et al., 2010).

The histaminergic system has been linked to the pathophysiology of different brain disorders and some of them share a symptomatology with ASD, including ADHD (Stevenson et al., 2010), schizophrenia (Iwabuchi et al., 2005) and Gilles de la Tourette syndrome (Castellan Baldan et al., 2014). A role for the histaminergic system in ASD pathophysiology would not be surprising, considering that this system is known to modulate important physiological functions such as sleepwake cycle, energy and endocrine homeostasis, sensory and motor functions, cognition, and attention, which are all often affected in neuropsychiatric disorders (Panula and Nuutinen, 2013). Particularly, H3R antagonists/inverse agonists are known to affect cortical fast rhythms, which are associated with cognitive processes such as attention, alertness, and leaning (Parmentier et al., 2007). This auto and heteroreceptor regulates the release of histamine and other neurotransmitters, which is stimulated by the treatment with these antagonists/inverse agonists (Hatta et al., 1997).

Another mechanism in which histamine could be involved in the pathophysiology of ASD is neuroinflammation. Patients with ASD exhibit ongoing neuroinflammation in various regions of the brain involving microglial activation (Vargas et al., 2005). Histamine plays a role modulating microglia through activation of histamine receptors expressed in these cells (Barata-Antunes et al., 2017). The VPA rodent model of ASD presents high levels of inflammatory cytokines in the brain and increased number of activated microglia. Both are reduced when these animals are treated with an H3R inverse agonist, which is known to induce the release of histamine among other neurotransmitters (Eissa et al., 2019). Additionally, other studies have used H3R ligands to attenuate behavioral impairments in rodent models of ASD (Baronio et al., 2015; Eissa et al., 2018).

In addition to damages in the histaminergic system, VPA-exposed zebrafish also presented abnormalities in catecholaminergic system. At 5 dpf they showed a reduced number of Thimmunoreactive cells in the preoptic area and downregulation of *th1* when compared to controls. Adult animals continued to present lower levels of *th1* and also displayed decreased levels of *dbh*, the enzyme that catalyzes the conversion of dopamine to noradrenaline. Noradrenaline, a neurotransmitter implicated in many cognitive processes, including attention, learning, memory and decision making, was also reduced in VPA-exposed brains. The noradrenergic system has been implicated in the pathophysiology of ADHD, a disorder that shares symptomatology with ASD, and the selective noradrenaline reuptake inhibitor atomoxetine is used in the treatment of ADHD (Del Campo et al., 2011).

The impairments in aminergic system were associated with altered behavior in VPA-exposed larvae. They were hypoactive while the environment was normally illuminated and, when illumination suddenly ceased, displayed a stronger increase in locomotor activity when compared with control group. A similar phenotype of altered dark-flash response has been described in other studies where zebrafish were exposed to VPA during early stages of development (Cowden et al., 2012; Muhsen et al., 2021). Altered dark-flash response in zebrafish has been previously associated with a functional impairment in histaminergic neurotransmission (Sundvik et al., 2011). Altered motor behavior has also been reported in the VPA rodent model of ASD, where VPA prenatally exposed animals displayed deficits in motor coordination and gait, as well as signs of hypoactivity (Al Sagheer et al., 2018).

9.3 mao loss-of-function affects different aminergic populations in the zebrafish brain

In this thesis we also characterized for the first time a $mao^{-/-}$ zebrafish. The majority of investigations involving mao functioning in zebrafish were based on a pharmacological approach where MAO inhibitors were used to assess the neurobehavioral outcomes (Bellot et al., 2021; Jaka et al., 2021; Sallinen et al., 2009b). As mentioned before, this is a valid approach but interpretation of the results should be done with caution because different methods and windows of exposure to MAO inhibitors are used, and these drugs may generate effects independent of Mao inhibition. For instance, deprenyl can be metabolized to amphetamine, which could alter dopamine neurotransmission (Karoum et al., 1982). Thus, characterizing a *mao* mutant could contribute to the existent pharmacological data.

Differently from mammals that have two isoforms of MAO (MAOA and MAOB), zebrafish only has one Mao. The zebrafish *mao* shares similarity in exon/intron numbers and structure to *MAOA* and *MAOB* of humans, and the protein shares the properties of both human MAOA and MAOB. Additionally, the overall distribution of zebrafish mao is a combination of MAOA and MAOB distribution in mammals (Anichtchik et al., 2006). The knockout of *mao* in zebrafish led to severe impairments in the aminergic systems and was lethal within 20 dpf.

The zebrafish Mao shows a strong affinity for serotonin and PEA and a weak one for dopamine and noradrenaline. The $mao^{-/-}$ larvae showed a hyperserotonergic phenotype that was characterized by extracellular serotonin immunoreactivity and increased density of serotonin-immunoreactive fibers. However, this exacerbated extracellular serotonin was associated with damage in aminergic systems. When we counted the number of cells in different brain serotonergic groups, we found that $mao^{-/-}$ larvae had a reduced number of cells in the anterior, intermediate and posterior part of the paraventricular organ when compared to their $mao^{+/+}$ and $mao^{+/-}$ siblings. These results resemble the reduced serotonin immunoreactivity in the serotonergic cell somata of WT zebrafish treated with MAO inhibitor (Sallinen et al., 2009b). Additionally, when this comparison was made after quantifying histamine- and Th1-immunoreactive cells, $mao^{-/-}$ brains also showed a significant reduction. A similar toxic effect and neuronal death was detected in zebrafish treated with Trans-2-phenylcyclopropylamine (PCPA), a non-selective MAO inhibitor (Jie et al., 2009). It is likely that this general impairment in aminergic systems contributed to the early death of $mao^{-/-}$ larvae. The aminergic systems have an important role in feeding control (Wee et al., 2019). Additionally, aminergic inputs innervate the zebrafish swim bladder and mao inhibition affects its control, which could have impaired the larvae mobility and ability to seek for food (Finney et al., 2006; Sallinen et al., 2009a). A hypoactive phenotype was detected when $mao^{-/-}$ larvae were evaluated in a 24h locomotor activity evaluation. A similar behavior was reported when WT zebrafish were treated with a Mao inhibitor (Sallinen et al., 2009b). Additionally, weaker reactivity to acoustic/vibrational and visual stimuli was displayed by mao^{-/-} larvae. This could linked with the hypoactive phenotype and impaired development displayed by the mutants, considering that these responses are mediated by independent processes (Burgess and Granato, 2007a; Burgess and Granato, 2007b).

When we analyzed the expression of genes encoding amine-synthesizing enzymes, we did not detect differences in *hdc* and *th1* expression between $mao^{-/-}$ larvae and their $mao^{+/+}$ and $mao^{+/-}$ siblings. However, RT-qPCR showed that *tph1a* was upregulated in $mao^{-/-}$ larvae. Interestingly, *in situ* hybridization showed that *tph1a* signal was markedly weaker in the $mao^{-/-}$ brains. It is important to highlight that samples for the RT-qPCR analysis were whole larvae lysates and tph1a is expressed in skin and pharyngeal arch neuroepithelial cells (NECs) and nerves innervating NECs (Pan et al., 2021).

9.4 Aminergic signalling and turnover in zebrafish lacking *vmat2*

Several lines of *Vmat2* mutant mice have been used to study the role of this transporter in aminergic signalling, embryonic development and adult physiology (Fon et al., 1997; Fukui et al., 2007; Wang et al., 1997). VMAT2 has been implicated in the pathophysiology of different diseases, such as Parkinson's disease, depression and addiction (Brighina et al., 2013; Fehr et al., 2013; Zalsman et al., 2011). Thus, the availability of different animal models will benefit studies aiming to better understand the molecular underpinnings of these diseases or the development of new therapies.

The use of zebrafish to complement the knowledge obtained with rodent models is attractive because of the several advantages provided by this model organism already discussed in this thesis. Among them are the genetic homology shared with humans, the embryo transparency during development and the wide range of genetic tools available to generate mutants (Gerlai, 2011). However, similarly to the investigations involving mao, the studies of vmat2 on zebrafish neurobiology have been mainly limited to exposing these animals in different stages of development to different doses of VMAT2 inhibitors, such as reserpine (Puttonen et al., 2017). Thus, we decided to characterize, for the first time, a $vmat2^{-/-}$ zebrafish mutant. We expect that this mutant line will contribute to the existing pharmacological data to a better understanding of aminergic neurotransmission in zebrafish. This is relevant because zebrafish is becoming a popular tool in neuroscience and a well-characterized set of neurobiological mechanisms will strength its value as a model organism.

A particular important aspect to be characterized in this mutant was the role played by Vmat2 on the histaminergic system. VMAT2 affinity for histamine and its expression on neuronal and endocrine cells containing HDC have been reported (Merickel and Edwards, 1995; Weihe and Eiden, 2000). Although VMAT2 inhibitor reserpine decreases the levels of histamine on cat and mouse brains, studies with rats showed that histamine levels were unaffected. We showed that zebrafish lacking *vmat2* had reduced histamine immunoreactivity in neuronal cell bodies located in the hypothalamus and their projections to the dorsal telencephalon and habenula. Additionally, we have also verified a decrease in histamine levels by HPLC. Our data is comparable with a previous report where WT zebrafish were exposed to reserpine (Puttonen et al., 2017). The increased number of cells expressing *hdc* mRNA detected in *vmat2^{-/-}* brains imply the existence of a compensatory mechanism to maintain histamine levels. Increase in HDC activity has been reported in the rat brain after treatment with reserpine.

Differently from other systems where the lack of *vmat2* caused a virtual absence of immunoreactivity to aminergic neurotransmitters, in the histaminergic system we found the presence of immunoreactivity to histamine in a small group of neurons. That could indicate the existence of a still uncharacterized mechanism of transport specific for histamine present in a subset of histaminergic neurons. Thus, it would be relevant to determine the extent to which histaminergic neurons are homogenous regarding metabolism and histamine synthesis or consist of distinct subpopulations.

Increased levels of DOPAC, reduced levels of dopamine and the presence of only few scattered dopaminergic neurons indicate an accelerated dopamine turnover in $vmat2^{-/-}$ brains. These changes were accompanied by an upregulation of the two tyrosine hydroxylase genes present in the zebrafish (*th1* and *th2*). Similarly, *Vmat2* KO mice show enhanced TH enzymatic activity and increased accumulation of levodopa (Wang et al., 1997). Parkinson's disease patients, which show an impaired

dopamine uptake per VMAT2, also display upregulated *TH* expression in the ventral tegmental area (Tong et al., 2000). It has been proposed that impaired dopamine storage in vesicles by a malfunctioning VMAT2 may be an early critical abnormality promoting degenerative death pathways, through dopamine-derived cytotoxic reactive species, underlying the progressive death of nigrostriatal dopaminergic neurons in this disorder (Pifl et al., 2014).

As expected, the serotonergic system also presented abnormalities. The *vmat2^{-/-}* brains presented virtually no immunoreactivity to serotonin and the levels of this neurotransmitter were significantly reduced on whole larvae lysates. Additionally, the metabolite 5-HIAA was significantly increased. Like the other amine-synthesizing enzymes evaluated in this study, *tph1a* was upregulated. This could indicate an increased rate of amines synthesis, which has been demonstrated in *Vmat2* KO mice (Wang et al., 1997).

The impairments in aminergic systems also affected the behavior of $vmat2^{-/-}$, which displayed an abnormally stronger dark-flash response. This behavioral phenotype is comparable to what was detected in VPA-exposed and $mao^{-/-}$ larvae, reinforcing the evidence that suggest a role for amines in the regulation of this behavior. Similarly with what happens with *Vmat2* KO mice, $vmat2^{-/-}$ fish do not do not survive until adulthood and die within 20 dpf.

This new fish line might be of importance in future investigations of basic mechanisms of aminergic neurotransmission, and to screen potential new drugs or model brain disorders where VMAT2 plays a critical role. Importantly, we brought more information about the role of VMAT2 on histamine packaging and storage, which has received less attention in comparison with the other monoaminergic systems in studies involving this transporter.

9.5 Impaired aminergic neurotransmission affects zebrafish brain development

We verified that zebrafish with impaired aminergic neurotransmission caused by either the lack of capacity to transport into synaptic vesicles or to metabolize aminergic neurotransmitters presented abnormal expression of different genes relevant to brain development. That is not surprising, considering that early brain development is modulated by biogenic amines, and other molecules, such as growth factors and neuropeptides.

The serotonergic system has important roles during development and serotonin functions as a trophic factor that regulates neuronal growth, differentiation, migration and survival before synapse formation (Brüning et al., 1997; Whitaker-Azmitia et al., 1996). Inhibition TPH during development leads to a delay in the onset of differentiation of neurons developing along the serotonergic pathway,

including mesencephalic dopaminergic neurons and serotonergic neurons of the raphe (Whitaker-Azmitia et al., 1996). Excess serotonin reduces migration distance of embryonic interneurons in cortical slice cultures (Riccio et al., 2011). Histamine also has important roles during development. It has been shown to regulate the proliferation and differentiation of neural stem cells *in vitro* through activation of hrh2 and hrh1, respectively (Panula et al., 2014). Prenatal dopamine depletion in the substantia nigra by treatment with 6-hydroxydopamine decreases the number of cortical GABAergic interneurons (Ohira, 2019). Cortical GABAergic circuits are immature at birth and, in adolescence, dopamine is known to modulate the maturation of the GABAergic system, including the expression of GABA synthesizing enzymes and transporters, formation of GABAergic synapses, and the projection pattern of GABAergic axons (Kilb, 2012). Proper functioning of GABAergic inhibitory properties is necessary for the refinement of cortical circuitry. Thus, it is likely that impairments in GABAergic maturation caused by dopamine depletion during development lead to mental illness (Nakazawa et al., 2012). Similar effects are also detected when dopamine is increases during development by exposure to cocaine, which leads to disrupted development of cortical neurons (Crandall et al., 2004).

The release of these amines is VMAT2-dependent; thus, a malfunctioning or inhibition of this transporter is likely to affect brain development. We examined zebrafish $vmat2^{-/-}$ larvae, which presented a marked depletion of serotonin, dopamine and histamine. These larvae exhibited downregulation of *notch1a*, a gene known to regulate neuronal differentiation. Notch1 signalling plays a role on the maintenance of neuronal precursor cells in an undifferentiated state, while its suppression induces differentiation of neuronal precursors. Additionally, they also showed a weaker expression of pax2a, an early marker of dopaminergic neurons. Dopaminergic neurons are derived from progenitors that express PAX2 and eventually become positive for TH. Interestingly, VMAT2 inhibition stimulates β -cell differentiation *in vitro* (Sakano et al., 2014). The authors proposed that monoamines serve as a brake for differentiation of Pdx1+ pancreatic progenitors into Ngn3+ endocrine precursors and subsequently into Ins+ cells. Once amine release is inhibited by reserpine, the Pdx1+ cells are induced to differentiate into Ngn3+ cells, which quickly turn into Ins+ cells. However, in the brain, VMAT2 is known to have a protective role on neurons and the inhibition or lack of this transporter may cause the accumulation of neurotransmitters and their metabolites in the cytosol which can lead to toxic effects. Zebrafish $vmat2^{-/-}$ larvae also showed increased levels of manf, which regulates dopaminergic developments and pancreatic differentiation. However, MANF has neuroprotective properties against apoptosis (Mätlik et al., 2018). Vmat2 KO mice display increased programmed cell death (PCD) in specific cortical areas, whereas a reduced level of amines

caused by synthesis inhibition did not cause visible consequences on PCD. Interestingly, *Vmat2-MaoA* DKO mice, which presented high levels of serotonin, did not show increased cell death as displayed by *Vmat2* KO animals (Stankovski et al., 2007). Increased neurogenesis has been reported in neurodegenerative disorders (Butti et al., 2014; Jin et al., 2004; Shruster et al., 2010). Thus, it is possible to suggest that the loss of Vmat2 leads to neurodegeneration which in turn would stimulate differentiation of neural progenitor cells (NPCs) and hence the reduction in expression of early developmental markers *notch1a* and *pax2a*. However, the fact that the fish examined in this study were still immature makes this possibility questionable. Further investigation is needed to determine if the altered expression of genes relevant for brain development in *vmat2^{-/-}* larvae indicates a general arrested development or if reduced *notch1a* and *pax2a* levels imply that Vmat2-dependent monoaminergic signalling suppresses neuronal differentiation.

Differently from *vmat2* mutants, $mao^{-/-}$ larvae are characterized by an accumulation of amines caused by a lack of Mao enzymatic activity. Excess of serotonin, which is the preferred Mao substrate in zebrafish, led to abnormal expression of genes linked to brain development in these mutants. Similarly to *vmat2*^{-/-} larvae, they showed reduced levels of *notch1a*. In this context, we can assume that this may be related to a general impaired brain development because these larvae also showed a downregulation of *neurod1*, a transcription factor that is important for survival and maturation of newborn neurons. They also displayed increased levels of *apoeb* a microglial marker that is commonly associated to apoptosis (Elliott et al., 2007). This result is consistent with the reduced number of histaminergic and Th1-positive neurons detected in these mutants. In fact, the exacerbated levels of serotonin was associated with the loss of serotonin immunoreactive cells in the anterior, intermediate and posterior part of the paraventricular organ. Mao inhibition in zebrafish through PCPA exposure leads to increased neuronal death (Jie et al., 2009).

10 Conclusions

This study characterized behavioral and neurochemical phenotypes of zebrafish with pharmacologically and genetically manipulated with ASD risk factors. Additionally, it characterized the effects of *mao* and *vmat2* loss of function on zebrafish brain development, behavior and aminergic neurotransmitter systems.

Zebrafish embryos exposed to VPA, an ASD-associated drug, displayed molecular and neurochemical alterations that persevered until adulthood and were associated with an impaired social behavior. Some of these alterations were in the histaminergic system, a neurotransmitter system that have been seldom studied in ASD but is impaired in different brain disorders that share a symptomatology with ASD. Particularly, *hrh3* a promising targets for cognitive disorders, was downregulated in both larvae and adult zebrafish embryonically exposed to VPA. These findings might bring more attention to a possible involvement of the histaminergic system in the pathophysiology of ASD. Furthermore, it supports the use of zebrafish as a useful model system to investigate mechanisms underlying this disorder.

The lack of *vmat2* affected the expression of genes related to brain development, suggesting that this transporter plays a significant role in this processes, most likely through amines stored by this transporter. We provided new essential information regarding the importance of VMAT2 to the histaminergic system, which has received less attention in comparison to the other aminergic systems in studies involving this transporter. Future studies aiming to investigate basic mechanisms involving this monoamine transporter, screen potential new drugs or model brain disorders where VMAT2 plays a critical role might benefit from this model. Additionally, this mutant line contributes with the existing pharmacological data to a better understanding of aminergic neurotransmission in zebrafish. This is relevant because zebrafish is becoming a popular tool in neuroscience and a well-characterized set of neurobiological mechanisms will strength its value as a model organism.

Zebrafish that had a *mao* complete loss of function displayed abnormal expression of relevant genes for brain development, severe impairments in brain aminergic neurotransmitter systems and died at early age. Considering the influence of brain amines on neurogenesis, $mao^{-/-}$ fish could be used as a tool to study roles of *MAOA/B* and amines during brain development. Zebrafish with a reduced expression of *mao* survived until adulthood and showed a significant deficit in sociability and displayed anxious-like behavior. It is important to mention that these behavioral impairments were mild, but this model organism has the potential to be used in ASD studies aiming to evaluate neurobehavioral outcomes of interaction between environmental factors and *MAOA/B* genotype.

11 Acknowledgements

This study was conducted at the Department of Anatomy of the University of Helsinki, in 2016-2022 and was funded by Jane ja Aatos Erkon Säätiö, Sigrid Juséliuksen Säätiö, Magnus Ehrnroothin Säätiö, Finska Läkaresällskapet and Svenska Kulturfonden. I thank all the funding sources and the University of Helsinki for providing excellent facilities for our research group.

My supervisor, Prof. Pertti Panula, is certainly the first person to be acknowledged. He gave me the opportunity to join an excellent research group where I developed skills that are going to be
essential in my future as a scientist. Without knowing me personally he accepted me as a visitor in his group when I contacted him for the first time in 2013. Pertti was very kind to me and made me feel welcomed in Finland when I arrived from Brazil in 2014. He trusted me and encouraged me when I decided to stay here and came up with the idea for the first publication of this thesis. Pertti was always available to discuss my research project and to give advices about career paths and life in general. Pertti, I am truly grateful for the privilege of being your student.

Dr. Maria Sundvik and Dr. Yu-Chia Chen, senior researchers in our group, were very important during this journey. They guided me and gave important contributions to my research plan. Maria introduced me to zebrafish as a model organism and her expertise on behavioral analysis inspired me to learn more about it. Yu-Chia was always willing to discuss new ideas and her, sometimes tough, criticism made me want to improve all the time. She gave me the opportunity to collaborate with her in different research projects that yielded important contributions to science. Both Maria and Yu-Chia offered me their friendship and, for that, I will always remember them.

I am grateful to Dr. Svetlana Semenova for helping me to establish the social preference test for zebrafish in our lab. Svetlana was very kind during these years and always willing to help me. I also acknowledge Dr. Yuxiao Yao. Yuxiao not only gave me the opportunity to take part in her work, but also taught me many things about zebrafish during the two years that we shared an office. She is a good friend and always had a word of stimulus and encouragement for me when I needed it.

My co-authors Henri Puttonen, Essi Lehtonen, Amanda Decker, Louise Enckell, Blanca Fernández López and Professor Robert Cornell are recognized with highest gratitude for their contributions to the original research articles included in this thesis. All the members of the PP group that I had the privilege to work with over the years are also acknowledged. I would like to mention Dr. Stanislav Rozov, Dr. Shamsiiat Abdurakhmanova, Dr. Svetlana Sharifulina, Dr. Congyu Jin and Dr. Laura de Oliveira Mello for all the discussions and time spent in the lab together. You certainly made the work environment very pleasant. I am also grateful to Tomás Martins and Valentina Marchica for all the help they gave me when I started to work with *in situ* hybridization. Reeta Huhtala and Henri Koivula were essential to keep our lab and fish unit in good working conditions.

My family from Brazil was always present, even though thousands of kilometers and an ocean were physically separating us. I thank my parents for the effort that they have made to raise me and for funding my education over the years. Finally, I thank my wife, Yanmin, for the support and love. You lifted me up when I was down and gave me the strength to continue. Life without you, Luca and Filippo would be a waste.

12 REFERENCES

- Abaid, N., Bartolini, T., Macrì, S. and Porfiri, M. (2012). Zebrafish responds differentially to a robotic fish of varying aspect ratio, tail beat frequency, noise, and color. *Behav. Brain Res.* 233, 545–553.
- Accardo, J. A. and Malow, B. A. (2015). Sleep, epilepsy, and autism. Epilepsy Behav. 47, 202–206.
- Agetsuma, M., Aizawa, H., Aoki, T., Nakayama, R., Takahoko, M., Goto, M., Sassa, T., Amo, R., Shiraki, T., Kawakami, K., Hosoya, T., Higashijima, S. and Okamoto, H. (2010). The habenula is crucial for experience-dependent modification of fear responses in zebrafish. *Nat. Neurosci.* 13, 1354–6.
- Airaksinen, M. S. and Panula, P. (1990). Comparative neuroanatomy of the histaminergic system in the brain of the frog Xenopus laevis. J. Comp. Neurol. 292, 412–23.
- Airaksinen, M. S., Alanen, S., Szabat, E., Visser, T. J. and Panula, P. (1992). Multiple neurotransmitters in the tuberomammillary nucleus: comparison of rat, mouse, and guinea pig. *J Comp Neurol* 323, 103–116.
- Akhtar, M. W., Raingo, J., Nelson, E. D., Montgomery, R. L., Olson, E. N., Kavalali, E. T. and Monteggia, L. M. (2009). Histone deacetylases 1 and 2 form a developmental switch that controls excitatory synapse maturation and function. J. Neurosci. 29, 8288–97.
- Al Sagheer, T., Haida, O., Balbous, A., Francheteau, M., Matas, E., Fernagut, P. O. and Jaber, M. (2018). Motor impairments correlate with social deficits and restricted neuronal loss in an environmental model of autism. *Int. J. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 21, 871–882.
- An, J. Y., Cristino, A. S., Zhao, Q., Edson, J., Williams, S. M., Ravine, D., Wray, J., Marshall, V. M., Hunt, A., Whitehouse, A. J. O. and Claudianos, C. (2014). Towards a molecular characterization of autism spectrum disorders: an exome sequencing and systems approach. *Transl. Psychiatry* 4, e394.
- Anderson, G. M., Horne, W. C., Chatterjee, D. and Cohen, D. J. (1990). The hyperserotonemia of autism. Ann NY Acad Sci 600, 331–340.
- Anderson, M. C., Hasan, F., McCrodden, J. M. and Tipton, K. F. (1993). Monoamine oxidase inhibitors and the cheese effect. *Neurochem. Res.* 18, 1145–9.
- Anichtchik, O., Sallinen, V., Peitsaro, N. and Panula, P. (2006). Distinct structure and activity of monoamine oxidase in the brain of zebrafish (Danio rerio). J. Comp. Neurol. 498, 593–610.
- Ardinger, H. H., Atkin, J. F., Blackston, R. D., Elsas, L. J., Clarren, S. K., Livingstone, S., Flannery, D. B., Pellock, J. M., Harrod, M. J. and Lammer, E. J. (1988). Verification of the fetal valproate syndrome phenotype. Am J Med Genet 29, 171–185.
- Badawy, A. A., Elghaba, R., Soliman, M., Hussein, A. M., AlSadrah, S. A., Awadalla, A. and Abulseoud, O. A. (2020). Chronic Valproic Acid Administration Increases Plasma, Liver, and

Brain Ammonia Concentration and Suppresses Glutamine Synthetase Activity. *Brain Sci.* 10, 759.

- Baieli, S., Pavone, L., Meli, C., Fiumara, A. and Coleman, M. (2003). Autism and phenylketonuria. J. Autism Dev. Disord. 33, 201–4.
- Baker, P., Piven, J., Schwartz, S. and Patil, S. (1994). Brief report: duplication of chromosome 15q11-13 in two individuals with autistic disorder. J. Autism Dev. Disord. 24, 529–35.
- Bambini-Junior, V., Rodrigues, L., Behr, G. A., Moreira, J. C., Riesgo, R. and Gottfried, C. (2011). Animal model of autism induced by prenatal exposure to valproate: behavioral changes and liver parameters. *Brain Res* 1408, 8–16.
- Bambini-Junior, V., Baronio, D., MacKenzie, J., Zanatta, G., Riesgo, R. dos S. and Gottfried, C. (2014a). Prenatal exposure to valproate in animals and autism. In *Comprehensive Guide to Autism*, pp. 1779–1793. Springer.
- Bambini-Junior, V., Zanatta, G., Della Flora Nunes, G., Mueller de Melo, G., Michels, M., Fontes-Dutra, M., Nogueira Freire, V., Riesgo, R. and Gottfried, C. (2014b). Resveratrol prevents social deficits in animal model of autism induced by valproic acid. *Neurosci Lett* 583, 176–181.
- Banono, N. S., Gawel, K., De Witte, L. and Esguerra, C. V (2021). Zebrafish larvae carrying a splice variant mutation in cacnald: a new model for schizophrenia-like behaviours? *Mol. Neurobiol.* 58, 877–894.
- Barata-Antunes, S., Cristóvão, A. C., Pires, J., Rocha, S. M. and Bernardino, L. (2017). Dual role of histamine on microglia-induced neurodegeneration. *Biochim. Biophys. acta. Mol. basis Dis.* 1863, 764–769.
- Barnes, N. M., Ahern, G. P., Becamel, C., Bockaert, J., Camilleri, M., Chaumont-Dubel, S., Claeysen, S., Cunningham, K. A., Fone, K. C., Gershon, M., Di Giovanni, G., Goodfellow, N. M., Halberstadt, A. L., Hartley, R. M., Hassaine, G., Herrick-Davis, K., Hovius, R., Lacivita, E., Lambe, E. K., Leopoldo, M., Levy, F. O., Lummis, S. C. R., Marin, P., Maroteaux, L., McCreary, A. C., Nelson, D. L., Neumaier, J. F., Newman-Tancredi, A., Nury, H., Roberts, A., Roth, B. L., Roumier, A., Sanger, G. J., Teitler, M., Sharp, T., Villalón, C. M., Vogel, H., Watts, S. W. and Hoyer, D. (2021). International union of basic and clinical pharmacology. Cx. Classification of receptors for 5-hydroxytryptamine; pharmacology and function. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 73, 310–520.
- Baronio, D., Castro, K., Gonchoroski, T., Mueller De Melo, G., Nunes, G. D. F., Bambini-Junior, V., Gottfried, C. and Riesgo, R. (2015). Effects of an H3R antagonist on the animal model of autism induced by prenatal exposure to valproic acid. *PLoS One* 10, e0116363.
- Baumeister, A. A., Hawkins, M. F. and Uzelac, S. M. (2003). The myth of reserpine-induced depression: role in the historical development of the monoamine hypothesis. J. Hist. Neurosci. 12, 207–20.
- Bayer, S. A., Altman, J., Russo, R. J. and Zhang, X. (1993). Timetables of neurogenesis in the

human brain based on experimentally determined patterns in the rat. *Neurotoxicology* **14**, 83–144.

- Beaulieu, J.-M. and Gainetdinov, R. R. (2011). The physiology, signaling, and pharmacology of dopamine receptors. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 63, 182–217.
- Bellot, M., Bartolomé, H., Faria, M., Gómez-Canela, C. and Raldúa, D. (2021). Differential modulation of the central and peripheral monoaminergic neurochemicals by deprenyl in Zebrafish Larvae. *Toxics* 9,.
- Belmonte, M. K. and Bourgeron, T. (2006). Fragile X syndrome and autism at the intersection of genetic and neural networks. *Nat. Neurosci.* 9, 1221–5.
- Berger, M., Gray, J. A. and Roth, B. L. (2009). The expanded biology of serotonin. Annu. Rev. Med. 60, 355–66.
- Berkel, S., Tang, W., Treviño, M., Vogt, M., Obenhaus, H. A., Gass, P., Scherer, S. W., Sprengel, R., Schratt, G. and Rappold, G. A. (2012). Inherited and de novo SHANK2 variants associated with autism spectrum disorder impair neuronal morphogenesis and physiology. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 21, 344–57.
- Bernstein, A. I., Stout, K. A. and Miller, G. W. (2014). The vesicular monoamine transporter 2: an underexplored pharmacological target. *Neurochem. Int.* **73**, 89–97.
- Bescoby-Chambers, N., Forster, P. and Bates, G. (2001). "Foetal valproate syndrome and autism: additional evidence of an association." *Dev Med Child Neurol* 43, 847.
- Beversdorf, D. Q., Nordgren, R. E., Bonab, A. A., Fischman, A. J., Weise, S. B., Dougherty, D. D., Felopulos, G. J., Zhou, F. C. and Bauman, M. L. (2012). 5-HT2 receptor distribution shown by [18F] setoperone PET in high-functioning autistic adults. J. Neuropsychiatry Clin. Neurosci. 24, 191–7.
- Bindoli, A., Rigobello, M. P. and Deeble, D. J. (1992). Biochemical and toxicological properties of the oxidation products of catecholamines. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* **13**, 391–405.
- Blaser, R. E., Chadwick, L. and McGinnis, G. C. (2010). Behavioral measures of anxiety in zebrafish (Danio rerio). *Behav. Brain Res.* 208, 56–62.
- Blažević, S. and Hranilović, D. (2013). Expression of 5HT-related genes after perinatal treatment with 5HT agonists. *Transl. Neurosci.* **4**, 165–171.
- Bortolato, M., Chen, K. and Shih, J. C. (2008). Monoamine oxidase inactivation: from pathophysiology to therapeutics. *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.* 60, 1527–33.
- Bortolato, M., Godar, S. C., Davarian, S., Chen, K. and Shih, J. C. (2009). Behavioral disinhibition and reduced anxiety-like behaviors in monoamine oxidase B-deficient mice. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 34, 2746–57.
- Bortolato, M., Chen, K., Godar, S. C., Chen, G., Wu, W., Rebrin, I., Farrell, M. R., Scott, A. L., 77

Wellman, C. L. and Shih, J. C. (2011). Social deficits and perseverative behaviors, but not overt aggression, in MAO-A hypomorphic mice. *Neuropsychopharmacology* **36**, 2674–2688.

- Bortolato, M., Godar, S. C., Alzghoul, L., Zhang, J., Darling, R. D., Simpson, K. L., Bini, V., Chen, K., Wellman, C. L., Lin, R. C. S. and Shih, J. C. (2013). Monoamine oxidase A and A/B knockout mice display autistic-like features. *Int. J. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 16, 869–88.
- Bortolato, M., Floris, G. and Shih, J. C. (2018). From aggression to autism: new perspectives on the behavioral sequelae of monoamine oxidase deficiency. *J. Neural Transm.* **125**, 1589–1599.
- Brighina, L., Riva, C., Bertola, F., Saracchi, E., Fermi, S., Goldwurm, S. and Ferrarese, C. (2013). Analysis of vesicular monoamine transporter 2 polymorphisms in Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol. Aging* 34, 1712.e9–13.
- Bronicki, L. M., Redin, C., Drunat, S., Piton, A., Lyons, M., Passemard, S., Baumann, C., Faivre, L., Thevenon, J., Rivi're, J. B., Isidor, B., Gan, G., Francannet, C., Willems, M., Gunel, M., Jones, J. R., Gleeson, J. G., Mandel, J. L., Stevenson, R. E., Friez, M. J. and Aylsworth, A. S. (2015). Ten new cases further delineate the syndromic intellectual disability phenotype caused by mutations in DYRK1A. *Eur. J. Hum. Genet.* 23, 1482–1487.
- Brown, D. D., Axelrod, J. and Tomchick, R. (1959). Enzymatic N-methylation of histamine. *Nature* 183, 680.
- Brune, C. W., Kim, S. J., Salt, J., Leventhal, B. L., Lord, C. and Cook, E. H. (2006). 5-HTTLPR genotype-specific phenotype in children and adolescents with autism. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 163, 2148–2156.
- Brüning, G., Liangos, O. and Baumgarten, H. G. (1997). Prenatal development of the serotonin transporter in mouse brain. *Cell Tissue Res.* 289, 211–21.
- Brunner, H. G., Nelen, M., Breakefield, X. O., Ropers, H. H. and van Oost, B. A. (1993). Abnormal behavior associated with a point mutation in the structural gene for monoamine oxidase A. *Science* 262, 578–80.
- Brustein, E., Saint-Amant, L., Buss, R. R., Chong, M., McDearmid, J. R. and Drapeau, P. (2003). Steps during the development of the zebrafish locomotor network. J. Physiol. Paris 97, 77–86.
- Buescher, A. V, Cidav, Z., Knapp, M. and Mandell, D. S. (2014). Costs of autism spectrum disorders in the United Kingdom and the United States. *JAMA Pediatr* 168, 721–728.
- Burgess, H. A. and Granato, M. (2007a). Sensorimotor gating in larval zebrafish. J. Neurosci. 27, 4984–94.
- Burgess, H. A. and Granato, M. (2007b). Modulation of locomotor activity in larval zebrafish during light adaptation. J. Exp. Biol. 210, 2526–2539.
- Butti, E., Cusimano, M., Bacigaluppi, M. and Martino, G. (2014). Neurogenic and nonneurogenic functions of endogenous neural stem cells. *Front. Neurosci.* 8, 92.

- Cases, O., Seif, I., Grimsby, J., Gaspar, P., Chen, K., Pournin, S., Müller, U., Aguet, M., Babinet, C., Shih, J. C. and al., et (1995). Aggressive behavior and altered amounts of brain serotonin and norepinephrine in mice lacking MAOA. *Science* 268, 1763–6.
- Castellan Baldan, L., Williams, K. A., Gallezot, J. D., Pogorelov, V., Rapanelli, M., Crowley, M., Anderson, G. M., Loring, E., Gorczyca, R., Billingslea, E., Wasylink, S., Panza, K. E., Ercan-Sencicek, A. G., Krusong, K., Leventhal, B. L., Ohtsu, H., Bloch, M. H., Hughes, Z. A., Krystal, J. H., Mayes, L., de Araujo, I., Ding, Y. S., State, M. W. and Pittenger, C. (2014). Histidine decarboxylase deficiency causes tourette syndrome: parallel findings in humans and mice. *Neuron* 81, 77–90.
- Chen, K., Holschneider, D. P., Wu, W., Rebrin, I. and Shih, J. C. (2004). A spontaneous point mutation produces monoamine oxidase A/B knock-out mice with greatly elevated monoamines and anxiety-like behavior. *J. Biol. Chem.* **279**, 39645–52.
- Chen, Y. C., Priyadarshini, M. and Panula, P. (2009). Complementary developmental expression of the two tyrosine hydroxylase transcripts in zebrafish. *Histochem. Cell Biol.* 132, 375–381.
- Chen, Y. C., Sundvik, M., Rozov, S., Priyadarshini, M. and Panula, P. (2012). MANF regulates dopaminergic neuron development in larval zebrafish. *Dev. Biol.* **370**, 237–249.
- Chen, Y. C., Semenova, S., Rozov, S., Sundvik, M., Bonkowsky, J. L. and Panula, P. (2016a). A novel developmental role for dopaminergic signaling to specify hypothalamic neurotransmitter identity. J. Biol. Chem. 291, 21880–21892.
- Chen, S. W., Zhong, X. S., Jiang, L. N., Zheng, X. Y., Xiong, Y. Q., Ma, S. J., Qiu, M., Huo, S. T., Ge, J. and Chen, Q. (2016b). Maternal autoimmune diseases and the risk of autism spectrum disorders in offspring: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Behav. Brain Res.* 296, 61–69.
- Chen, J., Lei, L., Tian, L., Hou, F., Roper, C., Ge, X., Zhao, Y., Chen, Y., Dong, Q., Tanguay, R. L. and Huang, C. (2018). Developmental and behavioral alterations in zebrafish embryonically exposed to valproic acid (VPA): An aquatic model for autism. *Neurotoxicol. Teratol.* 66, 8–16.
- Chen, Y. C., Baronio, D., Semenova, S., Abdurakhmanova, S. and Panula, P. (2020). Cerebral dopamine neurotrophic factor regulates multiple neuronal subtypes and behavior. J. Neurosci. 40, 6146–6164.
- Christensen, J., Grønborg, T. K., Sørensen, M. J., Schendel, D., Parner, E. T., Pedersen, L. H. and Vestergaard, M. (2013). Prenatal valproate exposure and risk of autism spectrum disorders and childhood autism. *JAMA* 309, 1696–1703.
- Chugani, D. C., Muzik, O., Behen, M., Rothermel, R., Janisse, J. J., Lee, J. and Chugani, H. T. (1999). Developmental changes in brain serotonin synthesis capacity in autistic and nonautistic children. *Ann Neurol* 45, 287–295.
- Cohen, I. L., Liu, X., Schutz, C., White, B. N., Jenkins, E. C., Brown, W. T. and Holden, J. J. A. (2003). Association of autism severity with a monoamine oxidase A functional polymorphism. *Clin. Genet.* 64, 190–7.

- Cohen, I. L., Liu, X., Lewis, M. E. S., Chudley, A., Forster-Gibson, C., Gonzalez, M., Jenkins, E. C., Brown, W. T. and Holden, J. J. A. (2011). Autism severity is associated with child and maternal MAOA genotypes. *Clin. Genet.* 79, 355–62.
- Compagnon, J. and Heisenberg, C.-P. (2013). Neurulation: coordinating cell polarisation and lumen formation. *EMBO J.* **32**, 1–3.
- Constantin, L., Poulsen, R. E., Scholz, L. A., Favre-Bulle, I. A., Taylor, M. A., Sun, B., Goodhill, G. J., Vanwalleghem, G. C. and Scott, E. K. (2020). Altered brain-wide auditory networks in a zebrafish model of fragile X syndrome. *BMC Biol.* 18, 125.
- Cortelazzo, A., Pietri, T., De Felice, C., Leoncini, S., Guerranti, R., Signorini, C., Timperio, A. M., Zolla, L., Ciccoli, L. and Hayek, J. (2017). Proteomic analysis of the Rett syndrome experimental model mecp2Q63X mutant zebrafish. J. Proteomics 154, 128–133.
- Courchesne, E., Mouton, P. R., Calhoun, M. E., Semendeferi, K., Ahrens-Barbeau, C., Hallet, M. J., Barnes, C. C. and Pierce, K. (2011). Neuron number and size in prefrontal cortex of children with autism. *JAMA* 306, 2001–10.
- Cowden, J., Padnos, B., Hunter, D., MacPhail, R., Jensen, K. and Padilla, S. (2012). Developmental exposure to valproate and ethanol alters locomotor activity and retino-tectal projection area in zebrafish embryos. *Reprod. Toxicol.* **33**, 165–73.
- Crandall, J. E., Hackett, H. E., Tobet, S. A., Kosofsky, B. E. and Bhide, P. G. (2004). Cocaine exposure decreases GABA neuron migration from the ganglionic eminence to the cerebral cortex in embryonic mice. *Cereb. Cortex* 14, 665–75.
- Crawley, J. N. (2012). Translational animal models of autism and neurodevelopmental disorders. *Dialogues Clin. Neurosci.* 14, 293–305.
- Crowder, J. M. and Bradford, H. F. (1987). Common Anticonvulsants Inhibit Ca2+ Uptake and Amino Acid Neurotransmitter Release In Vitro. *Epilepsia* 28, 378–382.
- Dahlström, A. and Fuxe, K. (1964). Localization of monoamines in the lower brain stem. *Experientia* 20, 398–9.
- Damier, P., Kastner, A., Agid, Y. and Hirsch, E. C. (1996). Does monoamine oxidase type B play a role in dopaminergic nerve cell death in Parkinson's disease? *Neurology* 46, 1262–1269.
- Davis, L. K., Hazlett, H. C., Librant, A. L., Nopoulos, P., Sheffield, V. C., Piven, J. and Wassink,
 T. H. (2008). Cortical enlargement in autism is associated with a functional VNTR in the monoamine oxidase A gene. Am. J. Med. Genet. B. Neuropsychiatr. Genet. 147B, 1145–51.
- Daws, L. C. (2009). Unfaithful neurotransmitter transporters: focus on serotonin uptake and implications for antidepressant efficacy. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 121, 89–99.
- de Krom, M., Staal, W. G., Ophoff, R. A., Hendriks, J., Buitelaar, J., Franke, B., de Jonge, M. V, Bolton, P., Collier, D., Curran, S., van Engeland, H. and van Ree, J. M. (2009). A common variant in DRD3 receptor is associated with autism spectrum disorder. *Biol. Psychiatry*

65, 625–30.

- Del Campo, N., Chamberlain, S. R., Sahakian, B. J. and Robbins, T. W. (2011). The roles of dopamine and noradrenaline in the pathophysiology and treatment of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Biol. Psychiatry* 69, e145–e157.
- Devlin, B., Melhem, N. and Roeder, K. (2011). Do common variants play a role in risk for autism? Evidence and theoretical musings. *Brain Res.* 1380, 78–84.
- Dozawa, M., Kono, H., Sato, Y., Ito, Y., Tanaka, H. and Ohshima, T. (2014). Valproic acid, a histone deacetylase inhibitor, regulates cell proliferation in the adult zebrafish optic tectum. *Dev. Dyn.* 243, 1401–1415.
- Durand, C. M., Betancur, C., Boeckers, T. M., Bockmann, J., Chaste, P., Fauchereau, F., Nygren, G., Rastam, M., Gillberg, I. C., Anckarsäter, H., Sponheim, E., Goubran-Botros, H., Delorme, R., Chabane, N., Mouren-Simeoni, M.-C., de Mas, P., Bieth, E., Rogé, B., Héron, D., Burglen, L., Gillberg, C., Leboyer, M. and Bourgeron, T. (2007). Mutations in the gene encoding the synaptic scaffolding protein SHANK3 are associated with autism spectrum disorders. *Nat. Genet.* 39, 25–7.
- Dutheil, F., Comptour, A., Morlon, R., Mermillod, M., Pereira, B., Baker, J. S., Charkhabi, M., Clinchamps, M. and Bourdel, N. (2021). Autism spectrum disorder and air pollution: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Environ. Pollut.* 278, 116856.
- Edalatmanesh, M. A., Nikfarjam, H., Vafaee, F. and Moghadas, M. (2013). Increased hippocampal cell density and enhanced spatial memory in the valproic acid rat model of autism. *Brain Res.* **1526**, 15–25.
- Edmiston, E., Ashwood, P. and Van de Water, J. (2017). Autoimmunity, autoantibodies, and autism spectrum disorder. *Biol. Psychiatry* 81, 383–390.
- Egan, R. J., Bergner, C. L., Hart, P. C., Cachat, J. M., Canavello, P. R., Elegante, M. F., Elkhayat, S. I., Bartels, B. K., Tien, A. K., Tien, D. H., Mohnot, S., Beeson, E., Glasgow, E., Amri, H., Zukowska, Z. and Kalueff, A. V (2009). Understanding behavioral and physiological phenotypes of stress and anxiety in zebrafish. *Behav. Brain Res.* 205, 38–44.
- Eiden, L. E. and Weihe, E. (2011). VMAT2: a dynamic regulator of brain monoaminergic neuronal function interacting with drugs of abuse. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* **1216**, 86–98.
- Eissa, N., Jayaprakash, P., Azimullah, S., Ojha, S. K., Al-Houqani, M., Jalal, F. Y., Łażewska, D., Kieć-Kononowicz, K. and Sadek, B. (2018). The histamine H3R antagonist DL77 attenuates autistic behaviors in a prenatal valproic acid-induced mouse model of autism. *Sci. Rep.* 8, 13077.
- Eissa, N., Azimullah, S., Jayaprakash, P., Jayaraj, R. L., Reiner, D., Ojha, S. K., Beiram, R., Stark, H., Lażewska, D., Kieć-Kononowicz, K. and Sadek, B. (2019). The dual-active histamine H3 receptor antagonist and acetylcholine esterase inhibitor E100 ameliorates stereotyped repetitive behavior and neuroinflammmation in sodium valproate induced autism in mice. *Chem. Biol. Interact.* 312, 108775.

- Ellenbroek, B. A., August, C. and Youn, J. (2016). Does prenatal valproate interact with a genetic reduction in the serotonin transporter? A rat study on anxiety and cognition. *Front. Neurosci.* 10, 424.
- Elliott, D. A., Kim, W. S., Jans, D. A. and Garner, B. (2007). Apoptosis induces neuronal apolipoprotein-E synthesis and localization in apoptotic bodies. *Neurosci. Lett.* **416**, 206–210.
- Elnahas, E. M., Abuelezz, S. A., Mohamad, M. I., Nabil, M. M., Abdelraouf, S. M., Bahaa, N., Hassan, G. A., Ibrahim, E. A., Ahmed, A. I. and Aboul-Fotouh, S. (2021). Validation of prenatal versus postnatal valproic acid rat models of autism: A behavioral and neurobiological study. *Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry* 108, 110185.
- Ergaz, Z., Weinstein-Fudim, L. and Ornoy, A. (2016). Genetic and non-genetic animal models for autism spectrum disorders (ASD). *Reprod. Toxicol.* 64, 116–40.
- Eriksson, K. S., Peitsaro, N., Karlstedt, K., Kaslin, J. and Panula, P. (1998). Development of the histaminergic neurons and expression of histidine decarboxylase mRNA in the zebrafish brain in the absence of all peripheral histaminergic systems. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* **10**, 3799–3812.
- Ernst, M., Zametkin, A. J., Matochik, J. A., Pascualvaca, D. and Cohen, R. M. (1997). Low medial prefrontal dopaminergic activity in autistic children. *Lancet (London, England)* 350, 638.
- Favre, M. R., Barkat, T. R., Lamendola, D., Khazen, G., Markram, H. and Markram, K. (2013). General developmental health in the VPA-rat model of autism. *Front. Behav. Neurosci.* 7, 88.
- Favre, M. R., La Mendola, D., Meystre, J., Christodoulou, D., Cochrane, M. J., Markram, H. and Markram, K. (2015). Predictable enriched environment prevents development of hyperemotionality in the VPA rat model of autism. *Front Neurosci* 9, 127.
- Fehr, C., Sommerlad, D., Sander, T., Anghelescu, I., Dahmen, N., Szegedi, A., Mueller, C., Zill, P., Soyka, M. and Preuss, U. W. (2013). Association of VMAT2 gene polymorphisms with alcohol dependence. J. Neural Transm. 120, 1161–1169.
- Finberg, J. P. M. (2014). Update on the pharmacology of selective inhibitors of MAO-A and MAO-B: focus on modulation of CNS monoamine neurotransmitter release. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 143, 133–52.
- Finney, J. L., Robertson, G. N., McGee, C. A. S., Smith, F. M. and Croll, R. P. (2006). Structure and autonomic innervation of the swim bladder in the zebrafish (Danio rerio). J. Comp. Neurol. 495, 587–606.
- Fleming, A., Diekmann, H. and Goldsmith, P. (2013). Functional characterisation of the maturation of the blood-brain barrier in larval zebrafish. *PLoS One* **8**, e77548.
- Folgueira, M., Riva-Mendoza, S., Ferreño-Galmán, N., Castro, A., Bianco, I. H., Anadón, R. and Yáñez, J. (2020). Anatomy and connectivity of the torus longitudinalis of the adult zebrafish. *Front. Neural Circuits* 14, 8.

Fombonne, E. (2009). Epidemiology of pervasive developmental disorders. *Pediatr. Res.* 65, 591–82

598.

- Fon, E. A., Pothos, E. N., Sun, B. C., Killeen, N., Sulzer, D. and Edwards, R. H. (1997). Vesicular transport regulates monoamine storage and release but is not essential for amphetamine action. *Neuron* 19, 1271–1283.
- Francescangeli, J., Karamchandani, K., Powell, M. and Bonavia, A. (2019). The serotonin syndrome: From molecular mechanisms to clinical practice. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 20,.
- Fukui, M., Rodriguiz, R. M., Zhou, J., Jiang, S. X., Phillips, L. E., Caron, M. G. and Wetsel, W. C. (2007). Vmat2 heterozygous mutant mice display a depressive-like phenotype. J. Neurosci. 27, 10520–10529.
- Gabriele, S., Sacco, R. and Persico, A. M. (2014). Blood serotonin levels in autism spectrum disorder: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* 24, 919–929.
- Garg, S., Plasschaert, E., Descheemaeker, M.-J., Huson, S., Borghgraef, M., Vogels, A., Evans, D. G., Legius, E. and Green, J. (2015). Autism spectrum disorder profile in neurofibromatosis type I. J. Autism Dev. Disord. 45, 1649–57.
- Gaspar, P. and Lillesaar, C. (2012). Probing the diversity of serotonin neurons. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B. Biol. Sci.* 367, 2382–94.
- Gaugler, T., Klei, L., Sanders, S. J., Bodea, C. A., Goldberg, A. P., Lee, A. B., Mahajan, M., Manaa, D., Pawitan, Y., Reichert, J., Ripke, S., Sandin, S., Sklar, P., Svantesson, O., Reichenberg, A., Hultman, C. M., Devlin, B., Roeder, K. and Buxbaum, J. D. (2014). Most genetic risk for autism resides with common variation. *Nat. Genet.* 46, 881–5.
- Gauthier, J., Siddiqui, T. J., Huashan, P., Yokomaku, D., Hamdan, F. F., Champagne, N., Lapointe, M., Spiegelman, D., Noreau, A., Lafrenière, R. G., Fathalli, F., Joober, R., Krebs, M.-O., DeLisi, L. E., Mottron, L., Fombonne, E., Michaud, J. L., Drapeau, P., Carbonetto, S., Craig, A. M. and Rouleau, G. A. (2011). Truncating mutations in NRXN2 and NRXN1 in autism spectrum disorders and schizophrenia. *Hum. Genet.* 130, 563–73.
- Gerlach, G. and Wullimann, M. F. (2021). Neural pathways of olfactory kin imprinting and kin recognition in zebrafish. *Cell Tissue Res.* 383, 273–287.
- Gerlai, R. (2011). A small fish with a big future: zebrafish in behavioral neuroscience. *Rev Neurosci* 22, 3–4.
- Gerlai, R. (2017). Animated images in the analysis of zebrafish behavior. Curr. Zool. 63, 35-44.
- Giacomini, N. J., Rose, B., Kobayashi, K. and Guo, S. (2006). Antipsychotics produce locomotor impairment in larval zebrafish. *Neurotoxicol. Teratol.* 28, 245–50.
- Gillberg, C. and Wahlström, J. (1985). Chromosome abnormalities in infantile autism and other childhood psychoses: a population study of 66 cases. *Dev. Med. Child Neurol.* 27, 293–304.
- Girgis, R. R., Slifstein, M., Xu, X., Frankle, W. G., Anagnostou, E., Wasserman, S., Pepa, L., 83

Kolevzon, A., Abi-Dargham, A., Laruelle, M. and Hollander, E. (2011). The 5-HT2A receptor and serotonin transporter in Asperger's Disorder: A PET study with [11C]MDL 100907 and [11C]DASB. *Psychiatry Res. Neuroimaging* **194**, 230–234.

- Glover, V., Sandler, M., Owen, F. and Riley, G. J. (1977). Dopamine is a monoamine oxidase B substrate in man. *Nature* 265, 80–1.
- Go, H. S., Kim, K. C., Choi, C. S., Jeon, S. J., Kwon, K. J., Han, S.-H., Lee, J., Cheong, J. H., Ryu, J. H., Kim, C.-H., Ko, K. H. and Shin, C. Y. (2012). Prenatal exposure to valproic acid increases the neural progenitor cell pool and induces macrocephaly in rat brain via a mechanism involving the GSK-3β/β-catenin pathway. *Neuropharmacology* 63, 1028–41.
- Goldberg, J., Anderson, G. M., Zwaigenbaum, L., Hall, G. B. C., Nahmias, C., Thompson, A. and Szatmari, P. (2009). Cortical serotonin type-2 receptor density in parents of children with autism spectrum disorders. J. Autism Dev. Disord. 39, 97–104.
- Gottfried, C., Bambini-Junior, V., Francis, F., Riesgo, R. and Savino, W. (2015). The impact of neuroimmune alterations in autism spectrum disorder. *Front. Psychiatry* 6, 121.
- Griffin, A. L., Jaishankar, P., Grandjean, J.-M., Olson, S. H., Renslo, A. R. and Baraban, S. C. (2019). Zebrafish studies identify serotonin receptors mediating antiepileptic activity in Dravet syndrome. *Brain Commun.* 1, fcz008.
- Grimsby, J., Toth, M., Chen, K., Kumazawa, T., Klaidman, L., Adams, J. D., Karoum, F., Gal, J. and Shih, J. C. (1997). Increased stress response and beta-phenylethylamine in MAOBdeficient mice. *Nat. Genet.* 17, 206–10.
- Gu, F., Chauhan, V. and Chauhan, A. (2017). Monoamine oxidase-A and B activities in the cerebellum and frontal cortex of children and young adults with autism. *J. Neurosci. Res.* **95**, 1965–1972.
- Gupta, P., Khobragade, S. B. and Shingatgeri, V. M. (2014). Effect of various antiepileptic drugs in zebrafish PTZ-seizure model. *Indian J. Pharm. Sci.* 76, 157–163.
- Haas, H. and Panula, P. (2003). The role of histamine and the tuberomamillary nucleus in the nervous system. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 4, 121–130.
- Hamdan, F. F., Daoud, H., Piton, A., Gauthier, J., Dobrzeniecka, S., Krebs, M.-O., Joober, R., Lacaille, J.-C., Nadeau, A., Milunsky, J. M., Wang, Z., Carmant, L., Mottron, L., Beauchamp, M. H., Rouleau, G. A. and Michaud, J. L. (2011). De novo SYNGAP1 mutations in nonsyndromic intellectual disability and autism. *Biol. Psychiatry* 69, 898–901.
- Hamilton, P. J., Campbell, N. G., Sharma, S., Erreger, K., Herborg Hansen, F., Saunders, C., Belovich, A. N., NIH ARRA Autism Sequencing Consortium, N. A. A. S., Sahai, M. A., Cook, E. H., Gether, U., McHaourab, H. S., Matthies, H. J. G., Sutcliffe, J. S. and Galli, A. (2013). De novo mutation in the dopamine transporter gene associates dopamine dysfunction with autism spectrum disorder. *Mol. Psychiatry* 18, 1315–23.

Hannon, J. and Hoyer, D. (2008). Molecular biology of 5-HT receptors. *Behav. Brain Res.* 195, 84

198-213.

- Hatta, E., Yasuda, K. and Levi, R. (1997). Activation of histamine H3 receptors inhibits carriermediated norepinephrine release in a human model of protracted myocardial ischemia. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 283, 494–500.
- Hettinger, J. A., Liu, X., Schwartz, C. E., Michaelis, R. C. and Holden, J. J. A. (2008). A DRD1 haplotype is associated with risk for autism spectrum disorders in male-only affected sib-pair families. Am. J. Med. Genet. Part B Neuropsychiatr. Genet. 147B, 628–636.
- Hoffman, E. J., Turner, K. J., Fernandez, J. M., Cifuentes, D., Ghosh, M., Ijaz, S., Jain, R. A., Kubo, F., Bill, B. R., Baier, H., Granato, M., Barresi, M. J. F., Wilson, S. W., Rihel, J., State, M. W. and Giraldez, A. J. (2016). Estrogens suppress a behavioral phenotype in zebrafish mutants of the autism risk gene, CNTNAP2. *Neuron* 89, 725–733.
- Hökfelt, T., Fuxe, K., Goldstein, M. and Johansson, O. (1973). Evidence for adrenaline neurons in the rat brain. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* **89**, 286–8.
- Hori, K., Yamashiro, K., Nagai, T., Shan, W., Egusa, S. F., Shimaoka, K., Kuniishi, H., Sekiguchi, M., Go, Y., Tatsumoto, S., Yamada, M., Shiraishi, R., Kanno, K., Miyashita, S., Sakamoto, A., Abe, M., Sakimura, K., Sone, M., Sohya, K., Kunugi, H., Wada, K., Yamada, M., Yamada, K. and Hoshino, M. (2020). AUTS2 regulation of synapses for proper synaptic inputs and social communication. *iScience* 23, 101183.
- Hsiao, E. Y. (2014). Gastrointestinal issues in autism spectrum disorder. *Harv. Rev. Psychiatry* 22, 104–111.
- Ingram, J. L., Peckham, S. M., Tisdale, B. and Rodier, P. M. (2000). Prenatal exposure of rats to valproic acid reproduces the cerebellar anomalies associated with autism. *Neurotoxicol Teratol* 22, 319–324.
- Irons, T. D., Kelly, P. E., Hunter, D. L., MacPhail, R. C. and Padilla, S. (2013). Acute administration of dopaminergic drugs has differential effects on locomotion in larval zebrafish. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 103, 792–813.
- Isingrini, E., Perret, L., Rainer, Q., Sagueby, S., Moquin, L., Gratton, A. and Giros, B. (2016). Selective genetic disruption of dopaminergic, serotonergic and noradrenergic neurotransmission: insights into motor, emotional and addictive behaviour. J. Psychiatry Neurosci. 41, 169–181.
- Iversen, L. L. (1971). Role of transmitter uptake mechanisms in synaptic neurotransmission. Br. J. Pharmacol. 41, 571–91.
- Iwabuchi, K., Ito, C., Tashiro, M., Kato, M., Kano, M., Itoh, M., Iwata, R., Matsuoka, H., Sato, M. and Yanai, K. (2005). Histamine H1 receptors in schizophrenic patients measured by positron emission tomography. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* 15, 185–191.
- Jaka, O., Iturria, I., van der Toorn, M., Hurtado de Mendoza, J., Latino, D. A. R. S., Alzualde, A., Peitsch, M. C., Hoeng, J. and Koshibu, K. (2021). Effects of natural monoamine oxidase

inhibitors on anxiety-like behavior in zebrafish. Front. Pharmacol. 12, 669370.

- Jiang, H.-Y., Xu, L.-L., Shao, L., Xia, R.-M., Yu, Z.-H., Ling, Z.-X., Yang, F., Deng, M. and Ruan, B. (2016). Maternal infection during pregnancy and risk of autism spectrum disorders: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Brain. Behav. Immun.* 58, 165–172.
- Jie, Z., Li, T., Jia-Yun, H., Qiu, J., Ping-Yao, Z. and HouYan, S. (2009). Trans-2phenylcyclopropylamine induces nerve cells apoptosis in zebrafish mediated by depression of LSD1 activity. *Brain Res. Bull.* **80**, 79–84.
- Jin, K., Peel, A. L., Mao, X. O., Xie, L., Cottrell, B. A., Henshall, D. C. and Greenberg, D. A. (2004). Increased hippocampal neurogenesis in Alzheimer's disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.* S. A. 101, 343–7.
- Joh, T. H. and Hwang, O. (1987). Dopamine beta-hydroxylase: biochemistry and molecular biology. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* **493**, 342–50.
- Johannessen, C. U. (2000). Mechanisms of action of valproate: a commentatory. *Neurochem. Int.* **37**, 103–10.
- Joseph, T. P., Zhou, F., Sai, L. Y., Chen, H., Lin, S. L. and Schachner, M. (2021). Duloxetine ameliorates valproic acid-induced hyperactivity, anxiety-like behavior, and social interaction deficits in zebrafish. *Autism Res.*
- Jurič, D. M., Kržan, M. and Lipnik-Stangelj, M. (2016). Histamine and astrocyte function. *Pharmacol. Res.* 111, 774–783.
- Kalueff, A. V, Stewart, A. M. and Gerlai, R. (2014). Zebrafish as an emerging model for studying complex brain disorders. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* 35, 63–75.
- Karhunen, T., Tilgmann, C., Ulmanen, I., Julkunen, I. and Panula, P. (1994). Distribution of catechol-O-methyltransferase enzyme in rat tissues. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 42, 1079–90.
- Karhunen, T., Tilgmann, C., Ulmanen, I. and Panula, P. (1995). Catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT) in rat brain: immunoelectron microscopic study with an antiserum against rat recombinant COMT protein. *Neurosci. Lett.* 187, 57–60.
- Karlstedt, K., Jin, C. and Panula, P. (2013). Expression of histamine receptor Hrh3 and Hrh4 in rat brain endothelial cells. *Br J Pharmacol*.
- Karoum, F., Chuang, L. W., Eisler, T., Calne, D. B., Liebowitz, M. R., Quitkin, F. M., Klein, D. F. and Wyatt, R. J. (1982). Metabolism of (-) deprenyl to amphetamine and methamphetamine may be responsible for deprenyl's therapeutic benefit: a biochemical assessment. *Neurology* 32, 503–9.
- Kaslin, J. and Panula, P. (2001). Comparative anatomy of the histaminergic and other aminergic systems in zebrafish (Danio rerio). 377, 342–377.
- Kaslin, J., Nystedt, J. M., Ostergård, M., Peitsaro, N. and Panula, P. (2004). The 86

orexin/hypocretin system in zebrafish is connected to the aminergic and cholinergic systems. J. Neurosci. 24, 2678–89.

- Kaur, N., Kumar, P., Jamwal, S., Deshmukh, R. and Gauttam, V. (2016). Tetrabenazine: Spotlight on drug review. *Ann. Neurosci.* 23, 176–185.
- Kilb, W. (2012). Development of the GABAergic system from birth to adolescence. *Neuroscientist* 18, 613–30.
- Kim, H.-G., Kishikawa, S., Higgins, A. W., Seong, I.-S., Donovan, D. J., Shen, Y., Lally, E., Weiss, L. A., Najm, J., Kutsche, K., Descartes, M., Holt, L., Braddock, S., Troxell, R., Kaplan, L., Volkmar, F., Klin, A., Tsatsanis, K., Harris, D. J., Noens, I., Pauls, D. L., Daly, M. J., MacDonald, M. E., Morton, C. C., Quade, B. J. and Gusella, J. F. (2008). Disruption of neurexin 1 associated with autism spectrum disorder. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 82, 199–207.
- Kim, S.-H., Speirs, C. K., Solnica-Krezel, L. and Ess, K. C. (2011). Zebrafish model of tuberous sclerosis complex reveals cell-autonomous and non-cell-autonomous functions of mutant tuberin. *Dis. Model. Mech.* 4, 255–67.
- Kim, O.-H., Cho, H.-J., Han, E., Hong, T. I., Ariyasiri, K., Choi, J.-H., Hwang, K.-S., Jeong, Y.-M., Yang, S.-Y., Yu, K., Park, D.-S., Oh, H.-W., Davis, E. E., Schwartz, C. E., Lee, J.-S., Kim, H.-G. and Kim, C.-H. (2017). Zebrafish knockout of Down syndrome gene, DYRK1A, shows social impairments relevant to autism. *Mol. Autism* 8, 50.
- Koh, A., Tao, S., Jing Goh, Y., Chaganty, V., See, K., Purushothaman, K., Orbán, L., Mathuru, A. S., Wohland, T. and Winkler, C. (2021). A Neurexin2aa deficiency results in axon pathfinding defects and increased anxiety in zebrafish. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 29, 3765–3780.
- Lachowicz, J. E. and Sibley, D. R. (1997). Molecular characteristics of mammalian dopamine receptors. *Pharmacol. Toxicol.* 81, 105–13.
- Lauter, G., Söll, I. and Hauptmann, G. (2014). Sensitive whole-mount fluorescent in situ hybridization in zebrafish using enhanced tyramide signal amplification. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 1082, 175–85.
- Lee, Y., Kim, Y.-H., Yun, J.-S. and Lee, C.-J. (2013). Valproic acid decreases the proliferation of telencephalic cells in zebrafish larvae. *Neurotoxicol. Teratol.* 39, 91–9.
- Leurs, R., Chazot, P. L., Shenton, F. C., Lim, H. D. and de Esch, I. J. (2009). Molecular and biochemical pharmacology of the histamine H4 receptor. *Br J Pharmacol* 157, 14–23.
- Li, Z., Zhu, Y.-X., Gu, L.-J. and Cheng, Y. (2021). Understanding autism spectrum disorders with animal models: applications, insights, and perspectives. *Zool. Res.* 42, 800–824.
- Lillesaar, C., Tannhäuser, B., Stigloher, C., Kremmer, E. and Bally-Cuif, L. (2007). The serotonergic phenotype is acquired by converging genetic mechanisms within the zebrafish central nervous system. *Dev. Dyn.* 236, 1072–1084.

Linday, L. A. (1997). Oral famotidine: a potential treatment for children with autism. Med

Hypotheses 48, 381-386.

- Linday, L. A., Tsiouris, J. A., Cohen, I. L., Shindledecker, R. and DeCresce, R. (2001). Famotidine treatment of children with autistic spectrum disorders: pilot research using single subject research design. J Neural Transm 108, 593–611.
- Liu, Y., Peter, D., Roghani, A., Schuldiner, S., Privé, G. G., Eisenberg, D., Brecha, N. and Edwards, R. H. (1992). A cDNA that suppresses MPP+ toxicity encodes a vesicular amine transporter. *Cell* **70**, 539–51.
- Liu, C., Wang, Y., Deng, J., Lin, J., Hu, C., Li, Q. and Xu, X. (2021). Social deficits and repetitive behaviors are improved by early postnatal low-dose VPA intervention in a novel shank3-deficient zebrafish model. *Front. Neurosci.* **15**, 682054.
- Lohr, K. M. and Miller, G. W. (2014). VMAT2 and Parkinson's disease: harnessing the dopamine vesicle. *Expert Rev. Neurother.* 14, 1115–1117.
- Lord, C., Brugha, T. S., Charman, T., Cusack, J., Dumas, G., Frazier, T., Jones, E. J. H., Jones, R. M., Pickles, A., State, M. W., Taylor, J. L. and Veenstra-VanderWeele, J. (2020). Autism spectrum disorder. *Nat. Rev. Dis. Prim.* 6, 5.
- Lovenberg, W., Weissbach, H. and Udenfriend, S. (1962). Aromatic L-amino acid decarboxylase. *J. Biol. Chem.* 237, 89–93.
- Lovenberg, W., Jequier, E. and Sjoerdsma, A. (1967). Tryptophan hydroxylation: measurement in pineal gland, brainstem, and carcinoid tumor. *Science* **155**, 217–9.
- Man, K. K. C., Tong, H. H. Y., Wong, L. Y. L., Chan, E. W., Simonoff, E. and Wong, I. C. K. (2015). Exposure to selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors during pregnancy and risk of autism spectrum disorder in children: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 49, 82–9.
- Männistö, P. T. and Kaakkola, S. (1999). Catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT): Biochemistry, molecular biology, pharmacology, and clinical efficacy of the new selective COMT inhibitors. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 51, 593–628.
- Mansour, Y., Ahmed, S. N. and Kulesza, R. (2021). Abnormal morphology and subcortical projections to the medial geniculate in an animal model of autism. *Exp. Brain Res.* 239, 381–400.
- Mariottini, C., Scartabelli, T., Bongers, G., Arrigucci, S., Nosi, D., Leurs, R., Chiarugi, A., Blandina, P., Pellegrini-Giampietro, D. E. and Passani, M. B. (2009). Activation of the histaminergic H3 receptor induces phosphorylation of the Akt/GSK-3 beta pathway in cultured cortical neurons and protects against neurotoxic insults. J Neurochem 110, 1469–1478.
- Marrus, N., Underwood-Riordan, H., Randall, F., Zhang, Y. and Constantino, J. N. (2014). Lack of effect of risperidone on core autistic symptoms: data from a longitudinal study. J. Child Adolesc. Psychopharmacol. 24, 513–8.

- Martres, M. P., Baudry, M. and Schwartz, J. C. (1975). Histamine synthesis in the developing rat brain: evidence for a multiple compartmentation. Brain Res 83, 261-275.
- Mätlik, K., Anttila, J. E., Kuan-Yin, T., Smolander, O.-P., Pakarinen, E., Lehtonen, L., Abo-Ramadan, U., Lindholm, P., Zheng, C., Harvey, B., Arumäe, U., Lindahl, M. and Airavaara, M. (2018). Poststroke delivery of MANF promotes functional recovery in rats. Sci. Adv. 4, eaap8957.
- McCracken, J. T., McGough, J., Shah, B., Cronin, P., Hong, D., Aman, M. G., Arnold, L. E., Lindsay, R., Nash, P., Hollway, J., McDougle, C. J., Posey, D., Swiezy, N., Kohn, A., Scahill, L., Martin, A., Koenig, K., Volkmar, F., Carroll, D., Lancor, A., Tierney, E., Ghuman, J., Gonzalez, N. M., Grados, M., Vitiello, B., Ritz, L., Davies, M., Robinson, J., McMahon, D. and Research Units on Pediatric Psychopharmacology Autism Network (2002). Risperidone in children with autism and serious behavioral problems, N. Engl. J. Med. 347, 314–21.
- Merickel, A. and Edwards, R. H. (1995). Transport of histamine by vesicular monoamine transporter-2. Neuropharmacology 34, 1543–1547.
- Moss, J. and Howlin, P. (2009). Autism spectrum disorders in genetic syndromes: implications for diagnosis, intervention and understanding the wider autism spectrum disorder population. JIntellect Disabil Res 53, 852–873.
- Muhsen, M., Youngs, J., Riu, A., Gustafsson, J.-Å., Kondamadugu, V. S., Garyfalidis, E. and Bondesson, M. (2021). Folic acid supplementation rescues valproic acid-induced developmental neurotoxicity and behavioral alterations in zebrafish embryos. Epilepsia 62, 1689-1700.
- Mulder, E. J., Anderson, G. M., Kema, I. P., Brugman, A. M., Ketelaars, C. E. J., de Bildt, A., van Lang, N. D. J., den Boer, J. A. and Minderaa, R. B. (2005). Serotonin transporter intron 2 polymorphism associated with rigid-compulsive behaviors in Dutch individuals with pervasive developmental disorder. Am. J. Med. Genet. B. Neuropsychiatr. Genet. 133B, 93-6.
- Murphy, D. G. M., Daly, E., Schmitz, N., Toal, F., Murphy, K., Curran, S., Erlandsson, K., Eersels, J., Kerwin, R., Ell, P. and Travis, M. (2006). Cortical serotonin 5-HT2A receptor binding and social communication in adults with Asperger's syndrome: an in vivo SPECT study. Am. J. Psychiatry 163, 934-6.
- Naderi, M., Jamwal, A., Ferrari, M. C. O., Niyogi, S. and Chivers, D. P. (2016). Dopamine receptors participate in acquisition and consolidation of latent learning of spatial information in zebrafish (Danio rerio). Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry 67, 21–30.
- Nagatsu, T., Levitt, M. and Udenfriend, S. (1964). Tyrosine hydroxylase. The initial step in norepinephrine biosynthesis. J. Biol. Chem. 239, 2910-2917.
- Nakazawa, K., Zsiros, V., Jiang, Z., Nakao, K., Kolata, S., Zhang, S. and Belforte, J. E. (2012). GABAergic interneuron origin of schizophrenia pathophysiology. Neuropharmacology 62, 1574-83.

Napolitano, A., Cesura, A. M. and Da Prada, M. (1995). The role of monoamine oxidase and

catechol O-methyltransferase in dopaminergic neurotransmission. J. Neural Transm. Suppl. 45, 35–45.

- Narita, N., Kato, M., Tazoe, M., Miyazaki, K., Narita, M. and Okado, N. (2002). Increased monoamine concentration in the brain and blood of fetal thalidomide- and valproic acid-exposed rat: putative animal models for autism. *Pediatr Res* **52**, 576–579.
- Nau, H. and Löscher, W. (1982). Valproic acid: brain and plasma levels of the drug and its metabolites, anticonvulsant effects and gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) metabolism in the mouse. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 220, 654–9.
- Nguyen-Legros, J., Berger, B., Vigny, A. and Alvarez, C. (1982). Presence of interplexiform dopaminergic neurons in the rat retina. *Brain Res. Bull.* 9, 379–81.
- Nishimura, Y., Inoue, A., Sasagawa, S., Koiwa, J., Kawaguchi, K., Kawase, R., Maruyama, T., Kim, S. and Tanaka, T. (2016). Using zebrafish in systems toxicology for developmental toxicity testing. *Congenit. Anom. (Kyoto).* 56, 18–27.
- Norton, W. H. J., Folchert, A. and Bally-Cuif, L. (2008). Comparative analysis of serotonin receptor (HTR1A/HTR1B families) and transporter (*slc6a4a/b*) gene expression in the zebrafish brain. *J. Comp. Neurol.* 511, 521–542.
- Norton, W. H. J., Stumpenhorst, K., Faus-Kessler, T., Folchert, A., Rohner, N., Harris, M. P., Callebert, J. and Bally-Cuif, L. (2011). Modulation of Fgfr1a signaling in zebrafish reveals a genetic basis for the aggression-boldness syndrome. J. Neurosci. 31, 13796–807.
- Nuutinen, S. and Panula, P. (2010). Histamine in neurotransmission and brain diseases. *Adv Exp Med Biol* **709**, 95–107.
- Nuutinen, S., Vanhanen, J., Pigni, M. C. and Panula, P. (2011). Effects of histamine H3 receptor ligands on the rewarding, stimulant and motor-impairing effects of ethanol in DBA/2J mice. *Neuropharmacology* 60, 1193–1199.
- Oblak, A., Gibbs, T. T. and Blatt, G. J. (2013). Reduced serotonin receptor subtypes in a limbic and a neocortical region in autism. *Autism Res.* 6, 571–83.
- Ohira, K. (2019). Dopamine stimulates differentiation and migration of cortical interneurons. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **512**, 577–583.
- **Oreland, L. and Hallman, J.** (1995). The correlation between platelet MAO activity and personality: short review of findings and a discussion on possible mechanisms. *Prog. Brain Res.* **106**, 77–84.
- Pan, Y. K., Jensen, G. and Perry, S. F. (2021). Disruption of tph1 genes demonstrates the importance of serotonin in regulating ventilation in larval zebrafish (Danio rerio). *Respir. Physiol. Neurobiol.* 285, 103594.
- Panula, P. and Nuutinen, S. (2013). The histaminergic network in the brain: basic organization and role in disease. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 14, 472–487.

- Panula, P., Airaksinen, M. S., Pirvola, U. and Kotilainen, E. (1990). A histamine-containing neuronal system in human brain. *Neuroscience* 34, 127–132.
- Panula, P., Sallinen, V., Sundvik, M., Kolehmainen, J., Torkko, V., Tiittula, A., Moshnyakov, M. and Podlasz, P. (2006). Modulatory neurotransmitter systems and behavior: towards zebrafish models of neurodegenerative diseases. *Zebrafish* 3, 235–247.
- Panula, P., Chen, Y.-C., Priyadarshini, M., Kudo, H., Semenova, S., Sundvik, M. and Sallinen, V. (2010). The comparative neuroanatomy and neurochemistry of zebrafish CNS systems of relevance to human neuropsychiatric diseases. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 40, 46–57.
- Panula, P., Sundvik, M. and Karlstedt, K. (2014). Developmental roles of brain histamine. *Trends Neurosci* 37, 159–168.
- Panula, P., Chen, Y.-C., Baronio, D., Lewis, S. and Sundvik, M. (2021). The histamine system in zebrafish brain: Organization, receptors, and behavioral roles. In *Current topics in behavioral neurosciences*, p. Curr Top Behav Neurosci.
- Pardo, C. A. and Eberhart, C. G. (2007). The neurobiology of autism. Brain Pathol 17, 434-447.
- Parmentier, R., Anaclet, C., Guhennec, C., Brousseau, E., Bricout, D., Giboulot, T., Bozyczko-Coyne, D., Spiegel, K., Ohtsu, H., Williams, M. and Lin, J. S. (2007). The brain H3-receptor as a novel therapeutic target for vigilance and sleep-wake disorders. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 73, 1157–71.
- Parsons, M. E. and Ganellin, C. R. (2006). Histamine and its receptors. Br. J. Pharmacol. 147 Suppl 1, S127-35.
- Passani, M. B. and Blandina, P. (2011). Histamine receptors in the CNS as targets for therapeutic intervention. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 32, 242–9.
- Patterson, P. H. (2011a). Maternal infection and immune involvement in autism. *Trends Mol Med* 17, 389–394.
- Patterson, P. H. (2011b). Modeling autistic features in animals. Pediatr Res 69, 34R-40R.
- Peitsaro, N., Sundvik, M., Anichtchik, O. V., Kaslin, J. and Panula, P. (2007). Identification of zebrafish histamine H1, H2 and H3 receptors and effects of histaminergic ligands on behavior. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 73, 1205–1214.
- Pennington, S., Stutzman, D. and Sannar, E. (2021). Pitolisant in an adolescent with Prader-Willi syndrome. J. Pediatr. Pharmacol. Ther. 26, 405–410.
- Pifl, C., Rajput, A., Reither, H., Blesa, J., Cavada, C., Obeso, J. A., Rajput, A. H. and Hornykiewicz, O. (2014). Is Parkinson's disease a vesicular dopamine storage disorder? Evidence from a study in isolated synaptic vesicles of human and nonhuman primate striatum. J. Neurosci. 34, 8210–8.
- Pinto, D., Darvishi, K., Shi, X., Rajan, D., Rigler, D., Fitzgerald, T., Lionel, A. C.,

Thiruvahindrapuram, B., Macdonald, J. R., Mills, R., Prasad, A., Noonan, K., Gribble, S., Prigmore, E., Donahoe, P. K., Smith, R. S., Park, J. H., Hurles, M. E., Carter, N. P., Lee, C., Scherer, S. W. and Feuk, L. (2011). Comprehensive assessment of array-based platforms and calling algorithms for detection of copy number variants. *Nat. Biotechnol.* **29**, 512–20.

- Pitcher, T. J. (1986). Functions of shoaling behaviour in teleosts. In *The Behaviour of Teleost Fishes*, pp. 294–337. Boston, MA: Springer US.
- Postlethwait, J. H., Yan, Y. L., Gates, M. A., Horne, S., Amores, A., Brownlie, A., Donovan, A., Egan, E. S., Force, A., Gong, Z., Goutel, C., Fritz, A., Kelsh, R., Knapik, E., Liao, E., Paw, B., Ransom, D., Singer, A., Thomson, M., Abduljabbar, T. S., Yelick, P., Beier, D., Joly, J. S., Larhammar, D., Rosa, F., Westerfield, M., Zon, L. I., Johnson, S. L. and Talbot, W. S. (1998). Vertebrate genome evolution and the zebrafish gene map. *Nat. Genet.* 18, 345–9.
- Puttonen, H. A. J., Sundvik, M., Rozov, S., Chen, Y.-C. C. and Panula, P. (2013). Acute ethanol treatment upregulates th1, th2, and hdc in larval zebrafish in stable networks. *Front Neural Circuits* 7, 102.
- Puttonen, H. A. J., Semenova, S., Sundvik, M. and Panula, P. (2017). Storage of neural histamine and histaminergic neurotransmission is VMAT2 dependent in the zebrafish. *Sci. Rep.* 7, 3060.
- Puttonen, H. A. J., Sundvik, M., Semenova, S., Shirai, Y., Chen, Y. C. and Panula, P. (2018). Knockout of histamine receptor H3 alters adaptation to sudden darkness and monoamine levels in the zebrafish. *Acta Physiol.* 222,.
- Quartier, A., Courraud, J., Thi Ha, T., McGillivray, G., Isidor, B., Rose, K., Drouot, N., Savidan, M.-A., Feger, C., Jagline, H., Chelly, J., Shaw, M., Laumonnier, F., Gecz, J., Mandel, J.-L. and Piton, A. (2019). Novel mutations in NLGN3 causing autism spectrum disorder and cognitive impairment. *Hum. Mutat.* 40, 2021–2032.
- Radyushkin, K., Hammerschmidt, K., Boretius, S., Varoqueaux, F., El-Kordi, A., Ronnenberg, A., Winter, D., Frahm, J., Fischer, J., Brose, N. and Ehrenreich, H. (2009). Neuroligin-3deficient mice: model of a monogenic heritable form of autism with an olfactory deficit. *Genes. Brain. Behav.* 8, 416–25.
- Randesi, M., van den Brink, W., Levran, O., Blanken, P., van Ree, J. M., Ott, J. and Kreek, M. J. (2019). VMAT2 gene (SLC18A2) variants associated with a greater risk for developing opioid dependence. *Pharmacogenomics* 20, 331–341.
- Riccio, O., Jacobshagen, M., Golding, B., Vutskits, L., Jabaudon, D., Hornung, J. P. and Dayer,
 A. G. (2011). Excess of serotonin affects neocortical pyramidal neuron migration. *Transl. Psychiatry* 1, e47.
- Richards, C., Jones, C., Groves, L., Moss, J. and Oliver, C. (2015). Prevalence of autism spectrum disorder phenomenology in genetic disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *The lancet. Psychiatry* 2, 909–16.
- Rilstone, J. J., Alkhater, R. A. and Minassian, B. A. (2013). Brain dopamine–serotonin vesicular transport disease and its treatment. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **368**, 543–550.

- Rink, E. and Wullimann, M. F. (2002). Development of the catecholaminergic system in the early zebrafish brain: an immunohistochemical study. *Brain Res. Dev. Brain Res.* 137, 89–100.
- Robea, M. A., Ciobica, A., Curpan, A. S., Plavan, G., Strungaru, S., Lefter, R. and Nicoara, M. (2021). Preliminary results regarding sleep in a zebrafish model of autism spectrum disorder. *Brain Sci.* 11,.
- Rodier, P. M., Ingram, J. L., Tisdale, B., Nelson, S. and Romano, J. (1996). Embryological origin for autism: developmental anomalies of the cranial nerve motor nuclei. J. Comp. Neurol. 370, 247–9861.
- Rosales-Reynoso, M. A., Ochoa-Hernández, A. B., Aguilar-Lemarroy, A., Jave-Suárez, L. F., Troyo-Sanromán, R. and Barros-Núñez, P. (2010). Gene expression profiling identifies WNT7A as a possible candidate gene for decreased cancer risk in fragile X syndrome patients. *Arch Med Res* 41, 110-118.e2.
- Rozov, S. V, Zant, J. C., Karlstedt, K., Porkka-Heiskanen, T. and Panula, P. (2014). Periodic properties of the histaminergic system of the mouse brain. *Eur J Neurosci* 39, 218–228.
- Russo, F. B., Brito, A., de Freitas, A. M., Castanha, A., de Freitas, B. C. and Beltrão-Braga, P. C. B. (2019). The use of iPSC technology for modeling Autism Spectrum Disorders. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 130, 104483.
- Ruzzo, E. K., Pérez-Cano, L., Jung, J. Y., Wang, L. kai, Kashef-Haghighi, D., Hartl, C., Singh, C., Xu, J., Hoekstra, J. N., Leventhal, O., Leppä, V. M., Gandal, M. J., Paskov, K., Stockham, N., Polioudakis, D., Lowe, J. K., Prober, D. A., Geschwind, D. H. and Wall, D. P. (2019). Inherited and de novo genetic risk for autism impacts shared networks. *Cell* 178, 850-866.e26.
- Sabol, S. Z., Hu, S. and Hamer, D. (1998). A functional polymorphism in the monoamine oxidase A gene promoter. *Hum. Genet.* 103, 273–279.
- Sacher, J., Wilson, A. A., Houle, S., Rusjan, P., Hassan, S., Bloomfield, P. M., Stewart, D. E. and Meyer, J. H. (2010). Elevated brain monoamine oxidase A binding in the early postpartum period. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 67, 468–474.
- Sakano, D., Shiraki, N., Kikawa, K., Yamazoe, T., Kataoka, M., Umeda, K., Araki, K., Mao, D., Matsumoto, S., Nakagata, N., Andersson, O., Stainier, D., Endo, F., Kume, K., Uesugi, M. and Kume, S. (2014). VMAT2 identified as a regulator of late-stage β-cell differentiation. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 10, 141–148.
- Sallinen, V., Torkko, V., Sundvik, M., Reenilä, I., Khrustalyov, D., Kaslin, J. and Panula, P. (2009a). MPTP and MPP+ target specific aminergic cell populations in larval zebrafish. J. Neurochem. 108, 719–731.
- Sallinen, V., Sundvik, M., Reenilä, I., Peitsaro, N., Khrustalyov, D., Anichtchik, O., Toleikyte, G., Kaslin, J. and Panula, P. (2009b). Hyperserotonergic phenotype after monoamine oxidase inhibition in larval zebrafish. J. Neurochem. 109, 403–415.

- Santoriello, C. and Zon, L. I. (2012). Hooked! Modeling human disease in zebrafish. J. Clin. Invest. 122, 2337–43.
- Schedin-Weiss, S., Inoue, M., Hromadkova, L., Teranishi, Y., Yamamoto, N. G., Wiehager, B., Bogdanovic, N., Winblad, B., Sandebring-Matton, A., Frykman, S. and Tjernberg, L. O. (2017). Monoamine oxidase B is elevated in Alzheimer disease neurons, is associated with γsecretase and regulates neuronal amyloid β-peptide levels. *Alzheimers. Res. Ther.* **9**, 57.
- Schneider, T., Turczak, J. and Przewłocki, R. (2006). Environmental enrichment reverses behavioral alterations in rats prenatally exposed to valproic acid: issues for a therapeutic approach in autism. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 31, 36–46.
- Schneider, E. H., Neumann, D. and Seifert, R. (2014). Modulation of behavior by the histaminergic system: lessons from H(1)R-and H(2)R-deficient mice. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* 42, 252–266.
- Schnörr, S. J., Steenbergen, P. J., Richardson, M. K. and Champagne, D. L. (2012). Measuring thigmotaxis in larval zebrafish. *Behav. Brain Res.* 228, 367–374.
- Schulze, T. G., Müller, D. J., Krauss, H., Scherk, H., Ohlraun, S., Syagailo, Y. V., Windemuth, C., Neidt, H., Grässle, M., Papassotiropoulos, A., Heun, R., Nöthen, M. M., Maier, W., Lesch, K. P. and Rietschel, M. (2000). Association between a functional polymorphism in the monoamine oxidase A gene promoter and major depressive disorder. Am. J. Med. Genet. -Neuropsychiatr. Genet. 96, 801–803.
- Schumann, C. M. and Amaral, D. G. (2006). Stereological analysis of amygdala neuron number in autism. J. Neurosci. 26, 7674–7679.
- Schwartz, J. C. (2011). The histamine H3 receptor: from discovery to clinical trials with pitolisant. *Br J Pharmacol* 163, 713–721.
- Scott, L. J. and Dhillon, S. (2007). Risperidone: a review of its use in the treatment of irritability associated with autistic disorder in children and adolescents. *Paediatr. Drugs* 9, 343–54.
- Sebat, J., Lakshmi, B., Malhotra, D., Troge, J., Lese-Martin, C., Walsh, T., Yamrom, B., Yoon, S., Krasnitz, A., Kendall, J., Leotta, A., Pai, D., Zhang, R., Lee, Y.-H., Hicks, J., Spence, S. J., Lee, A. T., Puura, K., Lehtimäki, T., Ledbetter, D., Gregersen, P. K., Bregman, J., Sutcliffe, J. S., Jobanputra, V., Chung, W., Warburton, D., King, M.-C., Skuse, D., Geschwind, D. H., Gilliam, T. C., Ye, K. and Wigler, M. (2007). Strong association of de novo copy number mutations with autism. *Science* 316, 445–9.
- Segura-Aguilar, J., Mannervik, B., Inzunza, J., Varshney, M., Nalvarte, I. and Muñoz, P. (2022). Astrocytes protect dopaminergic neurons against aminochrome neurotoxicity. *Neural Regen. Res.* 17, 1861–1866.
- Semenova, S. A., Chen, Y.-C., Zhao, X., Rauvala, H. and Panula, P. (2014). The tyrosine hydroxylase 2 (TH2) system in zebrafish brain and stress activation of hypothalamic cells. *Histochem. Cell Biol.* 142, 619–33.
- Semenova, S., Rozov, S. and Panula, P. (2017). Distribution, properties, and inhibitor sensitivity of

zebrafish catechol-O-methyl transferases (COMT). Biochem. Pharmacol. 145, 147-157.

- Shelton, J. F., Geraghty, E. M., Tancredi, D. J., Delwiche, L. D., Schmidt, R. J., Ritz, B., Hansen, R. L. and Hertz-Picciotto, I. (2014). Neurodevelopmental disorders and prenatal residential proximity to agricultural pesticides: the CHARGE study. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 122, 1103– 9.
- Shruster, A., Melamed, E. and Offen, D. (2010). Neurogenesis in the aged and neurodegenerative brain. *Apoptosis* 15, 1415–1421.
- Sims, K. B., de la Chapelle, A., Norio, R., Sankila, E. M., Hsu, Y. P., Rinehart, W. B., Corey, T. J., Ozelius, L., Powell, J. F. and Bruns, G. (1989). Monoamine oxidase deficiency in males with an X chromosome deletion. *Neuron* 2, 1069–76.
- Smit, M. J., Hoffmann, M., Timmerman, H. and Leurs, R. (1999). Molecular properties and signalling pathways of the histamine H1 receptor. *Clin Exp Allergy* **29 Suppl 3**, 19–28.
- Speel, E. J., Saremaslani, P., Roth, J., Hopman, A. H. and Komminoth, P. (1998). Improved mRNA in situ hybridization on formaldehyde-fixed and paraffin-embedded tissue using signal amplification with different haptenized tyramides. *Histochem. Cell Biol.* **110**, 571–7.
- Stankovski, L., Alvarez, C., Ouimet, T., Vitalis, T., El-Hachimi, K. H., Price, D., Deneris, E., Gaspar, P. and Cases, O. (2007). Developmental cell death is enhanced in the cerebral cortex of mice lacking the brain vesicular monoamine transporter. J. Neurosci. 27, 1315–24.
- Steinbusch, H. W. M., Van Vliet, S. P., Bol, J. G. J. M. and De Vente, J. (1991). Development and application of antibodies to primary (DA, L-DOPA) and secondary (cGMP) messengers: A technical report. In *Neurocytochemical Methods*, pp. 1–27. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Stevenson, J., Sonuga-Barke, E., McCann, D., Grimshaw, K., Parker, K. M., Rose-Zerilli, M. J., Holloway, J. W. and Warner, J. O. (2010). The role of histamine degradation gene polymorphisms in moderating the effects of food additives on children's ADHD symptoms. Am. J. Psychiatry 167, 1108–1115.
- Stewart, A. M., Cachat, J., Green, J., Gaikwad, S., Kyzar, E., Roth, A., Davis, A., Collins, C., El-Ounsi, M., Pham, M. and Kalueff, A. V (2013). Constructing the habituome for phenotypedriven zebrafish research. *Behav Brain Res* 236, 110–117.
- Strauss, K. A., Puffenberger, E. G., Huentelman, M. J., Gottlieb, S., Dobrin, S. E., Parod, J. M., Stephan, D. A. and Morton, D. H. (2006). Recessive symptomatic focal epilepsy and mutant contactin-associated protein-like 2. N. Engl. J. Med. 354, 1370–7.
- Strömland, K., Nordin, V., Miller, M., Akerström, B. and Gillberg, C. (1994). Autism in thalidomide embryopathy: a population study. *Dev Med Child Neurol* **36**, 351–356.
- Sundberg, M. and Sahin, M. (2015). Cerebellar development and autism spectrum disorder in tuberous sclerosis complex. J. Child Neurol. 30, 1954–1962.

- Sundvik, M. and Panula, P. (2012). Organization of the histaminergic system in adult zebrafish (Danio rerio) brain: neuron number, location, and cotransmitters. *J Comp Neurol* **520**, 3827–3845.
- Sundvik, M., Kudo, H., Toivonen, P., Rozov, S., Chen, Y. C. and Panula, P. (2011). The histaminergic system regulates wakefulness and orexin/hypocretin neuron development via histamine receptor H1 in zebrafish. *FASEB J* 25, 4338–4347.
- Sutcliffe, J. S., Delahanty, R. J., Prasad, H. C., McCauley, J. L., Han, Q., Jiang, L., Li, C., Folstein, S. E. and Blakely, R. D. (2005). Allelic heterogeneity at the serotonin transporter locus (SLC6A4) confers susceptibility to autism and rigid-compulsive behaviors. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 77, 265–79.
- Syed, Y. Y. (2016). Pitolisant: First global approval. Drugs 76, 1313–1318.
- Teraoka, H., Russell, C., Regan, J., Chandrasekhar, A., Concha, M. L., Yokoyama, R., Higashi, K., Take-uchi, M., Dong, W., Hiraga, T., Holder, N. and Wilson, S. W. (2004). Hedgehog and Fgf signaling pathways regulate the development oftphR-expressing serotonergic raphe neurons in zebrafish embryos. J. Neurobiol. 60, 275–288.
- Thisse, C. and Thisse, B. (2008). High-resolution in situ hybridization to whole-mount zebrafish embryos. *Nat. Protoc.* **3**, 59–69.
- Thummel, R., Kassen, S. C., Enright, J. M., Nelson, C. M., Montgomery, J. E. and Hyde, D. R. (2008). Characterization of Müller glia and neuronal progenitors during adult zebrafish retinal regeneration. *Exp. Eye Res.* 87, 433–44.
- Tong, Z. Y., Kingsbury, A. E. and Foster, O. J. F. (2000). Up-regulation of tyrosine hydroxylase mRNA in a sub-population of A10 dopamine neurons in Parkinson's disease. *Mol. Brain Res.* 79, 45–54.
- Trevisan, D. A., Foss-Feig, J. H., Naples, A. J., Srihari, V., Anticevic, A. and McPartland, J. C. (2020). Autism spectrum disorder and schizophrenia are better differentiated by positive symptoms than negative symptoms. *Front. Psychiatry* 11, 548.
- Tsujino, N., Nakatani, Y., Seki, Y., Nakasato, A., Nakamura, M., Sugawara, M. and Arita, H. (2007). Abnormality of circadian rhythm accompanied by an increase in frontal cortex serotonin in animal model of autism. *Neurosci Res* 57, 289–295.
- Tung, E. W. Y. and Winn, L. M. (2011). Valproic acid-induced DNA damage increases embryonic p27(KIP1) and caspase-3 expression: a mechanism for valproic-acid induced neural tube defects. *Reprod. Toxicol.* 32, 255–60.
- Usiello, A., Baik, J. H., Rougé-Pont, F., Picetti, R., Dierich, A., LeMeur, M., Piazza, P. V and Borrelli, E. (2000). Distinct functions of the two isoforms of dopamine D2 receptors. *Nature* 408, 199–203.
- Vahid-Ansari, F. and Albert, P. R. (2021). Rewiring of the serotonin system in major depression. Front. Psychiatry 12, 802581.

- Van Den Bos, R., Mes, W., Galligani, P., Heil, A., Zethof, J., Flik, G. and Gorissen, M. (2017). Further characterisation of differences between TL and AB Zebrafish (Danio rerio): Gene expression, physiology and behaviour at day 5 of the larval stage. *PLoS One* 12, 1–15.
- van Kooten, I. A. J., Palmen, S. J. M. C., von Cappeln, P., Steinbusch, H. W. M., Korr, H., Heinsen, H., Hof, P. R., van Engeland, H. and Schmitz, C. (2008). Neurons in the fusiform gyrus are fewer and smaller in autism. *Brain* 131, 987–99.
- Vanhanen, J., Nuutinen, S., Lintunen, M., Mäki, T., Rämö, J., Karlstedt, K. and Panula, P. (2013). Histamine is required for H3 receptor mediated alcohol reward inhibition, but not for alcohol consumption or stimulation. *Br J Pharmacol*.
- Vargas, D. L., Nascimbene, C., Krishnan, C., Zimmerman, A. W. and Pardo, C. A. (2005). Neuroglial activation and neuroinflammation in the brain of patients with autism. *Ann. Neurol.* 57, 67–81.
- Vasa, R. A., Carroll, L. M., Nozzolillo, A. A., Mahajan, R., Mazurek, M. O., Bennett, A. E., Wink, L. K. and Bernal, M. P. (2014). A systematic review of treatments for anxiety in youth with autism spectrum disorders. J. Autism Dev. Disord. 44, 3215–29.
- Veenstra-VanderWeele, J., Muller, C. L., Iwamoto, H., Sauer, J. E., Owens, W. A., Shah, C. R., Cohen, J., Mannangatti, P., Jessen, T., Thompson, B. J., Ye, R., Kerr, T. M., Carneiro, A. M., Crawley, J. N., Sanders-Bush, E., McMahon, D. G., Ramamoorthy, S., Daws, L. C., Sutcliffe, J. S. and Blakely, R. D. (2012). Autism gene variant causes hyperserotonemia, serotonin receptor hypersensitivity, social impairment and repetitive behavior. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 109, 5469–74.
- Walther, D. J., Peter, J.-U., Bashammakh, S., Hörtnagl, H., Voits, M., Fink, H. and Bader, M. (2003). Synthesis of serotonin by a second tryptophan hydroxylase isoform. *Science* **299**, 76.
- Wang, Y. M., Gainetdinov, R. R., Fumagalli, F., Xu, F., Jones, S. R., Bock, C. B., Miller, G. W., Wightman, R. M. and Caron, M. G. (1997). Knockout of the vesicular monoamine transporter 2 gene results in neonatal death and supersensitivity to cocaine and amphetamine. *Neuron* 19, 1285–1296.
- Wang, Y., Takai, R., Yoshioka, H. and Shirabe, K. (2006). Characterization and expression of serotonin transporter genes in zebrafish. *Tohoku J. Exp. Med.* 208, 267–274.
- Wang, Y., Li, S., Liu, W., Wang, F., Hu, L.-F., Zhong, Z., Wang, H. and Liu, C.-F. (2016a). Vesicular monoamine transporter 2 (Vmat2) knockdown elicits anxiety-like behavior in zebrafish. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 470, 792–797.
- Wang, Y., Zhong, H., Wang, C., Gao, D., Zhou, Y. and Zuo, Z. (2016b). Maternal exposure to the water soluble fraction of crude oil, lead and their mixture induces autism-like behavioral deficits in zebrafish (Danio rerio) larvae. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.* 134P1, 23–30.
- Wang, S., Duan, M., Guan, K., Zhou, X., Zheng, M., Shi, X., Ye, M., Guan, W., Kuver, A., Huang, M., Liu, Y., Dai, K. and Li, X. (2019). Developmental neurotoxicity of reserpine exposure in zebrafish larvae (Danio rerio). Comp. Biochem. Physiol. C. Toxicol. Pharmacol.

223, 115–123.

- Wassink, T. H., Hazlett, H. C., Davis, L. K., Reiss, A. L. and Piven, J. (2014). Testing for association of the monoamine oxidase A promoter polymorphism with brain structure volumes in both autism and the fragile X syndrome. J. Neurodev. Disord. 6, 6.
- Wee, C. L., Song, E. Y., Johnson, R. E., Ailani, D., Randlett, O., Kim, J.-Y., Nikitchenko, M., Bahl, A., Yang, C.-T., Ahrens, M. B., Kawakami, K., Engert, F. and Kunes, S. (2019). A bidirectional network for appetite control in larval zebrafish. *Elife* 8,.
- Wegiel, J., Flory, M., Kuchna, I., Nowicki, K., Ma, S. Y., Imaki, H., Wegiel, J., Cohen, I. L., London, E., Wisniewski, T. and Brown, W. T. (2014). Stereological study of the neuronal number and volume of 38 brain subdivisions of subjects diagnosed with autism reveals significant alterations restricted to the striatum, amygdala and cerebellum. *Acta Neuropathol. Commun.* 2, 141.
- Weihe, E. and Eiden, L. E. (2000). Chemical neuroanatomy of the vesicular amine transporters. *FASEB J.* 14, 2435–49.
- Wen, L., Wei, W., Gu, W., Huang, P., Ren, X., Zhang, Z., Zhu, Z., Lin, S. and Zhang, B. (2008). Visualization of monoaminergic neurons and neurotoxicity of MPTP in live transgenic zebrafish. *Dev. Biol.* 314, 84–92.
- Whitaker-Azmitia, P. M. (2005). Behavioral and cellular consequences of increasing serotonergic activity during brain development: a role in autism? Int. J. Dev. Neurosci. 23, 75–83.
- Whitaker-Azmitia, P. M., Druse, M., Walker, P. and Lauder, J. M. (1996). Serotonin as a developmental signal. *Behav. Brain Res.* **73**, 19–29.
- Wimalasena, K. (2011). Vesicular monoamine transporters: structure-function, pharmacology, and medicinal chemistry. *Med. Res. Rev.* 31, 483–519.
- Wright, C., Shin, J. H., Rajpurohit, A., Deep-Soboslay, A., Collado-Torres, L., Brandon, N. J., Hyde, T. M., Kleinman, J. E., Jaffe, A. E., Cross, A. J. and Weinberger, D. R. (2017). Altered expression of histamine signaling genes in autism spectrum disorder. *Transl. Psychiatry* 7, e1126.
- Wullimann, M. F., Rupp, B. and Reichert, H. (1996). *Neuroanatomy of the Zebrafish Brain*. Basel: Birkhäuser Basel.

WWW.SFARI.ORG.

- Yamatodani, A., Fukuda, H., Wada, H., Iwaeda, T. and Watanabe, T. (1985). High-performance liquid chromatographic determination of plasma and brain histamine without previous purification of biological samples: cation-exchange chromatography coupled with post-column derivatization fluorometry. J Chromatogr 344, 115–123.
- Yoo, H. J., Lee, S. K., Park, M., Cho, I. H., Hyun, S. H., Lee, J. C., Yang, S. Y. and Kim, S. A. (2009). Family- and population-based association studies of monoamine oxidase A and autism

spectrum disorders in Korean. Neurosci. Res. 63, 172-176.

- Yoshikawa, T., Naganuma, F., Iida, T., Nakamura, T., Harada, R., Mohsen, A. S., Kasajima, A., Sasano, H. and Yanai, K. (2013). Molecular mechanism of histamine clearance by primary human astrocytes. *Glia* 61, 905–16.
- Yoshimasu, K., Kiyohara, C., Takemura, S. and Nakai, K. (2014). A meta-analysis of the evidence on the impact of prenatal and early infancy exposures to mercury on autism and attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder in the childhood. *Neurotoxicology* 44, 121–31.
- Zachar, G., Tóth, A. S., Gerecsei, L. I., Zsebők, S., Ádám, Á. and Csillag, A. (2019). Valproate Exposure in ovo Attenuates the Acquisition of Social Preferences of Young Post-hatch Domestic Chicks. *Front. Physiol.* 10, 881.
- Zalsman, G., Rehavi, M., Roz, N., Laor, N., Weizman, A. and Toren, P. (2011). Altered affinity of the platelet vesicular monoamine transporter 2 to dihydrotetrabenazine in children with major depression. J. Neural Transm. 118, 1383–1387.
- Zhao, H., Wang, Q., Yan, T., Zhang, Y., Xu, H.-J., Yu, H.-P., Tu, Z., Guo, X., Jiang, Y.-H., Li, X.-J., Zhou, H. and Zhang, Y. Q. (2019). Maternal valproic acid exposure leads to neurogenesis defects and autism-like behaviors in non-human primates. *Transl. Psychiatry* 9, 267.
- Zhou, M., Engel, K. and Wang, J. (2007). Evidence for significant contribution of a newly identified monoamine transporter (PMAT) to serotonin uptake in the human brain. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 73, 147–54.
- Zimmermann, F. F., Gaspary, K. V., Leite, C. E., De Paula Cognato, G. and Bonan, C. D. (2015). Embryological exposure to valproic acid induces social interaction deficits in zebrafish (Danio rerio): A developmental behavior analysis. *Neurotoxicol. Teratol.* 52, 36–41.
- Zimmermann, F. F., Gaspary, K. V., Siebel, A. M., Leite, C. E., Kist, L. W., Bogo, M. R. and Bonan, C. D. (2017). Analysis of extracellular nucleotide metabolism in adult zebrafish after embryological exposure to valproic acid. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 54, 3542–3553.
- Zubieta, J.-K., Taylor, S. F., Huguelet, P., Koeppe, R. A., Kilbourn, M. R. and Frey, K. A. (2001). Vesicular monoamine transporter concentrations in bipolar disorder type I, schizophrenia, and healthy subjects. *Biol. Psychiatry* **49**, 110–116.
- Zucker, M., Aviv, A., Shelef, A., Weizman, A. and Rehavi, M. (2002). Elevated platelet vesicular monoamine transporter density in untreated patients diagnosed with major depression. *Psychiatry Res.* **112**, 251–256.
- Zürcher, N. R., Walsh, E. C., Phillips, R. D., Cernasov, P. M., Tseng, C.-E. J., Dharanikota, A., Smith, E., Li, Z., Kinard, J. L., Bizzell, J. C., Greene, R. K., Dillon, D., Pizzagalli, D. A., Izquierdo-Garcia, D., Truong, K., Lalush, D., Hooker, J. M. and Dichter, G. S. (2021). A simultaneous [11C]raclopride positron emission tomography and functional magnetic resonance imaging investigation of striatal dopamine binding in autism. *Transl. Psychiatry* 11, 33.